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PART I
Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “NuStar Energy,” “the Partnership,” “we,” “our” and “us” are used in this report to refer to NuStar Energy L.P., to
one or more of our consolidated subsidiaries or to all of them taken as a whole.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION AND OTHER DISCLAIMERS
In this Form 10-K, we make certain forward-looking statements, such as statements regarding our plans, strategies, objectives, expectations, estimates,
predictions, projections, assumptions, intentions and resources and the future impact of the coronavirus, or COVID-19, the responses thereto, the decline in
economic activity and the actions by oil-producing nations on our business. While these forward-looking statements, and any assumptions upon which they
are based, are made in good faith and reflect our current judgment regarding the direction of our business, actual results will almost always vary,
sometimes materially, from any estimates, predictions, projections, assumptions or other future performance suggested in this report. These forwardlooking statements can generally be identified by the words “anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “plans,” “intends,” “estimates,” “forecasts,”
“budgets,” “projects,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “may” and similar expressions. These statements reflect our current views with regard to future events
and are subject to various risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which may cause actual results to differ materially. Please read Item 1A. “Risk Factors”
for a discussion of certain of those risks, uncertainties and assumptions.
If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results may vary materially from
those described in any forward-looking statement. Other unknown or unpredictable factors could also have material adverse effects on our future results.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on this forward-looking information, which is as of the date of this Form 10-K. We do not intend to
update these statements unless we are required by the securities laws to do so, and we undertake no obligation to publicly release the result of any revisions
to any such forward-looking statements that may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events.
This Form 10-K contains trade names, trademarks and service marks of others, which are the property of their respective owners. Solely for convenience,
trademarks and trade names referred to in this Form 10-K appear without the ® or ™ symbols.
ITEMS 1., 2. and 7. BUSINESS, PROPERTIES AND MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW
NuStar Energy L.P. (NuStar Energy) is a Delaware limited partnership. Our principal executive offices are located at 19003 IH-10 West, San Antonio,
Texas 78257, and our telephone number is (210) 918-2000. Our business is managed under the direction of the board of directors of NuStar GP, LLC, the
general partner of our general partner, Riverwalk Logistics, L.P., both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of ours. Our limited partner interests consist
of the following:
•

common units (NYSE: NS);

•

8.50% Series A fixed-to-floating rate cumulative redeemable perpetual preferred units (NYSE: NSprA);

•

7.625% Series B fixed-to-floating rate cumulative redeemable perpetual preferred units (NYSE: NSprB);

•

9.00% Series C fixed-to-floating rate cumulative redeemable perpetual preferred units (NYSE: NSprC); and

•

Series D cumulative convertible preferred units.

We are engaged in the transportation of petroleum products and anhydrous ammonia, and the terminalling, storage and marketing of petroleum products.
The term “throughput” as used in this document generally refers to barrels of crude oil or refined product or tons of ammonia, as applicable, that pass
through our pipelines, terminals or storage tanks.
We divide our operations into the following three reportable business segments: pipeline, storage and fuels marketing. As of December 31, 2020, our assets
included 9,910 miles of pipeline and 73 terminal and storage facilities, which provide approximately 72 million barrels of storage capacity. We conduct our
operations through our wholly owned subsidiaries, primarily NuStar Logistics, L.P. (NuStar Logistics) and NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.
(NuPOP). We generate revenue primarily from:
•

tariffs for transporting crude oil, refined products and anhydrous ammonia through our pipelines;

•

fees for the use of our terminal and storage facilities and related ancillary services; and

•

sales of petroleum products.
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We are focused on improving:
•

our operations, including maintaining safety and environmental stewardship, controlling costs and assuring reliable service;

•

our existing assets through strategic internal growth projects, including renewable fuel enhancements;

•

our ability to self-fund our spending with internally generated cash flows; and

•

our leverage metrics to further strengthen our balance sheet.

The following factors affect our results of operations:
•

economic factors and price volatility;

•

industry factors, such as changes in the prices of petroleum products that affect demand;

•

factors that affect our customers and the markets they serve, such as utilization rates and maintenance turnaround schedules of our refining
company customers and drilling activity by our crude oil production customers;

•

company-specific factors, such as facility integrity issues, maintenance requirements and outages that impact the throughput rates of our assets;
and

•

seasonal factors that affect the demand for products transported by and/or stored in our assets and the demand for products we sell.

Please read Item 1A. “Risk Factors” for additional discussion on how these factors could affect our operations.
The following map depicts our assets at December 31, 2020:
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
In 2020, we prioritized protecting our employees, maintaining safe, reliable operations, reducing spending to preserve cash and exercising financial
discipline, as we continued to execute on the comprehensive plan that we began in 2018, which included simplifying our capital structure and reducing our
leverage metrics to further strengthen our balance sheet. We also completed an asset sale and several financing arrangements to address our near-term debt
maturities and bolster our liquidity. In 2020, we met our goal of generating sufficient cash from operations to fund all of our distribution requirements and
reliability capital expenditures.
COVID-19 and OPEC+ Actions. The coronavirus, or COVID-19, has had a severe negative impact on global economic activity, as government authorities
instituted stay-home orders, business closures and other measures to reduce the spread of the virus, and people around the world ceased or altered their
usual day-to-day activities. The scale of this decrease in economic activity has significantly reduced demand for petroleum products. In March 2020, the
negative economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and demand deterioration was exacerbated by disputes among the Organization of Petroleum
Exporting Countries and other oil-producing nations (OPEC+) regarding their agreed production rates that contributed to a significant over-supply in crude
oil, resulting in a sharp decline in, and increase in the volatility of, crude oil prices. Beginning in the second quarter of 2020, crude oil prices stabilized
somewhat, and although lower compared to recent years, crude oil prices began to increase in the fourth quarter of 2020, and have continued to do so in
2021.
In March 2020, the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, combined with actions by OPEC+, also drove significant declines in stock prices and
market capitalization of companies across the energy industry, including NuStar’s. As a result, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $225.0 million
associated with our crude oil pipelines in the first quarter of 2020. Please refer to Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional information.
Also, in March 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we took measures to ensure we continue to conduct business, operate safely and maintain a
safe working environment for our employees, whether working remotely or on-site at our locations across North America. We have implemented social
distancing through revised shift schedules, work from home policies and designated remote work locations where appropriate, restricted non-essential
business travel and began requiring self-screening for employees and contractors. We did not incur significant expenses related to business continuity as a
result of these measures. Because the number of cases of COVID-19 fluctuated across North America, we closely monitored each of our locations to ensure
the safety of our employees as well as the operational functionality of each location.
Throughout 2020, we took several important steps to improve our liquidity and financial flexibility in an uncertain global economic environment. We
began preserving and enhancing our liquidity by cutting spending to preserve cash and completed several financing arrangements to address our near-term
debt maturities. Specifically, we reduced our 2020 planned capital expenditures, our controllable and operating expenses for the full-year 2020 and our
common unit distribution, beginning with the distribution related to the first quarter of 2020. In addition, we completed the sale of two terminals in Texas
City, Texas.
Beginning in March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic lowered consumer gasoline demand, which in turn depressed utilization rates at refineries across the
country, including those our assets serve. Additionally, lower crude oil prices from over-supply across global oil markets undermined drilling and
production in U.S. shale plays, including in the Permian and Eagle Ford Basins, where our Permian and Corpus Christi Crude Systems are located.
Together, reduced demand for refined products, lower refinery utilization and lower drilling activity resulted in reduced demand for and utilization of our
pipeline assets; however, fortunately, our operations were partially insulated from these negative conditions by the geographic location of our assets and the
products we transport. For example, our refined product pipelines are located mainly in Texas, where the stay-home orders began being lifted at the
beginning of May, and in the Midwest, where demand had been insulated somewhat by lower-density population centers and continued strong agricultural
demand. In addition, diesel demand in the markets we serve has remained stable throughout the year, mainly supported by trucking demand, for delivery of
supplies across the country, and agricultural demand. Our crude oil pipelines were somewhat insulated by minimum volume commitments on certain
systems, but we did experience lower throughputs, compared to our expectations at the beginning of 2020, on our crude oil pipelines that serve producer
demand in shale plays, especially in the Permian Basin, as the decline in the price of crude oil caused producers to reduce drilling activity. While crude oil
prices have depressed production growth in the Permian Basin in the near-term, we believe the Permian Basin, and our system in particular, has geological
advantages over other shale plays, including lower production costs and higher product quality, that have benefitted and will continue to benefit our assets,
as crude demand, price and production recover. Although the price of crude oil remained low in 2020, compared to recent years, it supported the
completion of drilled yet unfinished wells, or DUCs, by producers in the Permian Basin due to the Permian Basin’s low break-even point. This drilling
activity, combined with prior year growth projects, drove an increase in 2020 throughputs on our system, compared to 2019, which has served to mute the
negative effect from declines in the price of crude oil.
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While overall demand for refined petroleum products took a precipitous decline in the second quarter of 2020 that only started rebounding as lockdowns
were lifted across the country, throughout 2020, the impact of lower economic activity on our assets was somewhat mitigated by our minimum volume
commitments on certain pipeline assets, as well as our storage segment, including our contracted rates for storage and minimum throughput agreements. In
addition, we benefitted from the oil market conditions that emerged in March and April of 2020, which resulted in contango, which occurs when the current
prices of oil are lower than the expected future price. This past spring’s contango market increased demand for storage, and we were able to enter into
additional terminal contracts resulting in the lease of all of our available storage capacity across our asset footprint.
Although the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and actions by OPEC+ have depressed global economic activity, which has had a negative
impact on our results of operations, particularly during the second quarter of 2020, we began to see some initial signs of recovery and rebound in June,
which improved our results of operations for the remainder of 2020. Ongoing uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, including its duration and
lingering impacts to the economy, as well as uncertainty surrounding future production decisions by OPEC+, continue to cause volatility and could have a
significant impact on management’s estimates and assumptions in 2021 and beyond.
Sale of Texas City Terminals. On December 7, 2020, we sold the equity interests in our wholly owned subsidiaries that owned two terminals in Texas City,
Texas for $106.0 million, subject to adjustment (the Texas City Sale). The two terminals have an aggregate storage capacity of 3.0 million barrels and were
previously included in our storage segment. We recorded a non-cash loss of $34.7 million on the sale in the fourth quarter of 2020 and utilized the sales
proceeds to improve our debt metrics. Please refer to Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” for additional information.
Senior Notes. On September 14, 2020, NuStar Logistics issued $600.0 million of 5.75% senior notes due October 1, 2025 and $600.0 million of 6.375%
senior notes due October 1, 2030. We received net proceeds of approximately $1.2 billion, which we used to repay outstanding borrowings under the Term
Loan, as defined below, as well as outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit agreement. Please refer to Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for further discussion.
Term Loan Credit Agreement. On April 19, 2020, NuStar Energy and NuStar Logistics entered into an unsecured term loan credit agreement with certain
lenders and Oaktree Fund Administration, LLC, as administrative agent for the lenders (the Term Loan). The Term Loan provided for an aggregate
commitment of up to $750.0 million pursuant to a three-year unsecured term loan credit facility. On April 21, 2020, we drew $500.0 million, which we
repaid on September 16, 2020. The repayment required certain contractual premiums, and we recognized a loss of $137.9 million in the third quarter of
2020. We terminated the Term Loan on February 16, 2021. Please refer to Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” for further discussion.
TRENDS AND OUTLOOK
Although strides have been made in the effort to control the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic through the development and distribution of vaccines,
remote working, social distancing, changes in the way businesses provide goods and services and other measures, the duration and lingering impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic to the economy are uncertain for 2021 and beyond.
In the fourth quarter of 2020 and for the start of 2021, U.S. refinery utilization rates have been recovering and crude oil prices have been rising. While the
decline in the price of crude oil depressed production growth in the Permian Basin in 2020, we believe the Permian Basin, and our system in particular, has
geological advantages over other shale plays, including lower production costs and higher product quality, that will benefit our assets in 2021 as crude
demand, price and production continue to recover. Although the price of crude oil remains low compared to recent years, we believe it currently supports
the completion of drilled yet unfinished wells, or DUCs, by producers in the Permian Basin for at least one to two years, even if the price of crude oil dips
below current levels, due to the Permian Basin’s low break-even point. We expect this drilling activity, along with the active rig count on our Permian
Crude System, to continue to drive increased throughputs on our system and help mute the negative effect from any near-term declines in the price of crude
oil.
Although not as severe as 2020, we expect the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to have a negative impact during 2021. The rate at which the economy
recovers will drive 2021 consumer demand for refined products, refinery utilization, and drilling and production activity in the Permian and Eagle Ford
Basins, and therefore demand for and utilization of our pipeline assets. Fortunately, we expect our operations to continue to be partially insulated from any
negative conditions by strong agricultural demand, stable diesel demand, our minimum throughput agreements, the resiliency of our Permian assets and the
basin overall, as well as our contracted rates for storage. In addition, we expect our storage segment to continue to benefit from the contango
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market from last spring, as many of the storage contracts entered into during that contango market will continue into and through much of 2021. Amid the
ongoing recovery in 2021, we may see, and some industry experts suggest, that storage utilization may further improve through 2021 and 2022 due to
contango market conditions. Furthermore, we expect our St. James terminal to benefit from unit train activity from unloading Canadian heavy crude and
our West Coast terminals to benefit from completing additional renewable fuels-related projects in 2021. However, a significant spike in COVID-19 cases
in the markets our assets serve could undermine demand and result in lower utilization of our assets.
We plan to continue to manage our operations with fiscal discipline in this turbulent environment and to evaluate divestitures of non-core assets to reduce
leverage. For the full-year 2021, we expect reliability and strategic capital expenditures to be comparable to 2020. We have positioned ourselves to selffund all of our expenses, distribution requirements and capital expenditures for the full-year 2021 using internally generated cash flows. We expect our first
quarter 2021 operational results and throughputs to be lower than the comparable period due to the strong pre-pandemic demand in the first quarter of
2020, and we expect our full-year 2021 results to be comparable to 2020.
Our outlook for the partnership, both overall and for any of our segments, may change, as we base our expectations on our continuing evaluation of several
factors, many of which are outside our control. These factors include, but are not limited to, uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, including its
duration and lingering impacts to the economy, as well as uncertainty surrounding future production decisions by OPEC+, the state of the economy and the
capital markets, changes to our customers’ refinery maintenance schedules and unplanned refinery downtime, crude oil prices, the supply of and demand
for crude oil, refined products and anhydrous ammonia, demand for our transportation and storage services and changes in laws and regulations affecting
our operations.
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion of our results of operations should be read in conjunction with Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” included
in this report, which also contains additional detailed financial information about our segments in Note 25 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. A comparative discussion of our 2019 to 2018 results of operations can be found in Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 filed with the
Securities Exchange Commission (SEC) on February 27, 2020.
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The following table presents financial results for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Change
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Per Unit Data)

Statement of Income Data:
Revenues:
Service revenues
Product sales
Total revenues

$

Costs and expenses:
Costs associated with service revenues
Cost associated with product sales
Goodwill impairment loss
General and administrative expenses
Other depreciation and amortization expense
Total costs and expenses

1,205,494
276,070
1,481,564

$

680,055
256,066
225,000
102,716
8,625
1,272,462

Operating income
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other (expense) income, net
(Loss) income from continuing operations before income tax expense
Income tax expense
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net loss

$

Basic and diluted net (loss) income per common unit:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

$

Total

$

1,148,167
349,854
1,498,021

$

669,246
321,644
—
107,855
8,360
1,107,105

57,327
(73,784)
(16,457)

10,809
(65,578)
225,000
(5,139)
265
165,357

209,102
(229,054)
(141,746)
(34,622)
(196,320)
2,663
(198,983)
—
(198,983) $

390,916
(183,070)
—
3,742
211,588
4,754
206,834
(312,527)
(105,693) $

(181,814)
(45,984)
(141,746)
(38,364)
(407,908)
(2,091)
(405,817)
312,527
(93,290)

(3.15) $
—
(3.15) $

0.60 $
(2.90)
(2.30) $

(3.75)
2.90
(0.85)

Overview
We incurred a loss from continuing operations of $199.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to income from continuing operations of
$206.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, mainly due to a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $225.0 million in the first quarter of 2020
related to our crude oil pipelines reporting unit and a loss of $141.7 million, primarily resulting from the early repayment of $500.00 million of borrowings
outstanding under the Term Loan in the third quarter of 2020. Excluding the goodwill impairment charge, operating income increased for our pipeline and
storage segments for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, as further discussed in the “Segments and
Results of Operations” section that follows.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, includes long-lived asset and goodwill impairment charges totaling
$336.8 million related to the St. Eustatius operations, which we sold on July 29, 2019. Please refer to Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for further discussion.
Corporate Items
General and administrative expenses decreased $5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019,
mainly due to lower compensation costs and reduced discretionary expenses.
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Interest expense, net increased $46.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to the
interest on the Term Loan we entered into in April 2020 and the September 2020 issuance of $1.2 billion of senior notes.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, other expense, net includes a non-cash loss of $34.7 million related to the Texas City Sale.
SEGMENTS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
PIPELINE SEGMENT
Our pipeline operations consist of the transportation of refined products, crude oil and anhydrous ammonia. As of December 31, 2020, we owned and
operated:
•

refined product pipelines with an aggregate length of 3,205 miles and crude oil pipelines with an aggregate length of 2,205 miles in Texas,
Oklahoma, Kansas, Colorado and New Mexico (collectively, the Central West System);

•

a 2,050-mile refined product pipeline originating in southern Kansas and terminating at Jamestown, North Dakota, with a western extension to
North Platte, Nebraska and an eastern extension into Iowa (the East Pipeline);

•

a 450-mile refined product pipeline originating at Marathon Petroleum Corporation’s (Marathon) Mandan, North Dakota refinery and terminating
in Minneapolis, Minnesota (the North Pipeline); and

•

a 2,000-mile anhydrous ammonia pipeline originating in the Louisiana delta area and then running north through the Midwestern United States to
Missouri before forking east and west to terminate in Indiana and Nebraska (the Ammonia Pipeline).

The following table lists information about our pipeline assets:

Region / Pipeline System

Length
(Miles)

As of December 31, 2020
Terminals
Tank Capacity
(Barrels)

Central West System:
McKee Refined Product System
Three Rivers System
Valley Pipeline System
Other
Central West Refined Products Pipelines
Corpus Christi Crude Pipeline System
McKee Crude System
Ardmore System
Permian Crude System
Central West Crude Oil Pipelines
Total Central West System

2,276
373
271
285
3,205
538
598
119
950
2,205
5,410

—
—
—
—
—
8
—
—
3
11
11

Central East System:
East Pipeline
North Pipeline
Ammonia Pipeline
Total Central East System

2,050
450
2,000
4,500
9,910

Total

9

—
—

Throughput
For the year ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Barrels/Day)

—
—
2,157,000
1,039,000
824,000
1,583,000
5,603,000
5,603,000

146,379
94,892
52,513
7,600
301,384
439,852
126,323
81,569
590,013
1,237,757
1,539,141

170,433
91,765
46,821
8,834
317,853
414,189
142,263
88,665
553,696
1,198,813
1,516,666

18
4
—
22

5,897,000
1,494,000
—
7,391,000

146,397
47,128
29,933
223,458

161,323
50,290
28,066
239,679

33

12,994,000

1,762,599

1,756,345
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Description of Pipelines
Central West System. The Central West System covers a total of 5,410 miles, including refined product and crude oil pipelines. The refined product
pipelines have an aggregate length of 3,205 miles (Central West Refined Products Pipelines) and transport gasoline, distillates (including diesel and jet
fuel), natural gas liquids and other products produced at the refineries to which they are connected, including Valero Energy Corporation’s (Valero Energy)
McKee, Corpus Christi and Three Rivers refineries.
The crude oil pipelines have an aggregate length of 2,205 miles (Central West Crude Oil Pipelines) and transport crude oil and other feedstocks to the
refineries to which they are connected, including Valero Energy’s McKee, Three Rivers and Ardmore refineries, or from the Permian Basin and Eagle Ford
Shale regions to our North Beach marine export terminal or to third-party refineries in Corpus Christi, Texas. Our Corpus Christi Crude Pipeline System is
comprised of pipelines that transport crude oil from the Eagle Ford region to Corpus Christi, Texas, including eight terminals along those pipelines, with
aggregate storage capacity of 2.2 million barrels. In addition, the Corpus Christi Crude Pipeline System is connected to third-party long-haul pipelines that
transport crude oil from the Permian Basin region to Corpus Christi, Texas.
Our Permian Crude System consists of crude oil transportation, pipeline connection and storage assets located in the Midland Basin of West Texas, that
aggregate receipts from wellhead connection lines into intra-basin trunk lines for delivery to regional hubs and to connections with third-party mainline
takeaway pipelines. The system consists of 950 miles of pipelines and covers approximately 500,000 dedicated acres controlled by producers, with
approximately 300 receipt points. The Permian Crude System also includes three terminals in Texas, at Big Spring, Stanton and Colorado City, as well as
several truck stations and other operational storage facilities, with an aggregate storage capacity of 1.6 million barrels.
Central East System. The Central East System covers a total of 4,500 miles and consists of the East Pipeline, the North Pipeline and the Ammonia Pipeline.
The East Pipeline covers 2,050 miles and transports refined products and natural gas liquids north via pipelines to our terminals and third-party terminals
along the system and to receiving pipeline connections in Kansas. Shippers on the East Pipeline obtain refined products from refineries in Kansas,
Oklahoma and Texas. The East Pipeline includes 18 truck-loading terminals, with storage capacity of 4.5 million barrels and two tank farms with storage
capacity of 1.4 million barrels at McPherson and El Dorado, Kansas.
The North Pipeline originates at Marathon’s Mandan, North Dakota refinery and runs from west-to-east for approximately 450 miles to its termination in
Minneapolis, Minnesota. The North Pipeline includes four truck-loading terminals with storage capacity of 1.5 million barrels.
The 2,000-mile Ammonia Pipeline originates in the Louisiana delta area, where it connects to three third-party marine terminals and three anhydrous
ammonia plants located along the Mississippi River. The line then runs north through Louisiana and Arkansas into Missouri, where, at Hermann, Missouri,
it splits into two branches, one of which goes east into Illinois and Indiana, while the other branch continues north into Iowa and then turns west into
Nebraska. The Ammonia Pipeline is connected to multiple third-party-owned terminals, which include industrial facility delivery locations. Product is
supplied to the pipeline from anhydrous ammonia plants in Louisiana and imported product delivered through the marine terminals. Anhydrous ammonia is
primarily used as agricultural fertilizer. It is also used as a feedstock to produce other nitrogen derivative fertilizers and explosives.
Pipeline Operations
We charge tariffs on a per-barrel basis for transporting refined products, crude oil and other feedstocks in our refined product and crude oil pipelines and on
a per-ton basis for transporting anhydrous ammonia in the Ammonia Pipeline. Fees related to storage facilities included with these pipeline systems
predominately relate to the volumes transported on the pipelines and are included in the respective pipeline tariff. As a result, these storage facilities are
included in this segment instead of the storage segment.
In general, shippers on our crude oil and refined product pipelines deliver petroleum products to our pipelines for transport to/from: (i) refineries that
connect to our pipelines, (ii) third-party pipelines or terminals and (iii) our terminals for further delivery to marine vessels or pipelines. We charge our
shippers tariff rates based on transportation from the origination point on the pipeline to the point of delivery.
Our pipelines are regulated by one or more of the following federal governmental agencies: the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (the FERC), the
Surface Transportation Board (the STB), the Department of Transportation (the DOT), the Environmental Protection Agency (the EPA) and the Department
of Homeland Security. In addition, our pipelines are subject to the respective jurisdictions of the states those lines traverse. See “Rate Regulation” and
“Environmental, Health, Safety and Security Regulation” below for additional discussion.
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The majority of our pipelines are deemed to be “common carrier” lines. Common carrier activities are those for which transportation is available to any
shipper who requests such services and satisfies the conditions and specifications for transportation. Published tariffs for our petroleum product pipeline
shipments are (i) filed with the FERC for interstate pipeline shipments and (ii) filed with the relevant state authority for intrastate pipeline shipments.
We operate our pipelines remotely through an operational technology system called the Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition, or SCADA, system.
Demand for and Sources of Refined Products and Crude Oil
Throughput activity on our Central West Refined Product Pipelines and the East and North Pipelines depends on the level of demand for refined products in
the markets served by those pipelines, as well as the ability and willingness of the refiners and marketers with access to the pipelines to supply that demand
through our pipelines.
The majority of the refined products delivered through the Central West Refined Product Pipelines and the North Pipeline are gasoline and diesel fuel that
originate at refineries connected to our pipelines. Demand for motor fuels fluctuates as prices for these products fluctuate. Prices fluctuate for a variety of
reasons, including the overall balance in supply and demand, which is affected by general economic conditions, among other factors. Prices for gasoline
and diesel fuel usually increase in the warm weather months when people tend to drive automobiles more often and for longer distances.
Much of the refined products and natural gas liquids delivered through the East Pipeline, and a portion of volumes on the North Pipeline, are ultimately
used as fuel for railroads, ethanol denaturant or in agricultural operations, including fuel for farm equipment, irrigation systems, trucks used for
transporting crops and crop-drying facilities. Demand for refined products for agricultural use, and the relative mix of products required, is affected by
weather conditions in the markets served by the East and North Pipelines. The agricultural sector is also affected by government agricultural policies and
crop commodity prices. Although periods of drought suppress agricultural demand for some refined products, particularly those used for fueling farm
equipment, the demand for fuel to power irrigation systems often increases during such times. The mix of refined products delivered for agricultural use
varies seasonally, with gasoline demand peaking in early summer, diesel fuel demand peaking in late summer and propane demand highest in the fall.
Our refined product pipelines are also dependent upon adequate levels of production of refined products by refineries connected to the pipelines, directly or
through connecting pipelines. The refineries are, in turn, dependent upon adequate supplies of suitable grades of crude oil. Certain of our Central West
Refined Products Pipelines are connected directly to Valero Energy refineries and are subject to long-term throughput agreements with Valero Energy. If
operations at one of these refineries were discontinued or significantly reduced, it could have a material adverse effect on our operations, although we
would endeavor to minimize the impact by seeking alternative customers for those pipelines.
The North Pipeline is heavily dependent on Marathon’s Mandan, North Dakota refinery, which primarily runs North Dakota crude oil (although it has the
ability to process other crude oils), and an interruption in operations at the Marathon refinery could have a material adverse effect on our operations. In
addition, the North Pipeline receives refined products from the Laurel, Montana refinery operated by CHS Inc. The majority of the refined products
transported through the East Pipeline are produced at three refineries located at McPherson and El Dorado, Kansas and Ponca City, Oklahoma, which are
operated by CHS Inc., HollyFrontier Corporation and Phillips 66, respectively. The East Pipeline also has access to Gulf Coast supplies of products through
third-party connecting pipelines that receive products originating from Gulf Coast refineries.
Other than the Valero Energy refineries and the Marathon refinery described above, if operations at any one refinery were discontinued, we believe
(assuming stable demand for refined products in markets served by the refined product pipelines) that the effects thereof would be short-term in nature, and
our business would not be materially adversely affected over the long-term because such discontinued production could be replaced by other refineries or
other sources.
Our crude oil pipelines are dependent on our customers’ continued access to sufficient crude oil and sufficient demand for refined products for our
customers to operate their refineries. The supply of crude oil production (domestic and foreign) could fluctuate with the price of crude oil. Changes in crude
oil prices could also affect the exploration and production of shale plays, which could affect demand for crude oil pipelines serving those regions, such as
our Corpus Christi Crude Pipeline System and Permian Crude System. During periods of sustained low prices, as is currently the case, producers tend to
reduce their capital spending and drilling activity and narrow their focus to assets in the most cost-advantaged regions.
In addition, certain of our crude oil pipelines, including the McKee System, are the primary source of crude oil for our customers’ refineries. Therefore,
these “demand-pull” pipelines are less affected by changes in crude oil prices. For example, refiners can benefit from lower crude oil prices if they are able
to take advantage of lower feedstock prices in areas with healthy regional demand; however, as refined product inventories increase, refiners typically
reduce their production rate, which may reduce the degree to which they are able to benefit from low crude prices.
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The impacts from COVID-19 and actions by OPEC+, including crude oil price volatility and reduced refinery production rates, drilling activity and overall
consumer demand, have negatively impacted demand for our crude and refined product pipelines for 2020, primarily in the second quarter. The duration,
severity and lingering impact on economic activity from the COVID-19 pandemic and future production decisions from OPEC+ could continue to cause
volatility in demand for the transportation in our pipelines.
Demand for and Sources of Anhydrous Ammonia
The Ammonia Pipeline currently is the only major pipeline in the United States transporting anhydrous ammonia into the nation’s corn belt. The pipeline is
connected to domestic production facilities and also has the capability to receive products from outside the United States directly into the system.
Throughputs on our Ammonia Pipeline depend on overall demand for nitrogen fertilizer use, the price of natural gas, which is the primary component of
anhydrous ammonia, and the level of demand for direct application of anhydrous ammonia as a fertilizer for crop production (Direct Application). Demand
for Direct Application is dependent on the weather, as Direct Application is not effective when soil is either too wet or too dry.
Corn producers have fertilizer alternatives to anhydrous ammonia, such as liquid or dry nitrogen fertilizers. Liquid and dry nitrogen fertilizers are both less
sensitive to weather conditions during application but are generally more costly than anhydrous ammonia. In addition, anhydrous ammonia has the highest
nitrogen content of any nitrogen-derivative fertilizer.
Demand for anhydrous ammonia has been insulated from the negative impacts from COVID-19 and actions by OPEC+ by continued strong agricultural
demand and lower-density population centers in the Midwest.
Customers
As discussed above, our customers include integrated oil companies, refining companies and others. Valero Energy, the largest customer of our pipeline
segment, accounted for approximately 26% of the total segment revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020. No other single customer accounted for a
significant portion of the total revenues of our pipeline segment.
Competition and Other Business Considerations
Because pipelines are generally the lowest-cost method for intermediate and long-haul movement of crude oil and refined products, our more significant
competitors are common carrier and proprietary pipelines owned and operated by major integrated and large independent oil companies and other pipeline
companies in our service areas. Competition between common carrier pipelines is based primarily on transportation charges, quality of customer service
and proximity to end users. Trucks may deliver products competitively for short-hauls; however, trucking costs render that mode of transportation
uncompetitive with pipeline options for longer hauls or larger volumes.
Most of our refined product pipelines and certain of our crude oil pipelines within the Central West System are physically integrated with, and principally
serve, refineries owned by Valero Energy. As a result, we do not believe that we will face significant competition for transportation services provided to the
Valero Energy refineries we serve.
Certain of our crude oil pipelines serve areas and/or refineries that are affected by domestic shale oil production in the Eagle Ford, Permian Basin and
Granite Wash regions. Our pipelines also face competition from other crude oil pipelines and truck transportation in these regions. However, some of that
exposure is mitigated through our long-term contracts and minimum volume commitments with creditworthy customers.
The East and North Pipelines compete with an independent common carrier pipeline system owned by Magellan Midstream Partners, L.P. (Magellan) that
operates approximately 100 miles east of and parallel to the East Pipeline and in close proximity to the North Pipeline. Certain of the East Pipeline’s and
the North Pipeline’s delivery terminals are in direct competition with Magellan’s terminals. Competition with Magellan is based primarily on transportation
charges, quality of customer service and proximity to end users.
Competitors of the Ammonia Pipeline include Midwest production facilities, nitrogen fertilizer substitutes and barge and railroad transportation under
certain market conditions.
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Results of Operations
The following table presents operating highlights for the pipeline segment:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Barrel Data)

Crude oil pipelines throughput (barrels/day)
Refined products and ammonia pipelines throughput (barrels/day)
Total throughput (barrels/day)

1,237,757
524,842
1,762,599

Throughput and other revenues
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense
Goodwill impairment loss
Segment operating income

$

$

718,823
198,010
177,384
225,000
118,429

1,198,813
557,532
1,756,345
$

$

701,830
202,359
166,991
—
332,480

Change

38,944
(32,690)
6,254
$

$

16,993
(4,349)
10,393
225,000
(214,051)

Despite the dual impacts of COVID-19 and actions by OPEC+, which negatively affected overall demand on certain of our crude and refined product
pipelines in 2020, total revenues increased $17.0 million and total throughputs increased 6,254 barrels per day for the year ended December 31, 2020,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to:
• an increase in revenues of $19.0 million and an increase in throughputs of 5,692 barrels per day on our Valley Pipeline System, mainly due to the
completion of an expansion project in the third quarter of 2019 and an increase in minimum volume commitments on a customer contract
beginning in the third quarter of 2020;
• an increase in revenues of $12.1 million and an increase in throughputs of 36,317 barrels per day on our Permian Crude System due to the
completion of new pipeline connections with higher tariffs and expansion projects;
• an increase in revenues of $4.1 million and an increase in throughputs of 1,867 barrels per day on our Ammonia Pipeline, mainly due to lower
throughputs in 2019 as a result of unfavorable weather conditions;
• an increase in revenues of $4.0 million and an increase in throughputs of 3,127 barrels per day on our Three Rivers System, mainly due to the
reactivation of our refined products pipeline to transport diesel to our Nuevo Laredo terminal in Mexico, which began early service in the third
quarter of 2019 and was at full service at the end of the first quarter of 2020; and
• an increase in revenues of $2.4 million on our Ardmore System, mainly due to an increase in the number of barrels moved at higher average tariffs
in 2020 and a customer agreement that began in the second quarter of 2019, despite a decrease in throughputs of 7,096 barrels per day resulting
from lower run rates at a customer’s refinery in 2020.
The increase in revenues was partially offset by:
• a decrease in revenues of $13.9 million and a decrease in throughputs of 39,994 barrels per day on our McKee System pipelines, mainly due to
lower demand in 2020;
• a decrease in revenues of $6.9 million on our Houston pipeline due to a reduction in the lease rate and the expiration of the customer contract;
• a decrease in revenues of $4.1 million and a decrease in throughputs of 18,088 barrels per day on our North Pipeline and East Pipeline combined,
due to a decline in demand; and
• a decrease in revenues of $1.0 million, despite an increase in throughputs of 25,663 barrels per day, on our Corpus Christi Crude System.
Throughputs increased mainly due to the completion of the 30-inch crude oil pipeline from Taft, Texas to our Corpus Christi North Beach terminal
in the third quarter of 2019 and the completion of a new pipeline connection in the fourth quarter of 2019, but were mostly offset by lower
volumes from the Eagle Ford due to demand decline in 2020, resulting in overall slightly lower revenues.
Operating expenses decreased $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, mainly due to a
decrease in power and rental costs of $8.5 million across multiple pipelines, mainly resulting from the addition of permanent power on our Permian Crude
System and lower throughputs on certain of our pipelines. These decreases were partially offset by higher ad valorem taxes of $2.4 million due to a 2019
settlement and an overall increase in 2020, as well as an increase of $2.2 million in insurance expenses due to higher premiums.
Depreciation and amortization expense increased $10.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019,
mainly due to projects associated with the Permian Crude System and the completion of three major projects in the third quarter of 2019 on our Valley
Pipeline System, Three Rivers System and Corpus Christi Crude System.
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In the first quarter of 2020, the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, combined with actions by OPEC+, led to a decline in our unit price and
market capitalization in March 2020, and as a result, we recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $225.0 million related to our crude oil
pipelines reporting unit. Please refer to Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” for further discussion.
STORAGE SEGMENT
Our storage segment is comprised of our facilities that provide storage, handling and other services for petroleum products, crude oil, specialty chemicals,
renewable fuels and other liquids. As of December 31, 2020, we owned and operated 38 terminal and storage facilities in the United States, one terminal in
Nuevo Laredo, Mexico and one terminal located in Point Tupper, Canada with an aggregate storage capacity of 59.0 million barrels.
The following table sets forth information about our terminal and storage facilities as of December 31, 2020:
Facility

Tank Capacity
(Barrels)

Colorado Springs, CO
Denver, CO
Albuquerque, NM
Rosario, NM
Catoosa, OK
Abernathy, TX
Amarillo, TX
Corpus Christi, TX
Corpus Christi, TX (North Beach)
Edinburg, TX
El Paso, TX (a)
Harlingen, TX
Laredo, TX
San Antonio, TX (b)
Southlake, TX
Nuevo Laredo, Mexico
Central West Terminals

328,000
110,000
251,000
166,000
359,000
161,000
269,000
491,000
3,962,000
346,000
419,000
286,000
218,000
377,000
569,000
268,000
8,580,000

Jacksonville, FL
St. James, LA
Houston, TX
Gulf Coast Terminals

2,593,000
9,906,000
86,000
12,585,000

Blue Island, IL
Andrews AFB, MD (c)
Baltimore, MD
Piney Point, MD
Linden, NJ (b)
Paulsboro, NJ
Virginia Beach, VA (c)
North East Terminals

690,000
75,000
813,000
5,402,000
5,134,000
74,000
41,000
12,229,000
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Facility

Tank Capacity
(Barrels)

Los Angeles, CA
Pittsburg, CA
Selby, CA
Stockton, CA
Portland, OR
Tacoma, WA
Vancouver, WA (b)
West Coast Terminals

608,000
397,000
2,672,000
816,000
1,348,000
391,000
774,000
7,006,000

Benicia, CA
Corpus Christi, TX
Texas City, TX
Refinery Storage Tanks

3,683,000
4,030,000
3,141,000
10,854,000

Point Tupper, Canada

7,778,000
59,032,000

Total

(a) We own a 67% undivided interest in the El Paso refined product terminal. The tank capacity represents the proportionate share of capacity attributable to our
ownership interest.
(b) Location includes two terminal facilities.
(c) Terminal facility also includes pipelines to U.S. government military base locations.

Description of Major Terminal and Storage Facilities
Refinery Storage Tanks. We own and operate crude oil storage tanks with an aggregate storage capacity of 10.9 million barrels that are physically integrated
with and serve refineries owned by Valero Energy at Corpus Christi and Texas City, Texas and Benicia, California. We lease our refinery storage tanks to
Valero Energy in exchange for a fixed fee.
St. James, Louisiana. Our St. James terminal, which is located on the Mississippi River near St. James, Louisiana, has a total storage capacity of 9.9 million
barrels. The facility is located on almost 900 acres of land, some of which is undeveloped. The majority of the storage tanks and infrastructure are suited
for light crude oil, with certain of the tanks capable of fuel oil or heated crude oil storage. Additionally, the facility has one barge dock and two ship docks.
Our St. James terminal is connected to (i) offshore pipelines in the Gulf of Mexico, (ii) long-haul pipelines that can receive crude oil from the Eagle Ford,
Permian Basin and other domestic shale plays, and (iii) pipelines to refineries in the Gulf Coast and Midwest. The St. James terminal also has two unit train
rail facilities that are served by the Union Pacific Railroad. Each facility has the capacity to simultaneously off-load 120 railcars, at a minimum, in a 24hour period.
Point Tupper. We own and operate a 7.8 million barrel terminalling and storage facility located at Point Tupper on the Strait of Canso, near Port
Hawkesbury, Nova Scotia. This facility is the deepest ice-free marine terminal on the North American Atlantic coast, with access to the East Coast, Canada
and the Midwestern United States markets via the St. Lawrence Seaway and the Great Lakes system. With one of the premier jetty facilities in North
America, the Point Tupper facility can accommodate heavily laden ultra-large crude carriers (ULCCs) for loading and discharging crude oil, petroleum
products and petrochemicals. Crude oil and petroleum product movements at the terminal are fully automated. Separate fees apply for use of the jetty
facility, as well as associated services, including pilotage, tug assistance, line handling, launch service, emergency response services and other ship services
(all of which are considered optional services).
Linden, New Jersey. Our Linden terminal facility includes two terminals that provide deep-water terminalling capabilities in the New York Harbor and
primarily stores petroleum products, including gasoline, jet fuel and fuel oils. The two terminals have a total storage capacity of 5.1 million barrels and can
receive and deliver products via ship, barge, truck and pipeline. The terminal facility also has two docks.
Corpus Christi North Beach. We own and operate a 4.0 million barrel crude oil storage and terminalling facility located at the Port of Corpus Christi in
Texas. The facility supports our pipelines that transport crude oil from the Eagle Ford and Permian Basin regions to Corpus Christi for export or refineries
owned by third parties. This facility also provides our customers with the flexibility to segregate and deliver crude oil and processed condensate. This
facility has access to four docks, including one
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dock for which we have exclusive use and that is able to accommodate Aframax-class vessels, and two private docks. We can load crude oil onto ships
simultaneously on all four docks.
We refer to our pipelines that transport crude oil from the Eagle Ford and Permian Basin regions to Corpus Christi, together with our Corpus Christi North
Beach terminal, as the Corpus Christi Crude System.
Storage Operations
We generate storage segment revenues through fees for tank storage agreements, under which a customer agrees to pay for a certain amount of storage in a
tank over a period of time (storage terminal revenues), and throughput agreements, under which a customer pays a fee per barrel for volumes moved
through our terminals (throughput terminal revenues). Our terminals also provide blending, additive injections, handling and filtering services for which we
charge additional fees. Certain of our facilities charge fees to provide marine services, such as pilotage, tug assistance, line handling, launch service,
emergency response services and other ship services.
Demand for Storage Services
The operations of our refined product terminals depend in large part on the level of demand for products stored in our terminals in the markets served by
those assets. Demand for our terminalling services will generally increase or decrease with demand for refined products, and demand for refined products
tends to increase or decrease with the relative strength of the economy. In addition, the forward pricing curve can have an impact on demand. For example,
crude oil traders focus less on the current market commodity price than on whether that price is higher or lower than expected future market prices: if the
future price for a product is believed to be higher than the current market price, or a “contango market,” traders are more likely to purchase and store
products to sell in the future at the higher price. On the other hand, when the current price of crude oil nears or exceeds the expected future market price, or
“backwardation,” traders are no longer incentivized to purchase and store product for future sale. Our storage terminal revenues are somewhat insulated
from demand volatility due to contracted rates for storage and minimum volume commitments.
Crude oil delivered to our St. James and Corpus Christi North Beach terminals will generally increase or decrease with crude oil production rates in the
Bakken, Permian and Eagle Ford shale plays. In addition, the market price relationship between various grades of crude oil impacts the demand for our unit
train facilities at our St. James terminal.
The continued increase in North American shale play production has increased exports of crude oil from Texas Gulf Coast ports, including our Corpus
Christi North Beach facility, to destinations as close as the U.S. East Coast, to as far away as Europe and Asia. The negative impacts from COVID-19 are
somewhat mitigated by the low break-even point in the Permian and Eagle Ford shale plays, which resulted in Corpus Christi exports returning to prepandemic levels in the third quarter of 2020.
Demand for renewable diesel, renewable jet fuel, ethanol and other renewable fuels continues to grow in markets served by our West Coast terminals due to
new regulations with aggressive carbon emissions reduction goals. As this demand growth is expected to continue, our West Coast terminals have
completed and continue to develop renewable fuel storage projects to meet this demand.
Overall, the dual effect of the COVID-19 pandemic and actions by OPEC+, including crude oil price volatility, reduced refinery production rates, drilling
activity and overall consumer demand, depressed demand on our terminal and storage facilities in 2020, primarily in the second quarter. However, the
detrimental impact of the pandemic and crude oil price pressure was somewhat mitigated by our contracted rates for storage and minimum throughput
agreements. In response to oil market conditions, a contango market emerged in March and April of 2020 resulting in increased demand for crude oil
storage at certain of our storage facilities. The duration, severity and lingering impact on economic activity from the COVID-19 pandemic and future
production decisions from OPEC+ could continue to cause volatility in demand for our terminal and storage facilities.
Customers
We provide storage and terminalling services for crude oil, refined products and other products to many of the world’s largest producers of crude oil,
integrated oil companies, chemical companies, oil traders and refiners. In addition, our blending capabilities in our storage assets have attracted customers
who have leased capacity primarily for blending purposes. Valero Energy and Trafigura Trading LLC, the largest customers of our storage segment,
accounted for approximately 22% and 20%, respectively, of the total revenues of the segment for the year ended December 31, 2020. No other customer
accounted for a significant portion of the total revenues of the storage segment.
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Competition and Other Business Considerations
Many major energy and chemical companies own extensive terminal storage facilities. Although such terminals often have the same capabilities as
terminals owned by independent operators, they generally do not provide terminalling services to third parties. In many instances, major energy and
chemical companies that own storage and terminalling facilities are also significant customers of independent terminal operators. Such companies typically
have strong demand for terminals owned by independent operators when independent terminals have more cost-effective locations near key transportation
links, such as deep-water ports. Major energy and chemical companies also need independent terminal storage when their owned storage facilities are
inadequate, either because of size constraints, the nature of the stored material or specialized handling requirements.
Independent terminal owners generally compete on the basis of the location and versatility of terminals, service and price. A favorably located terminal will
have access to various cost-effective transportation modes both to and from the terminal. Transportation modes typically include waterways, railroads,
roadways and pipelines.
Terminal versatility is a function of the operator’s ability to offer complex handling requirements for diverse products. The services typically provided by
the terminal include, among other things, the safe storage of the product at specified temperature, moisture and other conditions, as well as receipt at and
delivery from the terminal, all of which must comply with applicable environmental regulations. A terminal operator’s ability to obtain attractive pricing is
often dependent on the quality, versatility and reputation of the facilities owned by the operator. Although many products require modest terminal
modification, operators with versatile storage capabilities typically require less modification prior to usage, ultimately making the storage cost to the
customer more attractive.
Our crude oil refinery storage tanks are physically integrated with and serve refineries owned by Valero Energy, and we have entered into various
agreements with Valero Energy governing the use of these tanks. As a result, we believe that we will not face significant competition for our services
provided to those refineries.
Results of Operations
The following table presents operating highlights for the storage segment:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Barrel Data)

Throughput (barrels/day)

469,862

Throughput terminal revenues
Storage terminal revenues
Total revenues
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense
Segment operating income

$

$

136,632
357,810
494,442
205,569
99,092
189,781

464,571
$

$

114,243
339,758
454,001
202,323
97,573
154,105

Change

5,291
$

$

22,389
18,052
40,441
3,246
1,519
35,676

Throughput terminal revenues increased $22.4 million, while throughputs increased 5,291 barrels per day for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared
to the year ended December 31, 2019, mainly due to an increase in throughput terminal revenues of $28.9 million and an increase in throughputs of 38,230
barrels per day at our Corpus Christi North Beach terminal, consistent with the higher volumes on our Corpus Christi Crude Pipeline System. These
increases were partially offset by a decrease in throughput terminal revenues of $6.5 million and a decrease in throughputs of 32,867 barrels per day at our
Central West Terminals, due to lower demand in 2020 resulting from the impacts from COVID-19 and actions by OPEC+.
Storage terminal revenues increased $18.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due
to:
• an increase in revenues of $7.0 million at our Gulf Coast Terminals, mainly due to rate escalations and new customer contracts at our Texas City
terminal, which we sold in December 2020, and Jacksonville terminal, and an increase in throughput and ancillary fees and unit train activity at
our St. James terminal;
• an increase in revenues of $6.4 million at our West Coast Terminals, mainly due to new contracts and rate escalations related to completed projects
at our Selby and Stockton terminals; and
• an increase in revenues of $4.6 million at our Central West Terminals, primarily due to completed projects at our Nuevo Laredo terminal that
began early service in the third quarter of 2019 and was at full service at the end of the first quarter of 2020.
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Operating expenses increased $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to the
following:
• an increase in insurance expense of $5.5 million due to higher premiums; and
• an increase in reimbursable expenses of $4.3 million, mostly resulting from higher reimbursable wharfage activity at our Corpus Christi North
Beach terminal and increased customer activity at our Texas City terminal prior to its sale in December 2020.
These increases were partially offset by the business interruption insurance recovery of $6.7 million in 2020 related to a fire at our Selby terminal in the
fourth quarter of 2019.
Depreciation and amortization expense increased $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019,
mainly due to the $2.7 million increase resulting from the completion of the Nuevo Laredo terminal project and other various projects, partially offset by a
decrease of $1.2 million due to the Texas City Sale.
FUELS MARKETING SEGMENT
The fuels marketing segment includes our bunkering operations in the Gulf Coast, as well as certain of our blending operations associated with our Central
East System. The results of operations for the fuels marketing segment depend largely on the margin between our cost and the sales prices of the products
we market. Therefore, the results of operations for this segment are more sensitive to changes in commodity prices compared to the operations of the
pipeline and storage segments.
Customers for bunker fuel sales are mainly ship owners, including cruise line companies, marketers and traders. In the sale of bunker fuel, we compete with
ports offering bunker fuels that are along the route of travel of the vessel. No customer accounted for a significant portion of the total revenues of the fuels
marketing segment for the year ended December 31, 2020.
The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively impacted commodity prices and volumes, especially for our blending operations and bunker fuel sales to cruise
ships for 2020, for which the duration and lingering impact is not known.
Results of Operations
The following table presents operating highlights for the fuels marketing segment:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Product sales
Cost of goods
Gross margin
Operating expenses
Segment operating income

$

$

268,345
253,704
14,641
2,408
12,233

$

$

342,215
318,869
23,346
2,768
20,578

Change

$

$

(73,870)
(65,165)
(8,705)
(360)
(8,345)

Segment operating income decreased $8.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to
a decrease in gross margins from our blending operations, resulting from a decline in demand due to the impacts from COVID-19 and actions by OPEC+.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Overview
Our primary cash requirements are for distributions to our partners, debt service, capital expenditures and operating expenses. Our partnership agreement
requires that we distribute all “Available Cash” to our common limited partners each quarter. “Available Cash” is defined in the partnership agreement
generally as cash on hand at the end of the quarter, plus certain permitted borrowings made subsequent to the end of the quarter, less cash reserves
determined by our board of directors, subject to requirements for distributions for our preferred units.
For 2020 and prior years, our objective was to fund our reliability capital expenditures and distribution requirements with net cash provided by operating
activities during that year. If we did not generate sufficient cash from operations to meet that objective, we used cash on hand or other sources of cash flow,
which primarily included borrowings under our revolving credit agreement, sales of non-strategic assets and, to the extent necessary, funds raised through
debt or equity offerings. In recent years, we have funded our strategic capital expenditures primarily from borrowings under our revolving credit
agreement, funds raised through debt or equity offerings and/or sales of non-strategic assets. However, our ability to raise funds by issuing debt

18

Table of Contents

or equity depends on many factors beyond our control, including our ability to access such markets with the continued uncertainty surrounding the duration
and severity of the impact from the COVID-19 pandemic and actions by OPEC+. Our risk factors in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” describe the risks inherent to
these sources of funding and the availability thereof.
Also, we may maintain our distribution level with other sources of Available Cash, as provided in our partnership agreement, including borrowings under
our revolving credit agreement and proceeds from the sales of assets.
Due to the negative impact of, and the continued uncertainty stemming from, the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken by OPEC+ in 2020, we took steps
to preserve and enhance our liquidity. To reduce our overall cash requirements, we reduced our strategic capital expenditures for the full-year 2020 by
$165.0 million, approximately 50% below our forecast at the beginning of 2020, to $160.0 million. We also reduced our controllable and operating
expenses for the full-year 2020, mainly related to power and other costs associated with lower throughput compared to our forecast at the beginning of
2020 and certain discretionary maintenance, travel and other expenses. Further, we lowered our distribution, beginning with the distribution related to the
first quarter of 2020, to $0.40 per common unit, which reduces our overall cash requirements.
In March 2020, we enhanced our sources of liquidity by extending the maturity on our revolving credit agreement from October 2021 to October 2023. In
June 2020, we completed the reoffering and conversion of $322.1 million aggregate principal amount of Revenue Bonds Series 2008, Series 2010, Series
2010A, Series 2010B and Series 2011 issued by the Parish of St. James, Louisiana pursuant to the Gulf Opportunity Zone Act of 2005 (collectively,
GoZone Bonds) with respect to our St. James, Louisiana terminal. The reoffering and conversion transaction provided us with additional financial
flexibility by converting the interest rate on the GoZone Bonds from a weekly rate to a long-term rate, and eliminating the need to remarket the bonds prior
to 2025, and, in some cases, until 2030 or the maturity of the bonds in 2040. In addition, the reoffering and conversion transaction provided us with
additional liquidity by eliminating the letters of credit previously issued by various individual banks on our behalf to support the payments required in
connection with the GoZone Bonds.
In addition, in April, we entered into a $750.0 million three-year unsecured Term Loan, which allowed us to pay down our revolving credit agreement with
the proceeds of our initial $500.0 million draw to provide the financial flexibility to address our near-term debt maturities. In September 2020, we issued
$600.0 million of 5.75% senior notes due October 1, 2025 and $600.0 million of 6.375% senior notes due October 1, 2030, which we used to repay the
outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan and outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit agreement. As a result of the issuance of these senior
notes, we had no outstanding borrowings under our $1.0 billion revolving credit agreement as of December 31, 2020. We expect that amounts available
under the revolving credit agreement will be sufficient to address senior note maturities in 2021 and 2022, and we have no other senior note maturities until
2025.
After recognizing the shifting expectations of our industry, including continuing to reduce leverage, combined with the recent lack of access to equity
markets and the uncertain COVID-19 environment, we expect the structural changes described above to continue through 2021. As a result, for the fullyear 2021, we have positioned ourselves to self-fund all of our expenses, distribution requirements and capital expenditures using internally generated cash
flows.
A discussion of our cash flows and other changes in financial position for 2018 can be found in Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 filed with the SEC on
February 27, 2020.
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Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities (please refer to our Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”). The consolidated statements of cash flows have not been adjusted to separately disclose
cash flows related to discontinued operations.
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

$

525,998 $
(98,084)
(291,384)
916
137,446 $

508,757
(319,247)
(177,650)
(524)
11,336

Net cash provided by operating activities increased by $17.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31,
2019, primarily due to changes in working capital and changes in other long-term assets. For the year ended December 31, 2020, cash flows from operating
activities includes insurance proceeds of $35.0 million, which is related to cleanup costs and business interruption at our terminal facility in Selby,
California that experienced a fire in October 2019.
Working capital decreased by $11.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to an increase of $44.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019. Working capital requirements are mainly affected by our accounts receivable and accounts payable balances, which vary depending on
the timing of payments. For the year ended December 31, 2020, a $12.9 million increase in accrued interest payable, resulting from accrued interest
expense from senior note issuances in 2020, also contributed to the change in working capital. For the year ended December 31, 2019, accrued liabilities
decreased $19.6 million, mainly due to revenue recognized during the period that was included in a contract liability at the beginning of the year, as
discussed in Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” In addition, the increase
in accounts receivable in 2019 included the recognition of an insurance receivable of $20.5 million associated with estimated insurance recoveries related
to a fire at our terminal facility in Selby, California in 2019.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, net cash provided by operating activities exceeded our distributions to unitholders and reliability capital
expenditures.
Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $221.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019,
primarily due to a $335.5 million reduction in our 2020 capital expenditures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the actions of OPEC+, combined
with the completion of major pipeline expansion projects in 2019. The decrease in capital expenditures was partially offset by lower proceeds from asset
sales of $117.5 million.
Net cash used in financing activities increased by $113.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019.
The year-over-year increase was mainly due to the $101.3 million paid for debt extinguishment costs and the $49.2 million payment to terminate interest
rate swaps, all in 2020. These increases were partially offset by the $62.2 million decrease in distributions to our common unitholders in 2020.
Debt Sources of Liquidity
Issuance of 5.75% and 6.375% senior notes. On September 14, 2020, NuStar Logistics issued $600.0 million of 5.75% senior notes due October 1, 2025
and $600.0 million of 6.375% senior notes due October 1, 2030. We received proceeds of $1,182.0 million, net of issuance costs of $18.0 million, which
we used to repay outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan, along with early repayment premiums (discussed further below), as well as borrowings
under our Revolving Credit Agreement, as defined below. The interest on the 5.75% and 6.375% senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1
and October 1 of each year, beginning on April 1, 2021.
The 5.75% and 6.375% senior notes do not have sinking fund requirements. These notes rank equally with existing senior unsecured indebtedness and
senior to existing subordinated indebtedness of NuStar Logistics. The 5.75% and 6.375% senior notes contain restrictions on NuStar Logistics’ ability to
incur secured indebtedness unless the same security is also provided for the benefit of holders of the senior notes. In addition, the senior notes limit the
ability of NuStar Logistics and its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur indebtedness secured by certain liens, engage in certain sale-leaseback
transactions
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and engage in certain consolidations, mergers or asset sales. The 5.75% and 6.375% senior notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by NuStar
Energy and NuPOP.
At the option of NuStar Logistics, the 5.75% and 6.375% senior notes may be redeemed in whole or in part at any time at a redemption price, plus accrued
and unpaid interest to the redemption date. If we undergo a change of control, as defined in the supplemental indenture for the 5.75% and 6.375% senior
notes, each holder of the notes may require us to repurchase all or a portion of its notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the notes
repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to the date of repurchase.
Revolving Credit Agreement. On March 6, 2020, NuStar Logistics amended its revolving credit agreement (the Revolving Credit Agreement) to, among
other things, extend the maturity date from October 29, 2021 to October 27, 2023, reduce the total amount available for borrowing from $1.2 billion to $1.0
billion and increase the rates included in the definition of Applicable Rate contained in the Revolving Credit Agreement. On April 6, 2020, NuStar
Logistics amended the Revolving Credit Agreement to allow for certain transactions related to the GoZone Bonds.
The Revolving Credit Agreement is subject to maximum consolidated debt coverage ratio and minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio requirements,
which may limit the amount we can borrow to an amount less than the total amount available for borrowing. For the rolling period of four quarters ending
December 31, 2020, the consolidated debt coverage ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) could not exceed 5.00-to-1.00 and the
consolidated interest coverage ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) must not be less than 1.75-to-1.00. The Revolving Credit Agreement
also contains customary restrictive covenants, such as limitations on indebtedness, liens, mergers, asset transfers and certain investing activities. As of
December 31, 2020, our consolidated interest coverage ratio was 2.05x and our consolidated debt coverage ratio was 4.24x.
Letters of credit issued under the Revolving Credit Agreement totaled $5.2 million as of December 31, 2020. Letters of credit are limited to $400.0 million
and also may restrict the amount we can borrow under the Revolving Credit Agreement. Obligations under the Revolving Credit Agreement are guaranteed
by NuStar Energy and NuPOP. As of December 31, 2020, after using proceeds from the aggregate $1.2 billion senior note offering to repay outstanding
borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement, we had $994.8 million available for borrowing.
In February 2021, we repaid our $300.0 million of 6.75% senior notes due February 1, 2021 with borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement and
we expect that amounts available under the Revolving Credit Agreement will be sufficient to address the senior note maturity in 2022.
In April of 2020, Fitch Ratings downgraded our credit rating from BB to BB- and placed our rating on Rating Watch Negative, and in September of 2020,
Fitch Ratings affirmed our credit rating and changed our rating outlook back to Stable. In August of 2020, Moody’s Investor Service Inc. downgraded our
credit rating from Ba2 to Ba3 and changed our rating outlook to negative. This rating downgrade caused the interest rate on our Revolving Credit
Agreement to increase by 0.25% effective August 2020. The Revolving Credit Agreement is the only debt arrangement with an interest rate that is subject
to adjustment if our debt rating is downgraded (or upgraded) by certain credit rating agencies. The following table reflects the current ratings and outlook
that have been assigned to our debt:

Ratings
Outlook

Fitch Ratings

Moody’s Investor Service Inc.

S&P Global Ratings

BBStable

Ba3
Negative

BBStable

Term Loan. On April 19, 2020, NuStar Energy and NuStar Logistics entered into an unsecured term loan credit agreement with certain lenders and Oaktree
Fund Administration, LLC, as administrative agent for the lenders. The Term Loan provided for an aggregate commitment of up to $750.0 million pursuant
to a three-year unsecured term loan credit facility. NuStar Logistics drew $500.0 million (the Initial Loan) on April 21, 2020 (the Initial Loan Funding
Date). We utilized the proceeds from the Initial Loan, net of the original issue discount of $22.5 million (3.0% of the total commitment) and issuance costs
of $14.4 million, to repay outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement.
On September 16, 2020, we used a portion of the net proceeds from the issuance of the 5.75% and 6.375% senior notes to repay the $500.0 million of
outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan and pay related early repayment premiums totaling $97.6 million. We also recognized costs of $40.3 million
related to unamortized debt issuance costs, unamortized discount and
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commitment fee, which resulted in a loss from extinguishment of debt of $137.9 million in the third quarter of 2020. We terminated the Term Loan on
February 16, 2021.
Receivables Financing Agreement. NuStar Energy and NuStar Finance LLC (NuStar Finance), a special purpose entity and wholly owned subsidiary of
NuStar Energy, are parties to a receivables financing agreement with third-party lenders (the Receivables Financing Agreement) and agreements with
certain of NuStar Energy’s wholly owned subsidiaries (together with the Receivables Financing Agreement, the Securitization Program). On September 3,
2020, they amended the Receivables Financing Agreement to, among other things: (i) extend the maturity date from September 20, 2021 to September 20,
2023, (ii) reduce the amount available for borrowing from $125.0 million to $100.0 million, (iii) provide that the failure to satisfy the consolidated debt
coverage ratio, as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement, would constitute an Event of Default as defined in the Receivables Financing Agreement,
and (iv) increase the interest rate. The amount available for borrowing under the Receivables Financing Agreement is based on the availability of eligible
receivables and other customary factors and conditions. The Securitization Program contains various customary affirmative and negative covenants and
default, indemnification and termination provisions, and the Receivables Financing Agreement provides for acceleration of amounts owed upon the
occurrence of certain specified events.
Issuance of 6.0% senior notes. On May 22, 2019, NuStar Logistics issued $500.0 million of 6.0% senior notes due June 1, 2026. We received net proceeds
of $491.6 million, which we initially used to repay outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement. The interest on the 6.0% senior notes is
payable semi-annually in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year, beginning on December 1, 2019. The 6.0% senior notes rank equally with
existing senior unsecured indebtedness and senior to existing subordinated indebtedness of NuStar Logistics. The 6.0% senior notes contain terms
comparable to our other senior notes, including the 5.75% and 6.375% senior notes described above.
Please refer to Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for a discussion of our
debt agreements.
LOC Agreement. NuStar Logistics is a party to a $100.0 million uncommitted letter of credit agreement, which provides for standby letters of credit or
guarantees with a term of up to one year (LOC Agreement). Any letters of credit issued under the LOC Agreement do not reduce availability under the
Revolving Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2020, we had no letters of credit issued under the LOC Agreement.
Other Sources of Liquidity
Asset Sales. Proceeds from the Texas City Sale in 2020 were used to improve our debt metrics. Proceeds from the sale of our St. St. Eustatius terminal and
bunkering operations in 2019 (the St. Eustatius Disposition) and the sale of our European operations in 2018 (the European Disposition) were initially used
to repay outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit agreement, increasing the amount available for borrowing. The St. Eustatius Disposition and
the European Disposition were part of our plan to improve our debt metrics and partially fund capital projects to grow our core business in North America.
Repatriation. We may repatriate a portion of undistributed foreign earnings in order to provide greater flexibility to meet cash flow needs. We will continue
to evaluate our cash flow needs and may repatriate funds from our foreign subsidiaries as a source of liquidity.
Capital Requirements
Our operations require significant investments to maintain, upgrade or enhance the operating capacity of our existing assets. Our capital expenditures
consist of:
• strategic capital expenditures, such as those to expand or upgrade the operating capacity, increase efficiency or increase the earnings potential of
existing assets, whether through construction or acquisition, as well as certain capital expenditures related to support functions; and
• reliability capital expenditures, such as those required to maintain the current operating capacity of existing assets or extend their useful lives, as
well as those required to maintain equipment reliability and safety.
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The following table summarizes our capital expenditures:
Strategic Capital Expenditures

Reliability Capital Expenditures
(Thousands of Dollars)

$
$

$
$

Total

For the year ended December 31:

2020
2019

159,507
466,996

Expected for the year ended December 31, 2021

$ 140,000 - 170,000

38,572
66,572

$
$

198,079
533,568

$ 40,000 - 50,000

Strategic capital expenditures for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 mainly consisted of expansion projects on our Permian
Crude System and Corpus Christi Crude System, as well as West Coast biofuels terminal projects. Strategic capital expenditures also included Northern
Mexico refined products supply projects in 2019 and projects to increase flexibility at our St. James and other terminals in 2020. Reliability capital
expenditures primarily related to maintenance upgrade projects at our terminals, including $17.7 million in costs to repair the property damage at the St.
Eustatius terminal prior to its sale in July 2019.
For the year ended December 31, 2021, we expect a significant portion of our strategic capital spending to relate to our expansion projects to accommodate
production growth in the Permian Basin and projects to handle biofuels demand on the West Coast. We continue to evaluate our capital budget and make
changes as economic conditions warrant, and our actual capital expenditures for 2021 may increase or decrease from the expected amounts noted above. In
addition, we are currently evaluating reconstruction efforts related to a fire at our terminal facility in Selby, California, which could cause capital
expenditures to be higher than the expected amounts noted above; however, we continue to expect that insurance proceeds will offset these capital
expenditures. We expect to self-fund our capital expenditures in 2021, and our internal growth projects can be accelerated or scaled back depending on
market conditions or customer demand.
Defined Benefit Plans Funding
During 2020, we contributed $11.7 million to our pension and postretirement benefit plans. We expect to contribute approximately $9.7 million to our
pension and postretirement benefit plans in 2021, which principally represents contributions either required by regulations or laws or, with respect to
unfunded plans, necessary to fund current benefits. Pension and postretirement benefit plans funding beyond 2021 is uncertain as the funding varies from
year to year based upon changes in the fair value of the plan assets and actuarial assumptions.
Distributions
Common Limited Partners. Distribution payments are made to our common limited partners within 45 days after the end of each quarter as of a record date
that is set after the end of each quarter. The following table summarizes information about cash distributions to our common limited partners applicable to
the period in which the distributions were earned:
Cash Distributions
Per Unit

Quarter ended:
December 31, 2020
September 30, 2020
June 30, 2020
March 31, 2020

$

Year ended December 31, 2020

$

0.40
0.40
0.40
0.40
1.60

Year ended December 31, 2019

$

2.40

Total Cash Distributions
(Thousands of Dollars)

$

$

43,787
43,678
43,678
43,730
174,873

$

259,136
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Payment Date

February 8, 2021
November 6, 2020
August 7, 2020
May 11, 2020

February 12, 2021
November 13, 2020
August 13, 2020
May 15, 2020
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Preferred Units. The following table provides the terms related to distributions for our Series A, Series B and Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative
Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Units (collectively, the Series A, B and C Preferred Units):

Units

Fixed Distribution Rate Per
Annum (as a Percentage of
the $25.00 Liquidation
Preference Per Unit)

Fixed Distribution
Rate Per Unit Per
Annum

Fixed Distribution
Per Annum
(Thousands of
Dollars)

Optional Redemption
Date/Date at Which
Distribution Rate Becomes
Floating

Series A Preferred Units

8.50% $

2.125

$

19,252

December 15, 2021

Series B Preferred Units

7.625% $

1.90625

$

29,357

June 15, 2022

Series C Preferred Units

9.00% $

2.25

$

15,525

December 15, 2022

Floating Annual Rate (as a
Percentage of the
$25.00 Liquidation
Preference Per Unit)

Three-month LIBOR plus
6.766%
Three-month LIBOR plus
5.643%
Three-month LIBOR plus
6.88%

The distribution rates on the Series D Cumulative Convertible Preferred Units (Series D Preferred Units) are as follows: (i) 9.75%, or $57.6 million, per
annum ($0.619 per unit per distribution period) for the first two years (beginning with the September 17, 2018 distribution); (ii) 10.75%, or $63.4 million,
per annum ($0.682 per unit per distribution period) for years three through five; and (iii) the greater of 13.75%, or $81.1 million, per annum ($0.872 per
unit per distribution period) or the distribution per common unit thereafter. While the Series D Preferred Units are outstanding, the Partnership will be
prohibited from paying distributions on any junior securities, including the common units, unless full cumulative distributions on the Series D Preferred
Units (and any parity securities) have been, or contemporaneously are being, paid or set aside for payment through the most recent Series D Preferred Unit
distribution payment date. Any Series D Preferred Unit distributions in excess of $0.635 may be paid, in the Partnership’s sole discretion, in additional
Series D Preferred Units, with the remainder paid in cash. If we fail to pay in full any Series D Preferred Unit distribution amount, then, until we pay such
distributions in full, the applicable distribution rate for those distribution periods shall be increased by $0.048 per Series D Preferred Unit. We would also
be subject to other requirements. The Series D Preferred Units also contain various conversion and redemption features, including the option to convert the
Series D Preferred Units into common units on a one-for-one basis, as described in Note 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
Distributions on our preferred units are payable out of any legally available funds, accrue and are cumulative from the original issuance dates, and are
payable on the 15th day (or next business day) of each of March, June, September and December of each year to holders of record on the first business day
of each payment month. Please see Notes 18 and 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” for additional information.
In January 2021, our board of directors declared quarterly distributions with respect to the Series A, B and C Preferred Units and the Series D Preferred
Units to be paid on March 15, 2021.
Debt Obligations
Our debt obligations as of December 31, 2020 are listed below:
•

$300.0 million of 6.75% senior notes due February 1, 2021, $250.0 million of 4.75% senior notes due February 1, 2022; $600.0 million of 5.75%
senior notes due October 1, 2025; $500.0 million of 6.0% senior notes due June 1, 2026; $550.0 million of 5.625% senior notes due April 28,
2027; $600.0 million of 6.375% senior notes due October 1, 2030; and $402.5 million of subordinated notes due January 15, 2043 with a floating
interest rate, which was 7.0% as of December 31, 2020;

•

$322.1 million in GoZone Bonds due from 2038 to 2041; and

•

Receivables Financing Agreement due September 20, 2023, with $57.0 million of borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2020.

We repaid our $450.0 million of 4.8% senior notes due September 1, 2020 at maturity with borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement. In February
2021, we repaid our $300.0 million of 6.75% senior notes due February 1, 2021 with borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement.
On June 3, 2020, NuStar Logistics completed the reoffering and conversion of the GoZone Bonds, which, among other things, converted the interest rate
from a weekly rate to a long-term rate. We did not receive any proceeds from the reoffering, and the reoffering did not increase our outstanding debt. As
reflected in the table below, certain series of GoZone Bonds in principal amounts totaling $75.0 million and $103.8 million contain a requirement for the
bondholders to tender their bonds in exchange
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for 100% of the principal plus accrued and unpaid interest on June 1, 2025 and on June 1, 2030, respectively, after which these bonds will potentially be
remarketed with a new interest rate established.
The following table summarizes the GoZone Bonds outstanding as of December 31, 2020:
Amount
Outstanding
(Thousands of Dollars)

Series

Date Issued

Series 2008
Series 2010
Series 2010A
Series 2010B
Series 2011

June 26, 2008
July 15, 2010
October 7, 2010
December 29, 2010
August 9, 2011

$

Total $

Interest Rate

55,440
100,000
43,300
48,400
75,000
322,140

6.10 %
6.35 %
6.35 %
6.10 %
5.85 %

Mandatory
Purchase Date

Maturity Date

June 1, 2030
n/a
n/a
June 1, 2030
June 1, 2025

June 1, 2038
July 1, 2040
October 1, 2040
December 1, 2040
August 1, 2041

Management believes that, as of December 31, 2020, we are in compliance with the ratios and covenants applicable to our debt obligations. A default under
certain of our debt agreements would be considered an event of default under other of our debt instruments.
Guarantor Summarized Financial Information. NuStar Energy has no operations, and its assets consist mainly of its 100% ownership interest in its
indirectly owned subsidiaries, NuStar Logistics and NuPOP. The senior and subordinated notes issued by NuStar Logistics are fully and unconditionally
guaranteed by NuStar Energy and NuPOP. Each guarantee of the senior notes by NuStar Energy and NuPOP ranks equally in right of payment with all
other existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness of that guarantor, is structurally subordinated to all existing and any future indebtedness and
obligations of any subsidiaries of that guarantor that do not guarantee the notes and rank senior to its guarantee of our subordinated indebtedness. Each
guarantee of the subordinated notes by NuStar Energy and NuPOP ranks equal in right of payment with all other existing and future subordinated
indebtedness of that guarantor and subordinated in right of payment and upon liquidation to the prior payment in full of all other existing and future senior
indebtedness of that guarantor. NuPOP will be released from its guarantee when it no longer guarantees any obligations of NuStar Energy or any of its
subsidiaries, including NuStar Logistics, under any bank credit facility or public debt instrument. The rights of holders of our senior and subordinated notes
may be limited under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or state fraudulent transfer or conveyance law.
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As permitted by Rule 3-10 of the SEC’s Regulation S-X, which we adopted in the fourth quarter of 2020, the following table presents summarized
combined income statement and balance sheet information for NuStar Energy, NuStar Logistics and NuPOP (collectively, the Guarantor Issuer Group).
Intercompany items among the Guarantor Issuer Group have been eliminated in the summarized combined financial information below, as well as
intercompany balances and activity for the Guarantor Issuer Group with non-guarantor subsidiaries, including the Guarantor Issuer Group’s investment
balances in non-guarantor subsidiaries.
As of and For the Year Ended
December 31, 2020
(Thousands of Dollars)

Summarized Combined Balance Sheet Information:
Current assets
Long-term assets
Current liabilities (a)
Long-term liabilities, including long-term debt
Series D preferred limited partners

$
$
$
$
$

154,752
2,950,217
140,385
3,609,306
599,542

Summarized Combined Income Statement Information:
Revenues
Operating income
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Net loss

$
$
$
$
$

828,996
225,873
(230,391)
(141,746)
(148,148)

(a) Excluding $0.6 million of net intercompany payable due to the non-guarantor subsidiaries from the Guarantor Issuer Group.

Revenue and net loss for the non-guarantor subsidiaries totaled $652.6 million and $50.8 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Long-term assets for the non-guarantor subsidiaries totaled $2,543.2 million as of December 31, 2020. Please refer to Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for a discussion of our debt agreements.
Interest Rate Swaps
In June 2020, we paid $49.2 million to terminate forward-starting interest rate swaps with an aggregate notional amount of $250.0 million. Please refer to
Notes 2 and 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for a more detailed discussion
of our interest rate swaps.

26

Table of Contents

Long-Term Contractual Obligations
The following table presents our long-term contractual obligations and commitments and the related payments due as of December 31, 2020:
2021

Long-term debt maturities
Interest payments (a)
Operating leases (b)
Finance leases (b)
Purchase obligations (c)
Total

$

$

300,000
210,082
13,137
5,907
9,980
539,106

2022

$

$

250,000
194,102
12,419
5,231
7,647
469,399

$

$

Payments Due by Period
2023
2024
(Thousands of Dollars)

2025

57,000
187,583
11,170
5,102
2,039
262,894

600,000
184,923
8,154
3,898
483
797,458

$

$

—
183,608
10,294
4,622
1,025
199,549

$

$

Thereafter

$

$

2,374,640
1,137,301
53,288
56,079
4,520
3,625,828

Total

$

$

3,581,640
2,097,599
108,462
80,839
25,694
5,894,234

(a) The interest payments calculated for our variable-rate, long-term debt are based on interest rates and the outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2020. The
interest payments on our fixed-rate debt are based on the stated interest rates and the outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2020.
(b) Our operating leases consist primarily of land and dock leases at various terminal facilities and leases for marine vessels at our Point Tupper terminal facility. Our
finance leases consist primarily of a dock lease at a terminal facility with an initial term of five years and four additional five-year renewal periods that also
includes a commitment for minimum dockage and wharfage throughput volumes. Please see Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional information.
(c) A purchase obligation is an enforceable and legally binding agreement to purchase goods or services that specifies significant terms, including (i) fixed or
minimum quantities to be purchased, (ii) fixed, minimum or variable price provisions and (iii) the approximate timing of the transaction.

We also have pension and other postretirement benefit obligations recorded in “Other long-term liabilities” on our consolidated balance sheets, which have
been excluded from the contractual obligations table above due to the uncertainty in timing as to the future cash flows related to these obligations. For
additional information on our pension and other postretirement benefit obligations see Note 22 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
Environmental, Health and Safety
As described below under “Environmental, Health, Safety and Security Regulation,” our operations are subject to extensive international, federal, state and
local environmental laws and regulations, in the U.S. and in the other countries in which we operate, including those relating to the discharge of materials
into the environment, waste management, remediation, the characteristics and composition of fuels, climate change and greenhouse gases. Our operations
are also subject to extensive health, safety and security laws and regulations, including those relating to worker and pipeline safety, pipeline and storage
tank integrity and operations security. Because more stringent environmental and safety laws and regulations are continuously being enacted or proposed,
the level of expenditures required for environmental, health and safety matters is expected to increase in the future.
The balance of and changes in our accruals for environmental matters as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are included in Note 14 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” We believe that we have adequately accrued for
our environmental exposures.
Contingencies
We are subject to certain loss contingencies, and we believe that the resolution of any particular claim or proceeding, or all matters in the aggregate, would
not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position or liquidity, as further disclosed in Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
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HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
As of December 31, 2020, we have 1,408 employees, of which 1,339 are based in the United States and 69 are based in Canada. Of our 1,408 employees,
93 are represented under collective bargaining agreements. In the United States, 512 of our employees are located at our headquarters in San Antonio,
Texas, with the remaining 827 employees located at our field offices.
We strive to make NuStar a safe, positive, inclusive and rewarding workplace, with competitive compensation, benefits and health and wellness programs
and opportunities for our employees to grow and develop in their careers. We also are committed to supporting the communities in which we operate, and
we organize opportunities for our employees to engage in our communities through a variety of initiatives, such as fundraising activities, community cleanup projects and educational programs. NuStar’s culture revolves around our nine guiding principles: safety; integrity; commitment; make a difference;
teamwork; respect; communication; excellence; and pride. We believe that these principles are the building blocks for NuStar’s success and have helped us
to recruit and retain our employees and make NuStar a great place to work. NuStar has been recognized on Fortune’s list of Great Places to Work 11 times
and Fortune’s list of Best Workplaces for Millennials four times, and also has been recognized as a top employer by regional and local publications, many
of which base their determinations primarily on confidential surveys of our employees. In addition, as of December 31, 2020, 275 of our employees have
been employed by NuStar or predecessor entities for at least 20 years.
As a midstream energy company, safety is our first priority. In managing our business, we focus on the safety of our employees and contractors, as well as
the communities in which we operate. We have implemented safety programs and management practices to promote a culture of safety, including required
training for field and office employees and contractors, as well as specific qualifications and certifications for field employees and contractors. To further
emphasize the importance of safety at NuStar, our Audit Committee or our Board of Directors receives a comprehensive annual report regarding our health,
safety and environmental performance, and our Board receives safety updates at least monthly. The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors
evaluates our health, safety and environmental performance annually as one of the metrics used to determine the annual incentive bonus for all of our
employees, including our executive officers.
We are proud of NuStar’s safety performance. Our safety statistics have been substantially better than those reported by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics
for our industries. NuStar participates in the Occupational Health and Safety Administration’s (OSHA) Voluntary Protection Program (VPP), which
promotes effective worksite health and safety. Achieving VPP Star Status requires rigorous OSHA review and audit, and requires recertification every three
years. As of December 31, 2020, 85% of our eligible U.S. terminals have received VPP Star Status. NuStar also has received the International Liquids
Terminals Association’s Safety Excellence Award 10 times.
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, we have continued to focus on safety and have taken measures to protect our employees and maintain safe, reliable
operations to continue supplying the energy our country needs, and we have done so without furloughs or layoffs. We implemented social distancing
through revised shift schedules, work from home policies and designated remote work locations where appropriate; enhanced cleaning protocols; provided
personal protective equipment; restricted non-essential business travel; and adopted COVID-19 testing protocols and self-screening for employees and
contractors. Even during the COVID-19 pandemic, our employees have continued to make a positive difference in the communities in which we operate by
donating their time and resources.
PROPERTIES
Our principal properties are described above under the caption “Segments and Results of Operations” above, and that information is incorporated herein by
reference. We believe that we have satisfactory title to all of our properties. Although title to these properties is subject to encumbrances in some cases,
such as customary interests generally retained in connection with the acquisition of real property, liens for current taxes and other burdens and easements,
and restrictions or other encumbrances, including those related to environmental liabilities associated with historical operations, to which the underlying
properties were subject at the time of acquisition by us or our predecessors, we believe that none of these burdens will materially detract from the value of
these properties or from our interest in these properties or will materially interfere with their use in the operation of our business. In addition, we believe
that we have obtained sufficient right-of-way grants and permits from public authorities and private parties for us to operate our business in all material
respects as described in this report. We perform scheduled maintenance on all of our pipelines, terminals, crude oil tanks and related equipment and make
repairs and replacements when necessary or appropriate. We believe that our pipelines, terminals, crude oil tanks and related equipment have been
constructed and are maintained in all material respects in accordance with applicable federal, state and local laws and the regulations and standards
prescribed by the American Petroleum Institute, the DOT and accepted industry practice.
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RATE REGULATION
Several of our pipelines are interstate common carrier pipelines, which are subject to regulation by the FERC under the Interstate Commerce Act (ICA) and
the Energy Policy Act of 1992 (the EP Act). The ICA and its implementing regulations give the FERC authority to regulate the rates charged for service on
interstate common carrier pipelines and generally require the rates and practices of interstate liquids pipelines to be just, reasonable, not unduly
discriminatory and not unduly preferential. The ICA also requires tariffs that set forth the rates a common carrier pipeline charges for providing
transportation services on its interstate common carrier liquids pipelines, as well as the rules and regulations governing these services, to be maintained on
file with the FERC and posted publicly. The EP Act deemed certain rates in effect prior to its passage to be just and reasonable and limited the
circumstances under which a complaint can be made against such “grandfathered” rates. The EP Act and its implementing regulations also allow interstate
common carrier liquids pipelines to annually index their rates up to a prescribed ceiling level and require that such pipelines index their rates down to the
prescribed ceiling level if the index is negative. In addition, the FERC retains cost-of-service ratemaking, market-based rates and settlement rates as
alternatives to the indexing approach.
The Ammonia Pipeline is subject to regulation by the STB pursuant to the Interstate Commerce Act applicable to such pipelines (which differs from the
ICA applicable to interstate liquids pipelines). Under that regulation, the Ammonia Pipeline’s rates, classifications, rules and practices related to the
interstate transportation of anhydrous ammonia must be reasonable and, in providing interstate transportation, the Ammonia Pipeline may not subject a
person, place, port or type of traffic to unreasonable discrimination.
In addition to federal regulatory body oversight, various states, including Colorado, Kansas, Louisiana, North Dakota and Texas, maintain commissions
focused on the rates and practices of common carrier pipelines offering services within their borders. Although the applicable state statutes and regulations
vary, they generally require that intrastate pipelines publish tariffs setting forth all rates, rules and regulations applying to intrastate service, and generally
require that pipeline rates and practices be just, reasonable and nondiscriminatory.
Shippers may challenge tariff rates, rules and regulations on our pipelines. In most instances, state commissions have not initiated investigations of the rates
or practices of pipelines in the absence of shipper complaints. There are no pending challenges or complaints regarding our tariffs.
ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH, SAFETY AND SECURITY REGULATION
Our operations are subject to extensive international, federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, in the U.S. and in the other countries in
which we operate, including those relating to the discharge of materials into the environment, waste management, remediation, the characteristics and
composition of fuels, climate change and greenhouse gases. Our operations are also subject to extensive health, safety and security laws and regulations,
including those relating to worker and pipeline safety, pipeline and storage tank integrity and operations security. The principal environmental, health,
safety and security risks associated with our operations relate to unauthorized emissions into the air, releases into soil, surface water or groundwater,
personal injury and property damage. We have adopted policies, practices, systems and procedures designed to comply with the laws and regulations, and
to help minimize and mitigate these risks, limit the liability that could result from such events, prevent material environmental or other damage, ensure the
safety of our employees and the public and secure our pipelines, terminals and operations. Compliance with environmental, health, safety and security laws,
regulations and related permits increases our capital expenditures and operating expenses, and violation of these laws, regulations or permits could result in
significant civil and criminal liabilities, injunctions or other penalties.
In 2020, our capital expenditures attributable to compliance with environmental regulations were $9.9 million, and we currently project regulatory
compliance spending of approximately $5.3 million in 2021. However, future governmental actions could result in more restrictive laws and regulations,
which could increase required capital expenditures and operating expenses. At this time, we are unable to estimate either the impact, if any, of potential
future regulation and/or legislation on our financial condition or results of operations, or the amount and timing of such possible future expenditures or
expenses. We believe that we are in substantial compliance with the environmental, health, safety and security laws and regulations applicable to our
operations, but risk of additional compliance expenditures, expenses and liabilities are inherent to government-regulated industries, including midstream
energy. As a result, there can be no assurances that significant expenditures, expenses and liabilities will not be incurred in the future. However, while
compliance may affect our capital expenditures and operating expenses, we believe that the cost of such compliance will not have a material impact on our
competitive position, financial condition or results of operations. Further, we do not believe that our cost of compliance is proportionately greater than the
cost to other companies operating in our industry.
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Discussed below are the primary U.S. environmental, health, safety and security laws applicable to our operations. Compliance with or violations of any of
these laws and related regulations could result in significant expenditures, expenses and liabilities.
Occupational, Safety and Health
We are subject to the Occupational Safety and Health Act, as amended, and analogous or more stringent international, state and local laws and regulations
for the protection of worker safety and health. In addition, we have operations subject to the Occupational Safety and Health Administration’s Process
Safety Management regulations. These regulations apply to processes that involve certain chemicals at or above specified thresholds.
Fuel Standards and Renewable Energy
International, federal, state and local laws and regulations regulate the fuels we transport and store for our customers. Changes in these laws or regulations
could affect our earnings, including by reducing our throughput volumes, or require capital expenditures and expenses to segregate and separately store
fuels. In addition, several federal and state programs require, subsidize or encourage the purchase and use of competing fuels or energy, renewable energy,
electric battery-powered motor vehicle engines and renewable fuels and blending additives, like ethanol, biodiesel and renewable diesel. These programs
may over time offset projected increases or reduce the demand for refined products, particularly gasoline, in certain markets. However, the increased
production and use of renewable fuels may also create opportunities for pipeline transportation and fuel blending. Other legislative changes in the future
may similarly alter the expected demand and supply projections for refined products in ways that cannot be predicted.
Hazardous Substances and Hazardous Waste
The Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, referred to as CERCLA or “Superfund,” and analogous or more
stringent international, state and local laws and regulations, impose restrictions and liability related to the release, threatened release, disposal and
remediation of hazardous substances. This liability can be joint and several strict liability, without regard to fault or the legality of the original release or
disposal. Current operators of a facility, past owners or operators of a facility and parties who arranged for the disposal of a hazardous substance can be
held liable under these laws and regulations.
We currently own, lease, and operate on, and have in the past owned, leased and operated on, properties and at facilities that handled, transported and stored
hazardous substances. Our current operating and disposal practices comply with applicable laws, regulations and industry standards, and we believe our
past practices complied at the time. Despite our compliance, hazardous substances may have been released on or under our facilities and properties, or on
or under locations where these substances were taken for disposal. We are currently remediating subsurface contamination at several facilities, and, based
on currently available information, we believe the costs related to these remedial activities should not materially affect our financial condition or results of
operations. However, the aggregate total cost of remediation projects can be difficult to estimate, and there are no assurances that the cost of future
remedial activities will not become material. Further, applicable laws or regulation, including those dictating the degree of remediation required, may be
revised to be more restrictive in the future. As a result, we are unable to estimate the effect of future regulation on our financial condition or results of
operations or the amount and timing of future expenditures required to comply with such possible regulatory changes.
The Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended, and analogous or more stringent international, state and local laws and regulations
impose restrictions and strict controls regarding the handling and disposal of wastes, including hazardous wastes. We generate hazardous wastes and it is
possible that additional wastes, which could include wastes currently generated during operations, will be designated as hazardous wastes in the future.
Hazardous wastes are subject to more rigorous requirements than are non-hazardous wastes.
Air
The Federal Clean Air Act, as amended, and various applicable international, state and local laws and regulations impose restrictions and strict controls
regarding emission into the air, including greenhouse gas emissions. These laws and regulations generally require permits issued by applicable federal, state
or local authorities for emissions, and impose monitoring and reporting requirements. Such laws and regulations can also require pre-approval for the
construction or modification of certain operations or facilities expected to produce or increase air emissions.
Water
The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, also known as the Clean Water Act, the federal Spill Prevention, Control, and Countermeasure and
Facility Response Plan Rules and analogous or more stringent international, state and local laws and regulations impose restrictions and strict controls
regarding the discharge of pollutants into state waters or waters of the United States. The discharge of pollutants into waters is generally prohibited, except
in accordance with a permit issued by
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applicable federal or state authorities. The Oil Pollution Act further regulates the discharge of oil, and the response to and liability for oil spills, and the
Rivers and Harbors Act regulates pipelines crossing navigable waters.
Pipeline and Other Asset Integrity, Safety and Security
Our pipeline, storage tank and other operations are subject to extensive international, federal, state and local laws and regulations governing integrity,
safety and security, including those in Title 49 of the U.S. Code and its implementing regulations. These laws and regulations include the Pipeline and
Hazardous Materials Safety Administration’s requirements for safe pipeline design, construction, operation, maintenance, inspection, testing and corrosion
control, control rooms and qualification programs for operating personnel. In addition, we have marine terminal operations subject to Coast Guard safety,
integrity and security regulations and standards. We also have operations subject to the Department of Homeland Security Chemical Facility AntiTerrorism Standards and Transportation Security Administration’s Pipeline Security Guidelines. We believe that we are in material compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations regarding the security of our facilities.
We have cybersecurity programs and protocols in place and we monitor for changes to cybersecurity laws and regulations that may be applicable to our
facilities and technology. We believe we are in material compliance with these laws; however, we cannot guarantee the effectiveness of our cybersecurity
program and protocols and a successful penetration of our critical systems could have a material effect on our operations and those of our customers and
vendors.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to select accounting policies
and to make estimates and assumptions related thereto that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. The accounting policies below are considered critical due to judgments made by management and the
sensitivity of these estimates to deviations of actual results from management’s assumptions. Ongoing uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic,
including its duration and lingering impacts, and uncertainty surrounding future production decisions by oil-producing nations continue to cause volatility
and could significantly impact management’s estimates and assumptions. The critical accounting policies should be read in conjunction with Note 2 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” which summarizes our significant accounting
policies.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We test long-lived assets for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be
recoverable. We evaluate recoverability using undiscounted estimated net cash flows generated by the related asset or asset group. If the results of that
evaluation indicate that the undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset (i.e., the asset is not recoverable) we perform an
impairment analysis. If our intent is to hold the asset for continued use, we determine the amount of impairment as the amount by which the net carrying
value exceeds its fair value. If our intent is to sell the asset, and the criteria required to classify an asset as held for sale are met, we determine the amount of
impairment as the amount by which the net carrying amount exceeds its fair value less costs to sell.
In determining the existence of an impairment of the carrying value of an asset, we make a number of subjective assumptions as to:
• whether there is an event or circumstance that may indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable;
• the grouping of assets;
• the intention of holding, abandoning or selling an asset;
• the forecast of undiscounted expected future cash flows with respect to an asset or asset group; and
• if an impairment exists, the fair value of the asset or asset group.
Our estimates of undiscounted future cash flows include: (i) discrete financial forecasts, which rely on management’s estimates of revenue and operating
expenses; (ii) long-term growth rates; and (iii) estimates of useful lives of the assets. The identification of impairment indicators and the estimates of future
undiscounted cash flows are highly subjective and are based on numerous assumptions about future operations and market conditions, which we believe to
be reasonable but are inherently uncertain. The uncertainties underlying our assumptions and estimates could differ significantly from actual results and
could cause a different conclusion about the recoverability of our assets. If we determined one or more assets was impaired, the amount of impairment
could be material to our results of operations.
We recorded long-lived asset impairment charges of $305.7 million in 2019. Please refer to Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in
Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” for discussion of the impairment charges.
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Impairment of Goodwill
We perform an assessment of goodwill annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances warrant. We have the option to first perform a
qualitative annual assessment to determine whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. A qualitative assessment includes,
among other things, industry and market considerations, overall financial performance, other entity-specific events and events affecting individual reporting
units. If after assessing the totality of events or circumstances for each reporting unit, we determine that it is more likely than not that the carrying value
exceeds its fair value, then we would perform an impairment test for that reporting unit.
We recognize an impairment of goodwill if the carrying value of a reporting unit that contains goodwill exceeds its estimated fair value. In order to estimate
the fair value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, management must make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the total fair value of the
reporting unit including, among other things, an assessment of market conditions, projected cash flows, discount rates and growth rates. Management’s
estimates of projected cash flows related to the reporting unit include, but are not limited to, future earnings of the reporting unit, assumptions about the use
or disposition of assets included in the reporting unit, estimated remaining lives of those assets, and future expenditures necessary to maintain the assets’
existing service potential.
We calculate the estimated fair value of each of our reporting units using a weighted-average of values calculated using an income approach and a market
approach. The income approach involves estimating the fair value of each reporting unit by discounting its estimated future cash flows using a discount
rate, consistent with a market participant’s assumption. The market approach bases the fair value measurement on information obtained from observed
stock prices of public companies and recent merger and acquisition transaction data of comparable entities.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, our reporting units to which goodwill has been allocated consisted of the following:
•

crude oil pipelines;

•

refined product pipelines; and

•

terminals, excluding our Point Tupper facility and our refinery crude storage tanks.

In March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken by OPEC+ resulted in severe disruptions in the capital and commodities markets, which led to
significant decline in our unit price. As a result, our equity market capitalization fell significantly. The decline in crude oil prices and demand for petroleum
products also led to a decline in expected earnings from some of our goodwill reporting units. These factors and others related to COVID-19 and OPEC+
caused us to conclude there were triggering events that occurred in March that required us to perform a goodwill impairment test as of March 31, 2020, and
we recognized goodwill impairment charges of $225.0 million associated with our crude oil pipelines. Please refer to Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” for discussion of the impairment charges.
We elected to bypass the qualitative assessment for all reporting units as of October 1, 2020 and performed a quantitative assessment. Although we
determined that no impairment charges resulted from our October 1, 2020 impairment assessment, the fair value of the crude oil pipelines reporting unit
exceeded its carrying value by approximately 4%. The goodwill associated with the crude oil pipelines reporting unit totaled $308.6 million as of
December 31, 2020. Our estimate of the fair value of the crude oil pipelines reporting unit is sensitive to typical valuation assumptions, particularly our
estimates for the weighted-average cost of capital (WACC) used for the income approach and the guideline public company (GPC) multiple used for the
market approach. Considering that the carrying value of the reporting unit was written down to its fair value with the first quarter of 2020 impairment
charge discussed above, changes to the WACC or GPC multiple used in our estimate could cause the fair value to be less than the carrying value of the
crude oil pipelines reporting unit, resulting in an impairment. The fair values of the refined product pipelines and terminals reporting units substantially
exceed their carrying values.
Management’s estimates are based on numerous assumptions about future operations and market conditions, which we believe to be reasonable but are
inherently uncertain. The uncertainties underlying our assumptions and estimates could differ significantly from actual results, including with respect to the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic, the extent of travel restrictions, business closures and other efforts to control the spread of COVID-19
and the impact of actions by OPEC+, which could lead to a different determination of the fair value of our assets. If we determined goodwill was impaired,
the amount of impairment could be material to our results of operations. We will continue to monitor the business and consider additional interim analysis
of goodwill as appropriate.
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Defined Benefit Plans
We estimate pension and other postretirement benefit obligations and costs based on actuarial valuations. The annual measurement date for our pension and
other postretirement benefit plans is December 31. The actuarial valuations require the use of certain assumptions including discount rates, expected longterm rates of return on plan assets and expected rates of compensation increase. Changes in these assumptions are primarily influenced by factors outside
our control. The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yield curve represented by a series of annualized individual discount rates. Each bond issue
underlying the hypothetical yield curve required an average rating of double-A, when averaging all available ratings by Moody’s Investor Service Inc.,
S&P Global Ratings and Fitch Ratings. The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on the weighted averages of the expected long-term
rates of return for each asset class of investments held in our plans as determined using historical data and the assumption that capital markets are
informationally efficient. The expected rate of compensation increase represents average long-term salary increases.
These assumptions can have an effect on the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements. A 0.25% change in the specified assumptions
would have the following effects (thousands of dollars):
Other
Postretirement
Benefits

Pension
Benefits

Increase in benefit obligation as of December 31, 2020 resulting from:
Discount rate decrease
Compensation rate increase

$
$

6,900
500

$

500
n/a

Increase in net periodic benefit cost for the year ending December 31, 2021
resulting from:
Discount rate decrease
Expected long-term rate of returns on plan assets decrease
Compensation rate increase

$
$
$

500
400
200

$

100
n/a
n/a

Please refer to Note 22 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for further discussion
of our pension and other postretirement benefit obligations.
Environmental Liabilities
Environmental remediation costs are expensed and an associated accrual is established when site restoration and environmental remediation and cleanup
obligations are either known or considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. These environmental obligations are based on estimates of probable
undiscounted future costs using currently available technology and applying current regulations, as well as our own internal environmental policies. The
environmental liabilities have not been reduced by possible recoveries from third parties. Environmental costs include initial site surveys, costs for
remediation and restoration and ongoing monitoring costs, as well as fines, damages and other costs, when estimable. Adjustments to initial estimates are
recorded, from time to time, to reflect changing circumstances and estimates based upon additional information developed in subsequent periods.
Environmental liabilities are difficult to assess and estimate due to unknown factors, such as the timing and extent of remediation, the determination of our
liability in proportion to other parties, improvements in cleanup technologies and the extent to which environmental laws and regulations may change in the
future. We believe that we have adequately accrued for our environmental exposures. Please refer to Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for the amount of accruals for environmental matters.
Contingencies
We accrue for costs relating to litigation, claims and other contingent matters when such liabilities become probable and reasonably estimable. Such
estimates may be based on advice from third parties or on management’s judgment, as appropriate. Due to the inherent uncertainty of litigation, actual
amounts paid may differ from amounts estimated, and such differences will be charged to income in the period when final determination is made.
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NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Selected Financial Data, and Supplementary Financial Information
In November 2020, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued final rules to modernize, simplify, and enhance certain financial disclosure
requirements in Regulation S-K. Among other changes, the amended guidance eliminates the requirements to present five-year selected financial data, the
two-year quarterly financial data table, and the contractual obligations table in the Form 10-K, while it adds requirements to disclose material cash
requirements and additional information regarding critical accounting estimates. The rule changes became effective on February 10, 2021, and we are
required to apply the amended rules in our filings for the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2021. Early application by amended Regulation S-K item is
permitted any time after the effective date. We elected to apply provisions related to selected financial data and quarterly financial information in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 and expect to apply the remaining provisions in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2021.
Please refer to Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for a further discussion
of new accounting pronouncements.
AVAILABLE INFORMATION
Our internet website address is http://www.nustarenergy.com. Information contained on our website is not part of this report. Our annual reports on Form
10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments thereto, filed with (or furnished to) the SEC are available on
our website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after we file or furnish such material (select the “Investors” link, then the “SEC Filings” link).
We also post our corporate governance guidelines, code of business conduct and ethics, code of ethics for senior financial officers and the charters of our
board’s committees on our website free of charge (select the “Investors” link, then the “Corporate Governance” link).
Our governance documents are available in print to any unitholder that makes a written request to Corporate Secretary, NuStar Energy L.P., 19003 IH-10
West, San Antonio, Texas 78257 or corporatesecretary@nustarenergy.com.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS
The ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, the actions taken in response thereto and developments in the global oil markets may continue to
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a severe negative impact on global economic activity, as government authorities instituted stay-home orders, travel
restrictions, business closures and other measures to reduce the spread of the virus. The scale of this decrease in economic activity significantly reduced
demand for petroleum products. In March 2020, the negative economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and demand deterioration was exacerbated by
disputes among the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries and other oil-producing nations (OPEC+) regarding their agreed production rates that
contributed to a significant over-supply in crude oil, resulting in a sharp decline in, and increase in the volatility of, crude oil prices.
As further described in the risk factors below, prolonged periods of reduced demand or low prices for crude oil and refined products can lead to a
significant reduction in the demand for and utilization of our assets, which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations, cash flows
and our ability to make distributions to our unitholders and service our debt. The COVID-19 pandemic and other public health crises may also have the
effect of heightening many of the other risks described in those risk factors.
Beginning in March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic lowered consumer gasoline demand, which in turn depressed utilization rates at refineries across the
country, including those our assets serve. Additionally, lower crude oil prices from over-supply across global oil markets undermined drilling and
production in U.S. shale plays, including the Permian and Eagle Ford Basins, where our Permian and Corpus Christi Crude Systems are located. Together,
reduced demand for refined products, lower refinery utilization and lower drilling activity resulted in reduced demand for and utilization of our pipeline
assets. The continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and actions by OPEC+ have depressed global economic activity, which has had a negative
impact on our results of operations, particularly during the second quarter of 2020. While we began to see some initial signs of recovery and rebound in
June, which improved our results of operations for the remainder of 2020, ongoing uncertainty surrounding the pandemic, as well as uncertainty
surrounding future production decisions by OPEC+, continues to cause volatility and could have a significant impact on our estimates and assumptions in
2021 and beyond. The extent of the impacts on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will depend on future developments
that are highly uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted, such as: the duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or other
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public health crises; the availability of personnel, equipment, services and timely permitting approvals essential to our operations; the depth and duration of
the economic downturn, the decline in demand for petroleum products and other economic effects of the pandemic; the extent and impacts of travel
restrictions, business closures and other efforts to reduce the spread of COVID-19 or other public health crises in impacted areas; and future actions by
OPEC+.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash from operations to enable us to pay quarterly distributions to our unitholders.
The amount of cash that we can distribute to our unitholders each quarter principally depends upon the amount of cash we generate from our operations,
based on, among other things:
• prevailing economic conditions;
• demand for and supply of crude oil, refined products and anhydrous ammonia;
• volumes transported in our pipelines;
• volumes stored in our terminals and storage facilities;
• tariff and/or contractually determined rates and fees we charge and the revenue we realize for our services;
• domestic and foreign governmental laws, regulations, sanctions, embargoes and taxes;
• the effect of worldwide energy conservation measures on demand for and consumption of crude oil and refined products;
• our operating costs;
• the costs to comply with environmental, health, safety and security laws and regulations;
• weather conditions; and
• the results of our marketing, trading and hedging activities, which fluctuate depending upon the relationship between refined product prices and
prices of crude oil and other feedstocks.
Furthermore, the amount of cash that we will have available for distribution depends on a number of other factors, including:
• our debt service requirements and restrictions on distributions contained in our current or future financing agreements;
• our capital expenditures;
• fluctuations in our working capital needs;
• adjustments in cash reserves made by our board of directors, in its discretion;
• availability of and access to equity capital and debt markets; and
• the sources of cash used to fund our acquisitions, if any.
Moreover, the total amount of cash that we have available for distribution to common unitholders is further reduced by the required distributions with
respect to our preferred units.
It is possible that one or more of the factors listed above, which may be further impacted by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic or other public health crises
as well as the actions of oil-producing nations, may reduce our available cash to such an extent that we could be rendered unable to pay distributions at the
current level or at all in a given quarter. Cash distributions to our unitholders depend primarily upon our cash flows, including cash flows from reserves and
working capital borrowings, and not solely on profitability, which is affected by non-cash items; in other words, we may be able to make cash distributions
during periods in which we record net losses and may not be able to make cash distributions during periods in which we record net income.
An extended period of reduced demand for or supply of crude oil and refined products could have an adverse impact on our results of operations, cash
flows and ability to make distributions to our unitholders.
Our business is ultimately dependent upon the long-term demand for and supply of the crude oil and refined products we transport in our pipelines and
store in our terminals. Market prices for crude oil and refined products, including fuel oil, are subject to wide fluctuation in response to changes in global
and regional supply that are beyond our control. Increases in the price of crude oil may result in a lower demand for refined products that we transport,
store and market, including fuel oil, while sustained low prices may lead to reduced production in the markets served by our pipelines and storage
terminals.
Any sustained decrease in demand for refined products in the markets our pipelines and terminals serve that extends beyond the expiration of our existing
throughput and deficiency agreements could result in a significant reduction in throughputs in our pipelines and storage in our terminals, which would
reduce our cash flows and impair our ability to make distributions to our unitholders. Factors that tend to decrease market demand include:
• a recession or other adverse economic conditions that result in lower spending by consumers on gasoline, diesel and travel;
• events that negatively impact global economic activity, travel and demand generally, such as has occurred in response to the COVID-19 pandemic;
• higher fuel taxes or other governmental or regulatory actions that increase, directly or indirectly, the cost of gasoline;
• an increase in aggregate automotive engine fuel economy;
• new government and regulatory actions or court decisions requiring the phase out or reduced use of gasoline-fueled vehicles;
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•
•
•

the increased use of and public demand for use of alternative fuel sources;
an increase in the market price of crude oil that increases refined product prices, which may reduce demand for refined products and drive demand
for alternative products; and
a decrease in corn acres planted for ethanol, which may reduce demand for anhydrous ammonia.

Similarly, any sustained decrease in the supply of crude oil and refined products in markets we serve could result in a significant reduction in throughputs
in our pipelines and storage in our terminals, which would reduce our cash flows and undermine our ability to make distributions to our unitholders.
Factors that tend to decrease supply and, by extension, utilization of our pipelines and terminals include:
• prolonged periods of low prices for crude oil and refined products that result in decreased exploration and development activity and reduced
production in markets served by our pipelines and storage terminals;
• macroeconomic forces affecting, or actions taken by, oil and gas producing nations that impact supply of and prices for crude oil and refined
products, such as the decline in prices resulting, in part, from disputes over production levels by OPEC+;
• a lack of drilling services or equipment available to producers to accommodate production needs;
• changes in laws, regulations, sanctions or taxation that directly or indirectly delay supply or production or increase the cost of production of
refined products; and
• political unrest or hostilities, activist interference and the resulting governmental response thereto.
If we were unable to retain or replace current customers and existing contracts to maintain utilization of our pipeline and storage assets at current or
more favorable rates, our revenue and cash flows could be reduced to levels that could adversely affect our ability to make quarterly distributions to our
unitholders.
Our revenue and cash flows are generated primarily from our customers’ payments of fees under throughput contracts and storage agreements. Failure to
renew or enter into new contracts or our customers’ material reduction of utilization under existing contracts results from many factors, including:
• sustained low crude oil prices;
• a material decrease in the supply or price of crude oil;
• a material decrease in demand for refined products in the markets served by our pipelines and terminals;
• political, social or economic instability in the U.S. or another country that has a detrimental impact on customers based there and our ability to
conduct our operations;
• competition for customers from companies with comparable assets and capabilities;
• scheduled turnarounds or unscheduled maintenance at refineries we serve;
• operational problems or catastrophic events affecting our assets or customers we serve;
• environmental or regulatory proceedings or other litigation that compel the cessation of all or a portion of the operations of our assets or those of
the customers we serve;
• increasingly stringent environmental, health, safety and security regulations;
• a decision by our current customers to redirect refined products transported in our pipelines to markets not served by our pipelines or to transport
crude oil or refined products by means other than our pipelines; or
• a decision by our current customers to shut down, limit operations of or sell one or more of the refineries we serve to a purchaser that elects not to
use our pipelines and terminals.
Depending on conditions in the credit and capital markets at a given time, we may not be able to obtain funding on acceptable terms or at all, which
may hinder or prevent us from meeting our future capital needs, satisfying our debt obligations, or making quarterly distributions to our unitholders.
From time to time, the domestic and global financial markets and economic conditions are volatile and disrupted by a variety of factors, including low
consumer confidence, high unemployment, geoeconomic and geopolitical issues, weak economic conditions, uncertainty in the market and negative
sentiment toward energy-related companies generally, or master limited partnerships specifically. For example, due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic
and actions by OPEC+, global financial markets have experienced significant volatility and steep declines, which volatility and downturn are expected to
continue during the pendency of the pandemic. Credit markets and the debt and equity capital markets have been distressed and the uncertainty surrounding
the future of the global credit markets has resulted in reduced access to credit worldwide, particularly for the energy industry, which has been detrimentally
affected by reduced crude oil prices. In addition, there are fewer investors and lenders for master limited partnership debt and equity capital market
issuances than there are for corporate issuances. As a result, the cost of raising capital in the debt and equity capital markets has increased, the availability
of funds from these markets has diminished and lenders may refuse to refinance existing debt on similar terms or at all and reduce, or in some cases cease
to provide, funding to borrowers.
In general, if we do not generate sufficient cash from operations to finance our expenditures and funding from external sources is not available when
needed, or is available only on unfavorable terms, we may be unable to execute our growth strategy, complete future acquisitions or construction projects or
take advantage of other business opportunities and may be required to
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reduce investments or capital expenditures or sell assets, which could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and results of operations, and we may
not be able to satisfy our debt obligations or pay distributions to our unitholders.
Our future financial and operating flexibility may be adversely affected by our significant leverage, any future downgrades of our credit ratings,
restrictions in our debt agreements and conditions in the financial markets.
As of December 31, 2020, our consolidated debt was $3.6 billion, and we have the ability to incur more debt. In addition to any potential direct financial
impact of our debt, it is possible that any material increase to our debt or other adverse financial factors may be viewed negatively by credit rating agencies,
which could result in ratings downgrades, increased costs or inability for us to access the capital markets and an increase in interest rates on amounts
borrowed under our revolving credit agreement.
Our revolving credit agreement contains restrictive covenants, such as limitations on indebtedness, liens, mergers, asset transfers and certain investing
activities. In addition, that agreement generally limits us to a consolidated debt coverage ratio (consolidated debt to consolidated EBITDA, each as defined
in the agreement) not to exceed 5.00-to-1.00 and requires us to maintain a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio (as defined in the agreement) of at
least 1.75-to-1.00. Failure to comply with any of the restrictive covenants or the maximum consolidated debt coverage ratio or minimum consolidated
interest coverage ratio requirements would constitute an event of default and could result in acceleration of our obligations under our revolving credit
agreement and possibly other agreements. Our accounts receivable securitization program, senior notes and other debt obligations also contain various
customary affirmative and negative covenants and default, indemnification and termination provisions, and provide for acceleration of amounts owed upon
the occurrence of certain specified events. Future financing agreements we may enter into may contain similar or more restrictive covenants and ratio
requirements than those we have negotiated for our current financing agreements.
Our debt service obligations, restrictive covenants, ratio requirements and maturities may adversely affect our ability to finance future operations, pursue
acquisitions, fund our capital needs and pay cash distributions to our unitholders. In addition, this leverage may make our results of operations more
susceptible to adverse economic or operating conditions, limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry and place
us at a competitive disadvantage compared to competitors with proportionately less indebtedness. For example, during an event of default under certain of
our debt agreements, we would be prohibited from making cash distributions to our unitholders.
Our ability to service our debt will depend on, among other things, our future financial and operating performance and our ability to access the capital
markets, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions and financial, business, regulatory and other factors, some of which are beyond our
control. If our operating results are not sufficient to service our indebtedness and we are unable to access the capital markets or otherwise refinance our
indebtedness, we may be required to reduce our distributions, reduce or delay our business activities, investments or capital expenditures, sell assets or
issue additional equity, which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to make
distributions to unitholders, as well as the trading price of our units.
Changes in interest rates could adversely affect our business and the trading price of our units.
We have significant exposure to increases in interest rates through variable rate provisions in certain of our debt instruments and our Series A, B and C
preferred units. At December 31, 2020, we had approximately $3.6 billion of consolidated debt, of which $3.1 billion was at fixed interest rates and $0.5
billion was at variable interest rates. In addition, the distribution rates on our Series A, B and C preferred units convert from fixed rates to floating rates,
beginning in December 2021, June 2022 and December 2022, respectively. Our results of operations, cash flows and financial position could be materially
adversely affected by significant changes in interest rates.
Furthermore, although we have positioned ourselves to self-fund all of our expenses, distribution requirements and capital expenditures for 2021 using
internally generated cash flows, we have historically funded our strategic capital expenditures and any acquisitions primarily from borrowings under our
revolving credit agreement, funds raised through debt or equity offerings and/or sales of non-strategic assets. An increase in interest rates may also have a
negative impact on our ability to access the capital markets at economically attractive rates.
Moreover, the market price of master limited partnership units, like other yield-oriented securities, may be affected by, among other factors, implied
distribution yield. The distribution yield is often used by investors to compare and rank yield-oriented securities for investment decision-making purposes.
Therefore, increases or decreases in interest rates may affect whether or not certain investors decide to invest in master limited partnership units, including
ours, and a rising interest rate environment could have an adverse impact on our unit price and impair our ability to issue additional equity or incur debt to
fund growth or for other purposes, including distributions.
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Our inability to develop, fund and execute growth projects and acquire new assets could limit our ability to maintain and grow quarterly distributions to
our unitholders.
Our ability to maintain and grow our distributions to unitholders depends on the growth of our existing businesses and strategic acquisitions. Decisions
regarding new growth projects rely on numerous estimates, including, among other factors, the ability to secure a commitment from a customer that
sufficiently exceeds our cost of capital to justify the project cost, predictions of future demand for our services, future supply shifts, crude oil production
estimates, commodity price environments, economic conditions, both domestic and foreign, and potential changes in the financial condition of our
customers. Our predictions of such factors could cause us to forego certain investments and to lose opportunities to competitors who make investments
based on different predictions or have greater access to financial resources. In addition, volatile market conditions have caused us to reevaluate the
estimates underlying certain planned projects and delay the timing of certain projects until conditions improve. If we are unable to develop and execute
expansion projects, implement business development opportunities, acquire new assets and finance such activities on economically acceptable terms, our
future growth will be limited, which could have a significant adverse impact on our results of operations and cash flows and, accordingly, result in reduced
distributions over time.
Failure to complete capital projects as planned adversely affects our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
While we incur financing costs during the planning and construction phases of our projects, a project does not generate expected operating cash flows until
it is at least substantially completed, if at all. Additionally, our forecasted operating results from capital spending projects are based on future market
fundamentals that are not within our control, including changes in general economic conditions, the supply and demand of crude oil and refined products,
availability to our customers of attractively priced alternative solutions for storage, transportation or supplies of crude oil and refined products and overall
customer demand. As a result of these uncertainties, the anticipated benefits associated with our capital projects may not be achieved or could be delayed.
In turn, this could have a negative impact on our results of operations and cash flow and our ability to make cash distributions to our unitholders.
Although we evaluate and monitor each capital spending project and try to anticipate difficulties that may arise, delays or cost increases related to capital
spending programs involving construction of new facilities (or improvements and repairs to our existing facilities) adversely affect our ability to achieve
forecasted operating results. Delays or cost increases arise as a result of many factors that are beyond our control, including:
• adverse economic conditions;
• market-related increases in a project’s debt or equity financing costs;
• severe adverse weather conditions, natural disasters or other events (such as hurricanes, equipment malfunctions, explosions, fires, spills or public
health events) affecting our facilities or employees, or those of vendors and suppliers;
• non-performance or delay by, or disputes with, counterparties, vendors, suppliers, contractors or sub-contractors involved with a project;
• denial or delay in issuing requisite regulatory approvals and/or permits;
• delay or increased costs to obtain right-of-way or other property rights;
• delays or failures by third parties to complete related projects;
• protests and other activist interference with planned or in-process projects;
• unplanned increases in the cost of construction materials or labor;
• disruptions in transportation of modular components and/or construction materials; or
• shortages of sufficiently skilled labor, or labor disagreements resulting in unplanned work stoppages.
Competing midstream service providers, including certain major energy and chemical companies, possess, or have greater financial resources to
acquire, assets better suited to meet customer demand, which could undermine our ability to obtain and retain customers or reduce utilization of our
assets, which could reduce our revenues and cash flows, thereby reducing our ability to make our quarterly distributions to unitholders.
We face competition in all aspects of our business and can give no assurances that we will be able to compete effectively against our competitors. Our
competitors include major energy and chemical companies, some of which have greater financial resources, more pipelines or storage terminals, greater
capacity pipelines or storage terminals and greater access to supply than we do. Certain of our competitors also have advantages in competing for
acquisitions or other new business opportunities because of their financial resources and synergies in operations. As a consequence of increased
competition in the industry or market conditions, some customers are and others may be in the future reluctant to renew or enter into long-term contracts or
contracts that provide for minimum throughput amounts. Our inability to renew or replace a significant portion of our current contracts as they expire, to
enter into contracts for newly acquired, constructed or expanded assets and to respond appropriately to changing market conditions would have a negative
effect on our revenue, cash flows and ability to make quarterly distributions to our unitholders.
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Our operations are subject to operational hazards and interruptions, and we cannot insure against or predict all potential losses and liabilities that
might result therefrom.
Our operations and those of our customers and suppliers are subject to operational hazards and unforeseen interruptions due to natural disasters, adverse
weather conditions (such as hurricanes, tornadoes, storms, floods and earthquakes), accidents, fires, explosions, hazardous materials releases, mechanical
failures, cyberattacks, acts of terrorism and other events beyond our control. These events might result in a loss of life or equipment, injury or extensive
property or environmental damage, as well as an interruption in our operations or those of our customers or suppliers. In the event any of our facilities, or
those of our customers or suppliers, suffer significant damage or are forced to shut down for a significant period of time, it may have a material adverse
effect on our earnings, our other results of operations and our financial condition as a whole. Additionally, our pipelines, terminals and storage assets are
generally long-lived assets, and some have been in service for many years. The age and condition of our assets could result in increased maintenance or
repair expenditures in the future.
As a result of market conditions, losses experienced by us and other companies, premiums and deductibles for our insurance policies have increased and
could continue to increase substantially; therefore, we may not be able to maintain or obtain insurance of the type and amount we desire at reasonable rates.
In addition, certain insurance coverage is subject to broad exclusions, and may become subject to further exclusions, become unavailable altogether or
become available only for reduced amounts of coverage and at higher rates. We are not fully insured against all hazards and risks to our business, and the
insurance we carry requires us to meet deductibles before we collect for losses we sustain. If we incur a significant liability for which we are uninsured or
not fully insured, or if there is a significant delay in payment of a major insurance claim, such a liability could have a material adverse effect on our
financial position.
We are exposed to counterparty credit risk. Nonpayment and nonperformance by our customers, vendors or other counterparties reduces our revenues
and increases our expenses, and any significant level of nonpayment and nonperformance could have a negative impact on our ability to conduct our
business, operating results, cash flows and our ability to service our debt obligations and make distributions to our unitholders.
Weak economic conditions and widespread financial stress has reduced and may continue to reduce the liquidity of our customers, vendors or other
counterparties, making it more difficult for them to meet their obligations to us. We are therefore subject to risks of loss resulting from nonpayment or
nonperformance by our customers to whom we extend credit. Financial problems encountered by our customers limit our ability to collect amounts owed to
us, or to enforce the performance of obligations owed to us under contractual arrangements. In addition, nonperformance by vendors or their
subcontractors, who have committed to provide us with critical products or services, increases our costs and could result in significant disruptions or
interfere with our ability to successfully conduct our business. Although we attempt to mitigate our risk through warehouseman’s liens and other security
protections, we are not always able to enforce such liens and protections due to competing claims from other parties. Any substantial increase in the
nonpayment and nonperformance by our customers, vendors or other counterparties or our inability to enforce our warehouseman’s liens and other security
protections could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and ability to make distributions to our unitholders.
We could be subject to damages or lose customers due to failure to maintain certain quality specifications or other claims related to the operation of our
assets and the services we provide to our customers.
Certain of the products we store and transport are produced to precise customer specifications. If the quality and purity of the products we receive are not
maintained or a product fails to perform in a manner consistent with the quality specifications required by our customers, customers have sought, and could
in the future seek, replacement of the product or damages for costs incurred as a result of the product failing to perform as guaranteed. We also have faced,
and could in the future face, other claims by our customers if our assets do not operate as expected by our customers or our services otherwise do not meet
our customers’ expectations. Successful claims or a series of claims against us result in unforeseen expenditures and could result in the loss of one or more
customers.
Cybersecurity breaches and other disruptions could compromise our information and operations, and expose us to liability, which would cause our
business and reputation to suffer and increase our costs and could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our unitholders.
We rely on our information technology systems and our operational technology systems to process, transmit and store information, such as employee,
customer and vendor data, and to conduct almost all aspects of our business, including safely operating our pipelines and storage facilities, recording and
reporting commercial and financial transactions and receiving and making payments. We also rely on systems hosted by third parties, with respect to which
we have limited visibility and control. The security of these networks and systems is critical to our operations and business strategy.
Despite our security measures, we could suffer a serious cybersecurity incident due to attacks from a variety of external threat actors, internal employee
error or malfeasance, or even cybersecurity incidents suffered by our service providers or other vendors or customers. In addition, in connection with
COVID-19 precautions, a large number of our employees and those of our service providers, vendors and customers have been working, and may continue
to work, from home, where their cybersecurity protections may be less robust and our cybersecurity procedures and safeguards may be less effective.
Moreover,

39

Table of Contents

certain cybersecurity incidents, such as surveillance, may remain undetected for an extended period of time. A significant failure, compromise, breach or
interruption in our systems could result in a disruption of our operations, physical damage to our assets or the environment, physical harm to employees or
others, safety incidents, damage to our reputation, loss of customers or revenues, increased costs for remedial actions and potential litigation or regulatory
fines. If any such failure, interruption or similar event results in the loss or improper disclosure of information maintained in our systems and networks or
those of our vendors, including personnel, customer and vendor information, we could also be subject to liability under relevant contractual obligations and
laws and regulations protecting personal data and privacy. Our financial results could also be adversely affected if our systems are breached or an
employee, vendor or customer causes our systems to fail, either as a result of inadvertent error or deliberate tampering with or manipulation of our systems.
The number of cyberattacks generally, by both state-sponsored and criminal organizations, and the resulting risks associated with such attacks continue to
increase. In addition, evolving laws and regulations governing data privacy and protection pose increasingly complex compliance challenges. Although we
believe that we have robust cybersecurity procedures and other safeguards in place, we cannot guarantee their effectiveness, and a significant failure,
compromise, breach or interruption in our systems or those of our vendors could have a material effect on our operations and those of our customers and
vendors. As threats continue to evolve and cybersecurity and data protection laws and regulations continue to develop, we spend and expect to continue
spending additional resources to continue to enhance our cybersecurity, data protection, business continuity and incident response measures and to
investigate and remediate any vulnerabilities to, or consequences of, cyber incidents.
Climate change and fuels legislation and other regulatory initiatives may decrease demand for the products we store, transport and sell, increase our
operating costs or reduce our ability to expand our facilities.
In response to findings that emissions of certain greenhouse gases such as carbon dioxide and methane present a danger to public health and the
environment, including contributing to warming of the Earth’s atmosphere, various federal, state and local legislative and regulatory proposals have been
introduced to regulate the emission of greenhouse gases. In addition, there have been international efforts seeking legally binding reductions in emissions
of greenhouse gases. To the extent the United States and other political bodies enact additional climate change laws or regulations that increase costs,
reduce demand or otherwise impede our operations, it could, directly or indirectly, have an adverse direct or indirect effect on our business. Specifically,
certain changes have and future changes could restrict our ability to expand our operations and also increase our costs to operate and maintain our existing
facilities by requiring that we measure and report our emissions, install new emission controls on our facilities, acquire allowances to authorize our
emissions, pay taxes related to our emissions or administer and manage an emissions program, among other things.
In addition, certain of our blending operations subject us to potential requirements to purchase renewable fuels credits. Even though we attempt to mitigate
such lost revenues or increased costs through the contracts we sign with our customers, we sometimes are not able to recover those revenues or mitigate the
increased costs, and any such recovery depends on events beyond our control, including the outcome of future rate proceedings before the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC) or other regulators and the provisions of any final legislation or regulations. Reductions in our revenues or increases in
our expenses as a result of climate change legislation or other regulatory initiatives could have adverse effects on our business, financial position, results of
operations and prospects.
Finally, increasing concentrations of greenhouse gases in the Earth’s atmosphere may produce climate changes that have significant physical effects, such
as increased frequency and severity of storms, floods and other climatic events. Such events have had and may in the future have an adverse effect on our
assets and operations, especially those located in coastal regions.
Public sentiment towards climate change, fossil fuels and sustainability could adversely affect our business, operations and ability to attract capital.
Our business plans are based upon the assumption that public sentiment and the regulatory environment will continue to enable the future development,
transportation and use of carbon-based fuels. Negative public perception of the industry in which we operate and the influence of environmental activists
and initiatives aimed at limiting climate change could interfere with our business activities, operations and access to capital. Activists concerned about the
potential effects of climate change have directed their attention towards sources of funding for fossil fuel energy companies, which has resulted in certain
financial institutions, funds and other sources of capital restricting or eliminating their investment in energy-related activities. Such negative sentiment
regarding the fossil fuel industry could influence consumer preference and decrease demand for the products we store and result in increased regulatory
scrutiny, which could then result in additional laws, regulations, guidelines and enforcement interpretations, at the federal, state or local level. These actions
may cause operational delays or restrictions, increased operating costs, additional regulatory burdens and increased risk of litigation.
Members of the investment community are also increasing their focus on sustainability practices, including practices related to greenhouse gas emissions
and climate change, in the energy industry. As a result, we and the energy industry generally face increasing pressure regarding sustainability disclosures
and practices. Additionally, some members of the investment community screen companies such as ours for sustainability performance before investing in
our units.
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Our operations are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations, in the U.S. and in the other countries in which we operate, relating to
environmental, health, safety and security that require us to make substantial expenditures.
Our operations are subject to increasingly stringent international, federal, state and local environmental, health, safety and security laws and regulations.
Transporting, storing and distributing hazardous materials, including petroleum products, entails the risk of releasing these products into the environment,
potentially causing substantial expenditures for a response action, significant government penalties, liability to government agencies including for damages
to natural resources, personal injury or property damages to private parties and significant business interruption. Further, our pipeline facilities are subject
to the pipeline integrity and safety regulations of various federal and state regulatory agencies. In recent years, increased regulatory focus on pipeline
integrity and safety has resulted in various proposed or adopted regulations. The implementation of these regulations has required, and the adoption of
future regulations could require, us to make additional capital expenditures, including to install new or modified safety measures, or to conduct new or
more extensive inspection and maintenance programs.
Legislative action and regulatory initiatives have resulted in, and could in the future result in, changes to operating permits, material changes in operations,
increased capital expenditures and operating costs, increased costs of the goods we transport and/or decreased demand for products we handle. Future
impacts cannot be assessed with certainty at this time. Required expenditures to modify operations or install pollution control equipment or release
prevention and containment systems could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and liquidity if these
expenditures, as with all costs, are not ultimately reflected in the tariffs and other fees we receive for our services.
We own or lease a number of properties that were used to transport, store or distribute products for many years before we acquired them; therefore, such
properties were operated by third parties whose handling, disposal or release of products and wastes was not under our control. Environmental laws and
regulations could impose obligations to conduct assessment or remediation efforts at our facilities, third-party sites where we take wastes for disposal, or
where wastes have migrated. Environmental laws and regulations also impose joint and several liability on us for the conduct of third parties or for actions
that complied with applicable requirements when taken, regardless of negligence or fault. If we were to incur a significant liability pursuant to
environmental, health, safety or security laws or regulations, such a liability could have a material adverse effect on our financial position.
We operate assets outside of the United States, which exposes us to different legal and regulatory requirements and additional risk.
A portion of our revenues are generated from our assets located in Canada and northern Mexico. Our operations in both locations are subject to various
risks unique to each country in which we operate that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
With respect to any particular country, these risks may include political and economic instability, including: civil unrest; labor strikes; war and other armed
conflict; inflation; and currency fluctuations, devaluation and conversion restrictions. Any deterioration of social, political, labor or economic conditions,
including the increasing threat of terrorist organizations and drug cartels, in a country or region in which we do business, or affecting a customer with
whom we do business, as well as difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, may adversely affect our operations or financial results. We are
also exposed to the risk of foreign and domestic governmental actions that may: impose additional costs on us; delay permits or otherwise impede our
operations; limit or disrupt markets for our operations, restrict payments or limit the movement of funds; impose sanctions on or otherwise restrict our
ability to conduct business with certain customers or persons or in certain countries; or result in the deprivation of contract rights. Our operations outside
the United States may also be affected by changes in trade protection laws, policies and measures, and other regulatory requirements affecting trade and
investment, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and foreign laws prohibiting corrupt payments, as well as travel restrictions and import and export
regulations.
We may be unable to obtain or renew permits necessary for our current or proposed operations, which could inhibit our ability to conduct or expand
our business.
Our facilities operate under a number of federal, state and local permits, licenses and approvals with terms and conditions containing a significant number
of prescriptive limits and performance standards in order to operate. These limits and standards require a significant amount of monitoring, recordkeeping
and reporting in order to demonstrate compliance with the underlying permit, license or approval. Noncompliance or incomplete documentation of our
compliance status may result in the imposition of fines, penalties and injunctive relief. In addition, public protest, political activism and responsive
government intervention have recently made it more difficult for some energy companies to acquire the permits required to complete planned infrastructure
projects. A decision by a government agency to deny or delay issuing a new or renewed permit, license or approval, or to revoke or substantially modify an
existing permit, license or approval, could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue or expand our operations and on our financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows and ability to make distributions to our unitholders.
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We could be subject to liabilities from our assets that predate our acquisition of those assets, but that are not covered by indemnification rights we have
against the sellers of the assets.
We have acquired assets and businesses and we are not always indemnified by the seller for liabilities that precede our ownership. In addition, in some
cases, we have indemnified the previous owners and operators of acquired assets or businesses. Some of our assets have been used for many years to
transport and store crude oil and refined products, and past releases could require costly future remediation. If a significant release or event occurred in the
past, the liability for which was not retained by the seller, or for which indemnification by the seller is not available, it could adversely affect our financial
position and results of operations. Conversely, if liabilities arise from assets we have sold, we could incur costs related to those liabilities if the buyer
possesses valid indemnification rights against us with respect to those assets.
Our interstate common carrier pipelines are subject to regulation by the FERC, which could have an adverse impact on our ability to recover the full
cost of operating our pipelines and the revenue we are able to receive from those operations.
The FERC regulates the tariff rates and terms and conditions of service for interstate oil movements on common carrier pipelines. FERC requires that these
rates be just and reasonable and that the pipeline not engage in undue discrimination with respect to any shipper. The FERC or shippers may challenge
required pipeline tariff filings, including rates and terms and conditions of service. Further, other than for rates set under market-based rate authority, if a
new rate is challenged by protest and investigated by the FERC, the FERC may require the pipeline owner to refund amounts collected in excess of the
deemed just and reasonable rate. In addition, shippers may challenge by complaint tariff rates and terms and conditions of service even after they take
effect, and the FERC may order a carrier to change its rates prospectively to a just and reasonable level. A complaining shipper also may obtain reparations
for damages sustained during the two years prior to the date of the complaint.
We are able to use various FERC-authorized rate change methodologies for our interstate pipelines, including indexed rates, cost-of-service rates, marketbased rates and negotiated rates. Typically, we adjust our rates annually in accordance with the FERC indexing methodology, which currently allows a
pipeline to change its rates within prescribed ceiling levels that are tied to an inflation index. For the five-year period beginning July 1, 2016, which will
end on June 30, 2021, the index allows for annual changes in rates equal to the change in the Bureau of Labor’s producer price index for finished goods
plus 1.23%. It is possible that the index may result in negative rate adjustments in some years, or that changes in the index might not be large enough to
fully reflect actual increases in our costs. The FERC’s indexing methodology is subject to review and revision every five years, with the most recent fiveyear review occurring in 2020. On December 17, 2020, the FERC established the index level for the five-year period commencing July 1, 2021 at the
Bureau of Labor’s producer price index for finished goods plus 0.78%. FERC’s order is subject to appellate or other review, which could result in a further
change in the index.
FERC has granted us authority to charge market-based rates on some of our pipelines, which are not subject to cost-of-service or indexing constraints. If we
were to lose market-based rate authority, however, we could be required to establish rates on some other basis, such as cost-of-service, which could reduce
our revenues and cash flows. Additionally, because competition constrains our rates in various markets, we may from time to time be forced to reduce some
of our rates to remain competitive.
We do not own all of the land on which our pipelines and facilities are located, and we are therefore subject to the possibility of increased costs or the
inability to retain necessary land use.
Like other pipeline and storage logistics services providers, certain of our pipelines, storage terminals and other facilities are located on land owned by
third parties and governmental agencies that we have obtained the right to utilize for these purposes through contract (rather than through outright
purchase). Many of our rights-of-way or other property rights are perpetual in duration, but others are for a specific period of time. In addition, some of our
facilities are located on leased premises. A potential loss of property rights through our inability to renew right-of-way contracts or leases or otherwise
retain property rights on acceptable terms or the increased costs to renew such rights could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows available for distribution to our unitholders.
Increases in power prices could adversely affect our operating expenses and our ability to make distributions to our unitholders.
Power costs constitute a significant portion of our operating expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2020, our power costs equaled approximately
$46.5 million, or 11% of our operating expenses for the year. We use mainly electric power at our pipeline pump stations and terminals, and such electric
power is furnished by various utility companies. Requirements for utilities to use less carbon intensive power or to add pollution control devices also could
cause our power costs to increase and our cash flows may be adversely affected, which could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our
unitholders.
We may be adversely affected by changes in the method of determining the London Interbank Offering Rate (LIBOR) or the replacement of LIBOR
with an alternative reference rate.
As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately $0.5 billion of variable-rate indebtedness, which uses LIBOR as a benchmark for establishing the interest
rate. In addition, the distribution rates on our Series A, B and C preferred units convert from fixed rates to floating rates based on LIBOR, beginning in
December 2021, June 2022 and December 2022, respectively. The U.K. Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”) has announced its expectation that the
publication of non-U.S. dollar LIBOR rates
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will cease after publication on December 31, 2021 and the publication of U.S. dollar LIBOR rates for the most common tenors (overnight and one, three,
six and twelve months) will cease after publication on June 30, 2023, instead of on December 31, 2021 as previously expected. The FCA and the LIBOR
Administrator have emphasized that, despite any continued publication of U.S. dollar LIBOR rates through June 30, 2023, no new contracts using U.S.
dollar LIBOR rates should be entered into after December 31, 2021. Accordingly, the transition away from the widespread use of LIBOR to alternative
rates is expected to occur over the next couple of years. Further, there is no assurance that LIBOR, of any particular currency and tenor, will continue to be
published until any particular date. The timing of the transition and the consequences of these developments cannot be entirely predicted but could include
an increase in the cost of our variable-rate indebtedness, our Series A, B and C preferred units and other commercial arrangements tied to LIBOR. In
addition, we have incurred and expect to incur further expenses to renegotiate or clarify the rate provisions in certain of our variable-rate arrangements to
affect the transition away from LIBOR-based rates and implement replacement indices, as necessary, but may not be able to do so on terms favorable to us.
Furthermore, uncertainty regarding the continued use and reliability of LIBOR as a benchmark rate and uncertainty regarding its replacement could disrupt
the financial markets or adversely affect the value of our arrangements tied to LIBOR.
An impairment of goodwill or long-lived assets could reduce our earnings.
As of December 31, 2020, we had $0.8 billion of goodwill and $4.6 billion of long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, net and intangible
assets, net. U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires us to test both goodwill and long-lived assets for impairment when events or
circumstances occur indicating that either goodwill or long-lived assets might be impaired and, in the case of goodwill, at least annually. Charges to impair
our goodwill or our long-lived assets reduce earnings and partners’ capital. Any event that causes a reduction in demand for our services could result in a
reduction of our estimates of future cash flows and growth rates in our business, which could cause us to record an impairment charge to reduce the value
of goodwill. For example, as a result of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, combined with actions by OPEC+, which led to a decline in our unit price
and market capitalization, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $225.0 million associated with our crude oil pipelines in the first quarter of 2020.
Similarly, any event or change in circumstances that causes the carrying value of our long-lived assets to no longer be recoverable may require us to record
an impairment charge to reduce the value of our long-lived assets.
RISKS INHERENT IN AN INVESTMENT IN US
As a master limited partnership, we do not have the same flexibility as corporations and other types of organizations may have to accumulate cash and
prevent illiquidity in the future, which may also limit our growth.
Unlike a corporation, our partnership agreement requires us to make quarterly distributions to our common unitholders of all available cash, after taking
into account reserves for commitments and contingencies, including growth and other capital expenditures and operating costs, debt service requirements
and payments with respect to our preferred units. We are therefore more likely than those organizations to require issuances of additional debt and equity
securities to finance our growth plans, meet unforeseen cash requirements and service our debt and other obligations.
In addition, to the extent we issue additional units in connection with any acquisitions or growth capital expenditures, the payment of distributions on those
additional units may increase the risk that we will be unable to maintain our current per unit distribution level and the value of our common units and other
limited partner interests may decrease in correlation with any reduction in our cash distributions per unit. Accordingly, if we experience a liquidity shortage
in the future, we may not be able to issue more equity to recapitalize.
Unitholders have limited voting rights, and our partnership agreement restricts the voting rights of certain unitholders owning 20% or more of any
class of our units.
Unlike holders of common stock in a corporation, unitholders have only limited voting rights on matters affecting our business and, therefore, limited
ability to influence management’s decisions regarding our business. Unitholders’ voting rights are further restricted by a provision in our partnership
agreement providing that units held by certain persons that own 20% or more of any class of units then outstanding cannot vote on any matter without the
prior approval of our general partner.
We may issue additional equity securities, including equity securities that are senior to our common units, which would dilute our unitholders’ existing
ownership interests.
Our partnership agreement allows us to issue an unlimited number of additional equity securities without the approval of other unitholders as long as the
newly issued equity securities are not senior to, or equally ranked with, our preferred units. With the consent of the holders of a majority of the Series D
Preferred Units, we may issue an unlimited number of units that are senior to our common units and equally ranked with our preferred units. However, in
certain circumstances, we may be required to obtain the approval of the holders of a majority of each class of our preferred units before we could issue
equity securities that are equally ranked with our preferred units.
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Our issuance of additional units or other equity interests of equal or senior rank will have the following effects:
• our unitholders’ proportionate ownership interest in us will decrease;
• the amount of cash available for distribution on each unit may decrease;
• the amount of cash available for redemption of, or payment of the liquidation preference on, each preferred unit may decrease;
• the ratio of taxable income to distributions may increase;
• the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding unit may be diminished; and
• the market price of our common units and preferred units may decline.
Holders of our Series D Preferred Units generally have the same voting rights as holders of our common units and generally vote on an as-converted basis
with the holders of our common units as a single class. Although holders of our other preferred units also have voting rights, such rights are limited to
certain matters and require that such holders vote as a separate class with all other series of our equally ranked securities that may be issued and possess
similar voting rights. As a result, the voting rights of holders of our preferred units may be significantly diluted, and the holders of such future securities of
equal rank may be able to control or significantly influence the outcome of any vote with respect to which the holders of our preferred units are entitled to
vote. Our partnership agreement contains limited protections for the holders of our preferred units (other than Series D Preferred Units) in the event of a
transaction, including a merger, sale, lease or conveyance of all or substantially all of our assets or business, which might adversely affect the holders of our
preferred units.
Future issuances and sales of securities that rank equally with our preferred units, or the perception that such issuances and sales could occur, may cause
prevailing market prices for our preferred units and our common units to decline and may adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital in the
financial markets at times and prices favorable to us. Furthermore, the payment of distributions on any additional units may increase the risk that we will
not be able to make distributions at our prior per unit distribution levels. To the extent new units are senior to our common units, their issuance will
increase the uncertainty of the payment of distributions on our common units.
If we do not pay distributions on our preferred units in any distribution period, we would be unable to declare or pay distributions on our common
units until all unpaid preferred unit distribution obligations have been paid, and our common unitholders are not entitled to receive distributions for
such prior period.
Our preferred units rank senior to our common units with respect to distribution rights and rights upon liquidation. If we do not pay the required
distributions on our preferred units, we will be unable to declare or pay distributions on our common units. Additionally, because distributions to our
preferred unitholders are cumulative, we will have to pay all unpaid accumulated preferred distributions before we can declare or pay any distributions to
our common unitholders. Also, because distributions to our common unitholders are not cumulative, if we do not pay distributions on our common units
with respect to any quarter, our common unitholders will not be entitled to receive distributions covering any prior periods. In addition, if we do not pay the
required distributions on our Series D Preferred Units for three consecutive distribution periods, the holders of our Series D Preferred Units have certain
additional rights until such distributions are paid, including the right to convert the Series D Preferred Units into common units, the right to appoint one
director to our board of directors and the right to approve certain subsequent indebtedness, acquisitions or asset sales. The preferences and privileges of our
preferred units could adversely affect the market price for our common units, or could make it more difficult for us to sell our common units in the future.
If a court were to determine that a unitholder action constituted control of our business, the unitholders may lose their legal protection from liability
and be required to repay distributions wrongfully distributed to them.
Under Delaware law, if a court were to determine that actions of a unitholder constituted participation in the “control” of our business, unitholders would be
held liable for our obligations to the same extent as a general partner. In addition, under Delaware law, the general partner generally has unlimited liability
for the obligations of the partnership, such as its debts and environmental liabilities, except for those contractual obligations of the partnership that are
expressly made without recourse to the general partner.
Furthermore, under Delaware law, we may not make a distribution to our unitholders if the distribution would cause our liabilities to exceed the fair value
of our assets. Liabilities to partners on account of their partnership interests and liabilities that are nonrecourse to the partnership are not counted for
purposes of determining whether a distribution is permitted. Delaware law provides that, for a period of three years from the date of an impermissible
distribution, limited partners who received the distribution and who knew at the time of the distribution that it violated Delaware law will be liable to us for
the repayment of the distribution amount. Likewise, upon the winding up of our partnership, in the event that (a) we do not distribute assets in the following
order: (1) to creditors in satisfaction of our debts; (2) to partners and former partners in satisfaction of liabilities for distributions owed under our
partnership agreement; (3) to partners for the return of their contributions; and finally (4) to the partners in the proportions in which the partners share in
distributions and (b) a limited partner knows at the time that the distribution violated Delaware law, then such limited partner will be liable to repay the
distribution for a period of three years from the impermissible distribution under applicable Delaware law.
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A purchaser of our common or preferred units becomes a limited partner and is liable for the obligations of the transferring limited partner to make
contributions to us that are known to such purchaser of common or preferred units at the time it became a limited partner and, for unknown obligations, if
the liabilities could be determined from our partnership agreement.
The NYSE does not require a publicly traded limited partnership like us to comply with certain of its corporate governance requirements.
We currently list our common units on the NYSE under the symbol “NS” and certain of our preferred units on the NYSE under the symbols “NSprA,”
“NSprB” and “NSprC,” respectively. Although our general partner has maintained a majority of independent directors on its board and all members of its
board’s audit committee, compensation committee and nominating/governance & conflicts committee are independent directors, because we are a publicly
traded limited partnership, the NYSE does not require us to have a majority of independent directors on our general partner’s board of directors or to have a
compensation committee or a nominating committee consisting of independent directors. Additionally, any future issuance of additional common or
preferred units or other securities, including to affiliates, will not be subject to the NYSE’s shareholder approval rules that apply to a corporation.
Accordingly, the NYSE does not mandate the same protections for our unitholders as are required for certain corporations that are subject to all of the
NYSE corporate governance requirements.
TAX RISKS TO OUR UNITHOLDERS
If we were treated as a corporation for federal or state income tax purposes or we were otherwise subject to a material amount of entity-level taxation,
then our cash available for distribution to unitholders would be substantially reduced.
The anticipated after-tax benefit of an investment in our units depends largely on our being treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. Despite
the fact that we are a limited partnership under Delaware law, we will be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes unless we satisfy a
“qualifying income” requirement. Based upon our current operations, we believe we satisfy the qualifying income requirement.
If we were treated as a corporation, we would pay federal income tax at the corporate tax rate and would likely pay state and local income tax at varying
rates. Distributions to unitholders would generally be taxed again as corporate distributions, and no income, gains, losses, deductions or credits would flow
through to unitholders. Because a tax would be imposed upon us as a corporation, our distributable cash flow would be substantially reduced. Additionally,
at the state level, several states are evaluating ways to subject partnerships to entity-level taxation through the imposition of state income, franchise and
other forms of taxation. If we were treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes or otherwise subjected to a material amount of entity-level
taxation, then our cash available for distribution to unitholders would be substantially reduced and there would be a material reduction in the after-tax
return to our unitholders, likely causing a substantial reduction in the value of our units.
The tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships or an investment in our units could be subject to potential legislative, judicial or administrative
changes or differing interpretations, possibly applied on a retroactive basis.
The present U.S. federal income tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships, including us, or an investment in our units may be modified by
administrative, legislative or judicial changes or differing interpretations at any time. From time to time, members of Congress propose and consider such
substantive changes to the existing federal income tax laws that affect publicly traded partnerships, including elimination of partnership tax treatment for
certain publicly traded partnerships.
Any changes to the federal income tax laws and interpretations thereof may be applied retroactively and could make it more difficult or impossible for us to
meet the exception for certain publicly traded partnerships to be treated as partnerships for federal income tax purposes or otherwise adversely affect our
business, financial condition or results of operations. We are unable to predict whether any additional changes or other proposals will ultimately be enacted.
Any such changes could negatively impact the value of an investment in our units.
If the IRS makes audit adjustments to our income tax returns for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, it (and some states) may assess and
collect any taxes, penalties and interest directly from us. If we bear such payment, our cash available for distribution to our unitholders might be
substantially reduced.
For tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, if the IRS makes audit adjustments to our income tax returns, it (and some states) may assess and collect
any taxes, penalties and interest resulting from such audit adjustment directly from us. To the extent possible under applicable rules, our general partner
may pay such amounts directly to the IRS or, if we are eligible, elect to issue a revised Schedule K-1 to each unitholder with respect to an audited and
adjusted return. No assurances can be made that such election will be practical, permissible or effective in all circumstances. As a result, our current
unitholders may bear some or all of the tax liability resulting from such audit adjustment, even if such unitholders did not own common units in us during
the tax year under audit. If, as a result of any such audit adjustment, we make payments of taxes, penalties and interest, our cash available for distribution to
our unitholders could be substantially reduced.
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Unitholders will be required to pay taxes on their share of our taxable income even if they do not receive cash distributions from us.
Unitholders will be required to pay federal income taxes and, in some cases, state and local income taxes on their respective share of our taxable income,
whether or not the unitholders receive cash distributions from us. For example, if we sell assets and use the proceeds to repay existing debt or fund capital
expenditures, unitholders may be allocated taxable income and gain resulting from the sale and our cash available for distribution would not increase.
Similarly, taking advantage of opportunities to reduce our existing debt, such as debt exchanges, debt repurchases, or modifications of our existing debt
could result in “cancellation of indebtedness income” being allocated to our unitholders as taxable income without any increase in our cash available for
distribution. Unitholders may not receive cash distributions from us equal to their respective share of our taxable income or even equal to the actual tax
liability that results from their share of our taxable income.
Tax gain or loss on the disposition of our units could be different than expected.
A unitholder who sells units will recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized and the unitholder’s tax basis in those units.
Prior distributions to the unitholder in excess of the total net taxable income with respect to a unit will reduce the unitholder’s tax basis in that unit. As a
result, the selling unitholder can recognize gain if such unit is sold at a price greater than the unitholder’s tax basis in that unit, even if the price the
unitholder receives is less than the unit’s original cost. A substantial portion of the amount realized, even if there is a net taxable loss realized on the sale,
may be ordinary income to the selling unitholder.
Unitholders may be subject to limitations on their ability to deduct interest expense incurred by us.
Our ability to deduct interest paid or accrued on indebtedness properly allocable to a trade or business, “business interest”, may be limited in certain
circumstances. Should our ability to deduct business interest be limited, the amount of taxable income allocated to our unitholders in the taxable year in
which the limitation is in effect may increase. However, in certain circumstances, a unitholder may be able to utilize a portion of a business interest
deduction subject to this limitation in future taxable years. Prospective unitholders should consult their tax advisors regarding the impact of this business
interest deduction limitation on an investment in our units.
Tax-exempt entities face unique tax issues from owning our units that may result in adverse tax consequences to them.
Investment in our units by tax-exempt entities, such as employee benefit plans and individual retirement accounts (IRAs) raises issues unique to them. For
example, virtually all of our income allocated to organizations that are exempt from U.S. federal income tax, including IRAs and other retirement plans,
will be unrelated business taxable income and will be taxable to them. Further, with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, a taxexempt entity with more than one unrelated trade or business (including by attribution from investment in a partnership such as ours) is required to
compute the unrelated business taxable income of such tax-exempt entity separately with respect to each such trade or business (including for purposes of
determining any net operating loss deduction). As a result, for years beginning after December 31, 2017, it may not be possible for tax-exempt entities to
utilize losses from an investment in us to offset unrelated business taxable income from another unrelated trade or business and vice versa. Tax-exempt
entities should consult a tax advisor before investing in our units.
Non-U.S. unitholders will be subject to U.S. taxes and withholding with respect to their income and gain from owning our units.
Non-U.S. unitholders are subject to U.S. federal income tax on income effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business (effectively connected income).
A unitholder’s share of our income, gain, loss and deduction, and any gain from the sale or disposition of our units will generally be considered to be
effectively connected income and subject to U.S. federal income tax. Additionally, distributions to a non-U.S. unitholder will be subject to withholding at
the highest applicable effective tax rate.
Moreover, upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of a unit by a non-U.S. unitholder, the transferee is generally required to withhold 10% of the
amount realized on such transfer if any portion of the gain on such transfer would be treated as effectively connected income. The withholding requirement
on transfers of publicly traded interests, including our units, is suspended until December 31, 2021. For transfers of units occurring after December 31,
2021, the amount realized on a transfer of units will generally be the amount of gross proceeds paid to the broker effecting the applicable transfer on behalf
of the transferor, and such broker will generally be responsible for the relevant withholding obligations. Non-U.S. unitholders should consult a tax advisor
before investing in our units.
We will treat each purchaser of our common units as having the same tax benefits without regard to the units purchased. The IRS may challenge this
treatment, which could adversely affect the value of our common units.
Because we cannot match transferors and transferees of our common units, we have adopted depreciation and amortization positions that may not conform
with all aspects of existing Treasury regulations. A successful IRS challenge to those positions could adversely affect the amount of tax benefits available
to unitholders. It also could affect the timing of these tax benefits or
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the amount of gain from a unitholder’s sale of common units and could have a negative impact on the value of our common units or result in audit
adjustments to the unitholder’s tax returns.
Unitholders will likely be subject to state and local taxes and return filing requirements as a result of investing in our units.
In addition to federal income taxes, unitholders will likely be subject to other taxes, such as state and local income taxes, unincorporated business taxes and
estate, inheritance or intangible taxes that are imposed by the various jurisdictions in which we do business or own property. Unitholders will likely be
required to file state and local income tax returns and pay state and local income taxes in some or all of these various jurisdictions. Further, unitholders may
be subject to penalties for failure to comply with those requirements. We may own property or conduct business in other states or foreign countries in the
future. It is each unitholder’s responsibility to file all federal, state and local tax returns.
We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our common units each month based upon the
ownership of our common units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a particular common unit is transferred. The IRS
may challenge this treatment, which could change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss and deduction among our common unitholders.
We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our common units each month based upon the ownership
of our common units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a particular common unit is transferred. Treasury regulations allow a
similar monthly simplifying convention, but such regulations do not specifically authorize all aspects of our proration method. If the IRS were to challenge
our proration method, we may be required to change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss and deduction among our common unitholders.
We have adopted certain valuation methodologies in determining a common unitholder’s allocations of income, gain, loss and deduction. The IRS may
challenge these methods or the resulting allocations and such a challenge could adversely affect the value of our common units.
In determining the items of income, gain, loss and deduction allocable to our common unitholders, we must routinely determine the fair market value of our
respective assets. Although we may from time to time consult with professional appraisers regarding valuation matters, we make fair market value
estimates using a methodology based on the market value of our common units as a means to measure the fair market value of our respective assets. The
IRS may challenge these valuation methods and the resulting allocations of income, gain, loss and deduction.
A successful IRS challenge to these methods or allocations could adversely affect the amount, character and timing of taxable income or loss being
allocated to our common unitholders. It also could affect the amount of gain from our unitholders’ sale of common units and could have a negative impact
on the value of the common units or result in audit adjustments to our common unitholders’ tax returns without the benefit of additional deductions.
A unitholder whose units are the subject of a securities loan (e.g., a loan to a “short seller”) may be considered as having disposed of those units. If so,
the unitholder would no longer be treated for tax purposes as a partner with respect to those units during the period of the loan and may recognize gain
or loss from the disposition.
Because there are no specific rules governing the federal income tax consequences of loaning a partnership interest, a unitholder whose units are the subject
of a securities loan may be considered as having disposed of the loaned units. In that case, the unitholder may no longer be treated for tax purposes as a
partner with respect to those units during the period of the loan and the unitholder may recognize gain or loss from such disposition. Moreover, during the
period of the loan, any of our income, gain, loss or deduction with respect to those units may not be reportable by the unitholder and any cash distributions
received by the unitholder as to those units could be fully taxable as ordinary income. Unitholders desiring to assure their status as partners and avoid the
risk of gain recognition from a loan to a short seller are urged to consult a tax advisor to discuss whether it is advisable to modify any applicable brokerage
account agreements to prohibit their brokers from borrowing their units.
Treatment of distributions on our preferred units as guaranteed payments for the use of capital creates a different tax treatment for the holders of
preferred units than the holders of our common units and such distributions are not eligible for the 20% deduction for qualified publicly traded
partnership income.
The tax treatment of distributions on our preferred units is uncertain. We will treat the holders of preferred units as partners for tax purposes and will treat
distributions on the preferred units as guaranteed payments for the use of capital that will generally be taxable to the holders of preferred units as ordinary
income. Although a holder of preferred units could recognize taxable income from the accrual of such a guaranteed payment even in the absence of a
contemporaneous distribution, we anticipate accruing and making the guaranteed payment distributions quarterly. Otherwise, the holders of preferred units
are generally not anticipated to share in our items of income, gain, loss or deduction, nor will we allocate any share of our nonrecourse liabilities to the
holders of preferred units. If the preferred units were treated as indebtedness for tax purposes, rather than as guaranteed payments for the use of capital,
distributions likely would be treated as payments of interest by us to the holders of preferred units.
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The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act allows individuals and other non-corporate owners of interests in a publicly traded partnership to take a deduction equal to 20%
of their allocable share of the partnership’s income that is “qualified publicly traded partnership income.” However, income attributable to a guaranteed
payment for the use of capital is not eligible for the 20% deduction. As a result, income attributable to a guaranteed payment for the use of capital
recognized by holders of preferred units is not eligible for the 20% deduction for qualified publicly traded partnership income. Investment in the preferred
units by tax-exempt investors, such as employee benefit plans and IRAs, and non-U.S. persons raises issues unique to them. The treatment of guaranteed
payments for the use of capital to tax-exempt investors is not certain and the income resulting from such payments may be treated as unrelated business
taxable income for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A non-U.S. holder’s income from guaranteed payments and any gain from the sale or disposition of
our units may be considered to be effectively connected income and subject to U.S. federal income tax. Distributions and any gain from the sale or
disposition of our preferred units to non-U.S. holders of preferred units may be subject to withholding taxes. If the amount of withholding exceeds the
amount of U.S. federal income tax actually due, non-U.S. holders of preferred units may be required to file U.S. federal income tax returns in order to seek
a refund of such excess.
All holders of our preferred units are urged to consult a tax advisor with respect to the consequences of owning and selling our preferred units.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are named as a defendant in litigation and are a party to other claims and legal proceedings relating to our normal business operations, including
regulatory and environmental matters. Due to the inherent uncertainty of litigation, there can be no assurance that the resolution of any particular claim or
proceeding would not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position or liquidity.
We are insured against various business risks to the extent we believe is prudent; however, we cannot assure you that the nature and amount of such
insurance will be adequate, in every case, to protect us against liabilities arising from future legal proceedings from our business activity.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON UNITS, RELATED UNITHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES
Common Unit Distributions
Our common units are listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “NS.” At the close of business on February 8, 2021, we had
390 holders of record of our common units. The following table presents the amount, record date and payment date of the quarterly cash distributions on
our common units with respect to 2020 and 2019:
Cash Distributions
Amount Per
Common Unit

Record Date

Payment Date

Year 2020

4th Quarter
3rd Quarter
2nd Quarter
1st Quarter

$
$
$
$

0.40
0.40
0.40
0.40

February 8, 2021
November 6, 2020
August 7, 2020
May 11, 2020

February 12, 2021
November 13, 2020
August 13, 2020
May 15, 2020

$
$
$
$

0.60
0.60
0.60
0.60

February 10, 2020
November 8, 2019
August 7, 2019
May 8, 2019

February 14, 2020
November 14, 2019
August 13, 2019
May 14, 2019

Year 2019

4th Quarter
3rd Quarter
2nd Quarter
1st Quarter

Our partnership agreement requires that we distribute all “Available Cash” to our common limited partners each quarter. This term is defined in the
partnership agreement generally as cash receipts less cash disbursements, including distributions to our preferred units, and cash reserves established by the
general partner, in its sole discretion. See Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for further
information regarding our distributions.
Preferred Unit Distributions
The following table provides the terms related to distributions for our Series A, B and C Preferred Units:

Units

Fixed Distribution Rate Per
Annum (as a Percentage of
the $25.00 Liquidation
Preference Per Unit)

Fixed Distribution
Rate Per Unit Per
Annum

Fixed Distribution
Per Annum
(Thousands of
Dollars)

Optional Redemption
Date/Date at Which
Distribution Rate Becomes
Floating

Series A Preferred Units

8.50% $

2.125

$

19,252

December 15, 2021

Series B Preferred Units

7.625% $

1.90625

$

29,357

June 15, 2022

Series C Preferred Units

9.00% $

2.25

$

15,525

December 15, 2022

Floating Annual Rate (as a
Percentage of the
$25.00 Liquidation
Preference Per Unit)

Three-month LIBOR plus
6.766%
Three-month LIBOR plus
5.643%
Three-month LIBOR plus
6.88%

The distribution rates on our Series D Preferred Units are as follows: (i) 9.75%, or $57.6 million, per annum ($0.619 per unit per distribution period) for the
first two years (beginning with the September 17, 2018 distribution); (ii) 10.75%, or $63.4 million, per annum ($0.682 per unit per distribution period) for
years three through five; and (iii) the greater of 13.75%, or $81.1 million, per annum ($0.872 per unit per distribution period) or the distribution per
common unit thereafter.
Distributions on the preferred units are payable out of any legally available funds, accrue and are cumulative from the original issuance dates, and are
payable on the 15th day (or the next business day) of each of March, June, September and December of each year to holders of record on the first business
day of each payment month. The preferred units rank equal to each other and senior to all of our other classes of equity securities with respect to
distribution rights and rights upon liquidation. Please see Notes 18 and 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional information on distributions to our preferred unitholders.
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Performance Graph
The following Performance Graph is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference into any of
NuStar Energy’s filings under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, respectively. The stock or unit price
performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock or unit price performance.
The following graph compares the cumulative five-year total return provided to holders of NuStar Energy’s common units relative to the cumulative total
returns of the S&P 500 index and the Alerian MLP index. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our
common units and in each of the indexes on December 31, 2015, and its relative performance is tracked through December 31, 2020.

*$100 invested on 12/31/15 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.
NuStar Energy L.P.
S&P 500 Index
Alerian MLP Index

12/15
100.00
100.00
100.00

12/16
137.63
111.96
118.31

12/17
91.84
136.40
110.59

12/18
71.51
130.42
96.86

12/19
96.56
171.49
103.21

12/20
60.62
203.04
73.60

Sales of Unregistered Securities
During the fourth quarters of 2018, 2019 and 2020 and the first quarter of 2020, NuStar Energy issued an aggregate of 18,234 common units, 14,896
common units, 11,384 common units and 9 common units, respectively, in reliance upon an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) thereof, upon the vesting of outstanding awards under a long-term incentive plan.
During the fourth quarter of 2019, NuStar Energy issued 527,426 common units at a price of $28.44 per unit to William E. Greehey, Chairman of the Board
of Directors of NuStar GP, LLC, in reliance upon an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to
Section 4(a)(2) thereof. We used the proceeds of $15.0 million from the sale of these units for general partnership purposes.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable.
ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We manage our exposure to changing interest rates principally through the use of a combination of fixed-rate debt and variable-rate debt. Borrowings under
our variable-rate debt expose us to increases in interest rates.
On June 3, 2020, NuStar Logistics completed the reoffering and conversion of the GoZone Bonds. The GoZone Bonds were converted from a weekly rate
to a long-term rate. NuStar Logistics did not receive any proceeds from the reoffering and the reoffering did not increase NuStar Logistics’ outstanding
debt. On September 14, 2020, NuStar Logistics issued $600.0 million of 5.75% senior notes due October 1, 2025 and $600.0 million of 6.375% senior
notes due October 1, 2030. Please refer to Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” for additional information about our debt instruments.
The following tables present principal cash flows and related weighted-average interest rates by expected maturity dates for our long-term debt, excluding
finance leases:
December 31, 2020
Expected Maturity Dates
2021

Fixed-rate debt
Weighted-average
rate
Variable-rate debt
Weighted-average
rate

$

$

2022

300,000

$

2023

250,000

2024
2025
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Interest Rates)

$

—

$

—

$

6.8 %
—
$

4.8 %
—
$

—
57,000

$

—
—

$

—

—

2.3 %

600,000

$

5.8 %
—
$

—

Thereafter

1,972,140

$

6.0 %
402,500
$

—

Fair
Value

Total

3,122,140

$

3,396,542

5.9 %
459,500
$

—
402,836

7.0 %

6.4 %

—

December 31, 2019
Expected Maturity Dates
2020

Fixed-rate debt
Weighted-average
rate
Variable-rate debt
Weighted-average
rate

$

$

2021

450,000

$

4.8 %
—
$
—

2022

300,000

$

6.8 %
537,200
$
3.7 %

2023
2024
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Interest Rates)

250,000

$

—

$

—

$

4.8 %
—
$

—
—

$

—
—

$

—

—

—

Thereafter

Fair
Value

Total

1,050,000

$

5.8 %
767,940
$
5.3 %

2,050,000

$

2,123,964

5.6 %
1,305,140
$

—
1,318,037

4.7 %

—

In June 2020, we paid $49.2 million to terminate forward-starting interest rate swaps with an aggregate notional amount of $250.0 million. Prior to the
termination, we utilized forward-starting interest rate swap agreements to lock in the rate on the interest payments related to forecasted debt issuances.
Please refer to Notes 2 and 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for a more
detailed discussion of our interest rate swaps.
Since the operations of our fuels marketing segment expose us to commodity price risk, we also use derivative instruments to attempt to mitigate the effects
of commodity price fluctuations. Derivative financial instruments associated with commodity price risk were not material for any periods presented.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our management assessed the effectiveness of NuStar Energy L.P.’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2020. In its evaluation, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2020, our internal
control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
The effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 has been audited by KPMG LLP, the independent registered public
accounting firm who audited our consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K. KPMG LLP’s attestation on the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting appears on page 55.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors of NuStar GP, LLC
and Unitholders of NuStar Energy L.P.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NuStar Energy L.P. and subsidiaries (the Partnership) as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, the related consolidated statements of (loss) income, comprehensive (loss) income, partners’ equity and mezzanine equity, and cash flows for each of
the years in the three‑year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Partnership as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three‑year period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Partnership’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 25, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on
the effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below,
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
Identification of Triggering Events Related to the Recoverability of Certain Long-Lived Assets or Asset Groups
As discussed in Note 2, the Partnership tests long-lived assets, including property, plant, and equipment, for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances (triggering events) indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Partnership evaluates recoverability
using undiscounted estimated net cash flows generated by the related asset or asset group considering the intended use of the asset. The balance of
property, plant, and equipment, net as of December 31, 2020 was $3,957.5 million, or 68.0% of total assets, of which certain assets or asset groups
were not supported by existing revenue generating contracts or have not historically had consistent revenue generating activities.
We identified the assessment of the identification of triggering events related to the recoverability of certain long-lived assets or asset groups as a
critical audit matter. Challenging auditor judgment was required to assess the identification of triggering events for certain long-lived assets or
asset groups that were not supported by existing revenue generating contracts or have not historically had consistent revenue generating activities.
Specifically, this assessment included the evaluation of subjective qualitative considerations, such as alternative customers and alternative uses for
the asset or asset group, and the Partnership’s intent for the asset or asset group.
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of certain internal controls over the Partnership’s triggering event assessment. This included controls over the identification of longlived asset groups that would be at greater risk for a triggering event and evaluation of the qualitative considerations in assessing the identification
of a triggering event. We examined the Partnership’s analysis of the long-lived assets and asset groups identified to be evaluated for a potential
triggering event and assessed the factors considered in determining the identification of a triggering event. Specifically, we evaluated the
Partnership’s assessment of the factors considered, including alternative customers, alternative uses for the assets or asset group, and the
Partnership’s intent for the assets or asset group by evaluating internal and external documentation. Documentation evaluated included internal
presentations, draft customer contracts, publicly available market data, and communications between the Partnership and potential customers.
Evaluation of the Fair Value of the Crude Oil Pipelines Reporting Unit
As discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the goodwill balance as of December 31, 2020 was $766.4 million. As discussed
in Note 2, the Partnership assesses goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate goodwill
might be impaired. During 2020, the Partnership identified a triggering event, performed an impairment analysis, and recorded a goodwill
impairment charge of $225.0 million associated with the crude oil pipelines reporting unit. The Partnership estimated the fair value of the
reporting unit using a weighted-average of values determined from an income approach and a market approach.
We identified the evaluation of the fair value of the crude oil pipelines reporting unit as a critical audit matter. Due to the degree of estimation
uncertainty, a high level of auditor judgment was required to evaluate certain assumptions used in the Partnership’s estimate of fair value.
Specifically, the discount rate used in the income approach and the guideline public company multiple used in the market approach to estimate the
fair value of the crude oil pipelines reporting unit required subjective and challenging auditor judgment, as changes to those assumptions could
have had a significant effect on the Partnership’s estimate of the fair value of the reporting unit. Additionally, the audit effort to evaluate these
assumptions required specialized skills and knowledge.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of certain internal controls over the Partnership’s goodwill impairment process. This included controls related to the assumptions
used to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit. In addition, we involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who
assisted in:
•

evaluating the discount rate by comparing it to a discount rate range that was independently developed using publicly available data for a
group of comparable entities;

•

assessing the reasonableness of the crude oil pipeline reporting unit’s fair value using the reporting unit’s cash flow forecast and an
independently developed discount rate; and

•

assessing the reasonableness of the multiple utilized in the guideline public company method by reviewing the business activities,
markets served, expected growth, profitability, size, capital structure, geography and other considerations of the comparable entities and
the selected multiple within the guideline public company range.

We have served as the Partnership’s auditor since 2004.
/s/ KPMG LLP
San Antonio, Texas
February 25, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors of NuStar GP, LLC
and Unitholders of NuStar Energy L.P.:
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited NuStar Energy L.P. and subsidiaries (the Partnership) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our
opinion, the Partnership maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Partnership as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of (loss) income, comprehensive (loss) income,
partners’ equity and mezzanine equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes
(collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 25, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated
financial statements.
Basis for Opinion
The Partnership’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP
San Antonio, Texas
February 25, 2021
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Unit Data)
December 31,
2020

2019

153,625 $
133,473
11,059
25,400
323,557
6,164,742
(2,207,230)
3,957,512
630,209
766,416
139,324
5,817,018 $

16,192
152,530
12,393
21,933
203,048
6,187,144
(2,068,165)
4,118,979
681,632
1,005,853
176,480
6,185,992

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, at cost
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other long-term assets, net
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities, Mezzanine Equity and Partners’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Current portion of debt and finance lease obligations
Accrued interest payable
Accrued liabilities
Taxes other than income tax
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred income tax liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

$

71,731
3,839
50,847
77,770
16,998
221,185
3,593,496
13,011
157,825
3,985,517

$

109,834
462,413
37,925
108,610
12,781
731,563
2,934,918
12,427
148,939
3,827,847

Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
Series D preferred limited partners (23,246,650 units outstanding as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019) (Note 18)
Partners’ equity (Note 19):
Preferred limited partners:
Series A (9,060,000 units outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019)
Series B (15,400,000 units outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019)
Series C (6,900,000 units outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019)
Common limited partners (109,468,127 and 108,527,806 common units outstanding
as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total partners’ equity
$

Total liabilities, mezzanine equity and partners’ equity
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

56

599,542

581,935

218,307
371,476
166,518

218,307
371,476
166,518

572,314
(96,656)
1,231,959
5,817,018 $

1,087,805
(67,896)
1,776,210
6,185,992
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF (LOSS) INCOME
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Unit and Per Unit Data)
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2020

Revenues:
Service revenues
Product sales
Total revenues
Costs and expenses:
Costs associated with service revenues:
Operating expenses (excluding depreciation and amortization expense)
Depreciation and amortization expense
Total costs associated with service revenues
Cost associated with product sales
Goodwill impairment loss
General and administrative expenses (excluding depreciation and amortization expense)
Other depreciation and amortization expense
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other (expense) income, net
(Loss) income from continuing operations before income tax expense
Income tax expense
(Loss) income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net (loss) income

$

1,205,494
276,070
1,481,564

$

$

1,148,167
349,854
1,498,021

2018

$

1,045,130
475,132
1,520,262

403,579
276,476
680,055
256,066
225,000
102,716
8,625
1,272,462
209,102
(229,054)
(141,746)
(34,622)
(196,320)
2,663
(198,983)
—
(198,983) $

404,682
264,564
669,246
321,644
—
107,855
8,360
1,107,105
390,916
(183,070)
—
3,742
211,588
4,754
206,834
(312,527)
(105,693) $

378,962
247,288
626,250
449,613
—
100,067
8,604
1,184,534
335,728
(184,398)
—
5,202
156,532
10,157
146,375
59,419
205,794

(3.15) $
—
(3.15) $

0.60 $
(2.90)
(2.30) $

(3.34)
0.57
(2.77)

Basic and diluted net (loss) income per common unit:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

$
$

Total (Note 20)
Basic weighted-average common units outstanding
Diluted weighted-average common units outstanding

109,155,117
109,155,117
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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107,789,030
107,854,699

99,490,495
99,531,172
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
(Thousands of Dollars)
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2020

Net (loss) income
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net (loss) gain on pension and other postretirement benefit adjustments, net of income tax
benefit (expense) of $28, $14 and ($94)
Net (loss) gain on cash flow hedges
Total other comprehensive (loss) income

$

Comprehensive (loss) income

$
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(198,983) $

(105,693) $

1,410

3,527

(4,144)
(26,026)
(28,760)
(227,743) $

(1,314)
(15,231)
(13,018)
(118,711) $

2018

205,794
4,304
2,334
23,411
30,049
235,843
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Thousands of Dollars)
2020

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Amortization of unit-based compensation
Amortization of debt related items
Loss from sale or disposition of assets
Gain from insurance recoveries
Asset and goodwill impairment losses
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Changes in current assets and current liabilities (Note 21)
(Increase) decrease in other long-term assets
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
Change in accounts payable related to capital expenditures
Acquisition
Proceeds from insurance recoveries
Proceeds from sale or disposition of assets
Other, net
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from Term Loan, net of discount and issuance costs
Proceeds from note offerings, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from other long-term debt borrowings
Proceeds from short-term debt borrowings
Term Loan repayment, including debt extinguishment costs
Other long-term debt repayments
Short-term debt repayments
Proceeds from issuance of Series D preferred units
Payment of issuance costs for Series D preferred units
Proceeds from issuance of common units, including contributions from
general partner
Distributions to preferred unitholders
Distributions to common unitholders and general partner
Cash consideration for Merger (Note 5)
(Payments for) proceeds from termination of interest rate swaps
Payment of tax withholding for unit-based compensation
(Decrease) increase in cash book overdrafts
Other, net
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash as of the beginning of the period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash as of the end of the period

$

$

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2019

(198,983) $

(105,693) $

2018

205,794

285,101
11,477
11,463
38,084
—
225,000
141,746
212
11,928
(8,101)
7,920
151
525,998

281,460
14,386
5,209
3,499
—
336,838
—
(476)
(44,765)
22,020
(1,407)
(2,314)
508,757

297,874
12,004
7,388
41,272
(78,756)
—
—
2,043
78,262
(3,029)
(17,832)
(813)
544,207

(198,079)
(10,645)
—
—
110,640
—
(98,084)

(533,568)
(12,731)
—
—
228,152
(1,100)
(319,247)

(457,452)
(7,683)
(37,502)
78,419
270,440
—
(153,778)

463,045
1,182,035
883,748
52,000
(601,316)
(1,813,963)
(57,500)
—
—

—
491,580
659,300
307,500
—
(928,900)
(320,500)
—
—

—
—
1,254,153
618,500
—
(1,746,776)
(635,000)
590,000
(34,203)

—
(124,622)
(196,203)
—
(49,225)
(10,028)
(2,288)
(17,067)
(291,384)
916
137,446
24,980
162,426 $

15,000
(121,693)
(258,354)
—
—
(8,771)
(3,752)
(9,060)
(177,650)
(524)
11,336
13,644
24,980 $

10,204
(90,670)
(300,777)
(67,795)
8,048
(2,083)
2,935
(6,403)
(399,867)
(1,210)
(10,648)
24,292
13,644
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS’ EQUITY AND MEZZANINE EQUITY
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Per Unit Data)
Mezzanine
Equity

Limited Partners

Preferred

Balance as of January 1, 2018
$
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Distributions to partners:
Series A, B and C preferred
Common ($2.895 per unit)
and general partner
Series D preferred
Issuance of common units, including
contribution
from general partner
Issuance of Series D preferred units
Unit-based compensation
Adjustments related to the Merger (refer
to Note 5 for discussion)
Series D Preferred Unit accretion
Other
Balance as of December 31, 2018
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive loss
Distributions to partners:
Series A, B and C preferred
Common ($2.40 per unit)
Series D preferred
Issuance of common units
Unit-based compensation
Series D Preferred Unit accretion
Other
Balance as of December 31, 2019
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive loss
Distributions to partners:
Series A, B and C preferred
Common ($1.80 per unit)
Series D preferred
Unit-based compensation
Series D Preferred Unit accretion
Other
$
Balance as of December 31, 2020

General
Partner

Common

756,603
64,091
—

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

1,770,587
110,788
—

$

37,826
2,466
—

$

(84,927) $
—
30,049

Total Partners’
Equity
(Note 19)

2,480,089
177,345
30,049

Series D
Preferred
Limited Partners
(Note 18)

$

—
28,449
—

Total

$

2,480,089
205,794
30,049

(64,091)

—

—

—

(64,091)

—

(64,091)

—
—

(286,398)
—

(14,379)
—

—
—

(300,777)
—

—
(28,449)

(300,777)
(28,449)

—
—
—

10,000
—
7,925

204
—
—

—
—
—

10,204
—
7,925

—
555,797
—

10,204
555,797
7,925

—
—
(302)
756,301
64,134
—

(41,973)
(8,195)
(6,426)
1,556,308
(227,386)
—

(25,999)
—
(118)
—
—
—

—
—
—
(54,878)
—
(13,018)

(67,972)
(8,195)
(6,846)
2,257,731
(163,252)
(13,018)

—
8,195
—
563,992
57,559
—

(67,972)
—
(6,846)
2,821,723
(105,693)
(13,018)

(64,134)
—
—
—
—
—
—
756,301
64,134
—

—
(258,354)
—
15,000
20,766
(18,085)
(444)
1,087,805
(323,865)
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(67,896)
—
(28,760)

(64,134)
(258,354)
—
15,000
20,766
(18,085)
(444)
1,776,210
(259,731)
(28,760)

—
—
(57,559)
—
—
18,085
(142)
581,935
60,748
—

(64,134)
(258,354)
(57,559)
15,000
20,766
—
(586)
2,358,145
(198,983)
(28,760)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
(96,656) $

(64,134)
(196,203)
—
22,219
(17,626)
(16)
1,231,959 $

—
—
(60,748)
—
17,626
(19)
599,542 $

(64,134)
(196,203)
(60,748)
22,219
—
(35)
1,831,501

(64,134)
—
—
—
—
—
756,301 $

—
(196,203)
—
22,219
(17,626)
(16)
572,314 $

$

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS
Organization
NuStar Energy L.P. (NYSE: NS) is engaged in the transportation of petroleum products and anhydrous ammonia, and the terminalling, storage and
marketing of petroleum products. Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “NuStar Energy,” “NS,” “the Partnership,” “we,” “our” and “us” are used in this
report to refer to NuStar Energy L.P., to one or more of our consolidated subsidiaries or to all of them taken as a whole. Our business is managed under the
direction of the board of directors of NuStar GP, LLC, the general partner of our general partner, Riverwalk Logistics, L.P., both of which are wholly
owned subsidiaries of NuStar GP Holdings, LLC (Holdings), which became a wholly owned subsidiary of ours on July 20, 2018.
Recent Developments
COVID-19 and OPEC+ Actions. The coronavirus, or COVID-19, has had a severe negative impact on global economic activity, as government authorities
instituted stay-home orders, business closures and other measures to reduce the spread of the virus, and people around the world ceased or altered their
usual day-to-day activities. The scale of this decrease in economic activity has significantly reduced demand for petroleum products. In March 2020, the
negative economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and demand deterioration was exacerbated by disputes among the Organization of Petroleum
Exporting Countries and other oil-producing nations (OPEC+) regarding their agreed production rates that contributed to a significant over-supply in crude
oil, resulting in a sharp decline in, and increase in the volatility of, crude oil prices. Beginning with the second quarter of 2020, crude oil prices stabilized
somewhat, and although lower compared to recent years, crude oil prices began to increase in the fourth quarter of 2020.
In March 2020, the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, combined with actions by OPEC+, also drove significant declines in stock prices and
market capitalization of companies across the energy industry, including NuStar’s. As a result, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $225.0 million
associated with our crude oil pipelines in the first quarter of 2020. Please refer to Note 11 for additional information.
Although the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and actions by OPEC+ have depressed global economic activity, which has had a negative
impact on our results of operations, particularly during the second quarter of 2020, we began to see some initial signs of recovery and rebound in June,
which improved our results of operations for the remainder of 2020. Ongoing uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, including its duration and
lingering impacts to the economy, as well as uncertainty surrounding future production decisions by OPEC+, continue to cause volatility and could have a
significant impact on management’s estimates and assumptions in 2021 and beyond.
Sale of Texas City Terminals. On December 7, 2020, we sold the equity interests in our wholly owned subsidiaries that owned two terminals in Texas City,
Texas for $106.0 million, subject to adjustment. We recorded a non-cash loss of $34.7 million and utilized the sales proceeds to improve our debt metrics.
Please refer to Note 4 for further discussion.
Senior Notes. On September 14, 2020, NuStar Logistics issued $600.0 million of 5.75% senior notes due October 1, 2025 and $600.0 million of 6.375%
senior notes due October 1, 2030. We received proceeds of $1,182.0 million, net of issuance costs of $18.0 million, which we used to repay outstanding
borrowings under the Term Loan, as defined below, as well as outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit agreement. On September 1, 2020, we
repaid our $450.0 million of 4.80% senior notes at maturity with borrowings under our revolving credit agreement. Please refer to Note 13 for further
discussion.
Term Loan Credit Agreement. On April 19, 2020, NuStar Energy and NuStar Logistics entered into an unsecured term loan credit agreement with certain
lenders and Oaktree Fund Administration, LLC, as administrative agent for the lenders (the Term Loan). The Term Loan provided for an aggregate
commitment of up to $750.0 million pursuant to a three-year unsecured term loan credit facility. On April 21, 2020 we drew $500.0 million, which we
repaid on September 16, 2020. The repayment required certain contractual premiums, and we recognized a loss of $137.9 million in the third quarter of
2020. On February 16, 2021, we terminated the Term Loan. Please refer to Note 13 for further discussion about the Term Loan.
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NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
Other Events
Selby Terminal Fire. On October 15, 2019, our terminal facility in Selby, California experienced a fire that destroyed two storage tanks and temporarily
shut down the terminal. The property damage was isolated, and in the fourth quarter of 2019, we incurred losses of $5.4 million, which represent the
aggregate amount of our deductibles under various insurance policies. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we received insurance proceeds of
$35.0 million, of which $6.7 million was for business interruption and is included in “Operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of loss. Insurance
proceeds relate to cleanup costs and business interruption and are therefore included in “Cash flows from operating activities” in the consolidated statement
of cash flows. In addition, we received $20.5 million of insurance proceeds in January and February of 2021. We believe we have adequate insurance to
offset additional costs.
Sale of St. Eustatius and European Operations. On July 29, 2019, we sold our St. Eustatius terminal and bunkering operations (the St. Eustatius
Operations) for net proceeds of approximately $230.0 million (the St. Eustatius Disposition). In 2019, we recorded long-lived asset and goodwill
impairment charges totaling $336.8 million related to the St. Eustatius Operations in “(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax” on our
consolidated statement of loss. In the second quarter of 2019, we determined the St. Eustatius Operations and the European operations, as discussed below,
met the requirements to be reported as discontinued operations, and as a result, we reclassified certain balances to assets and liabilities held for sale and
certain revenues and expenses to discontinued operations for all applicable periods presented.
On November 30, 2018, we sold our European operations for approximately $270.0 million (the European Disposition). The operations sold included six
liquids storage terminals in the United Kingdom and one facility in Amsterdam with total storage capacity of approximately 9.5 million barrels (the
European Operations). We recognized a non-cash loss of $43.4 million related to the sale in “(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax” on
our consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2018. Please refer to Note 4 for further discussion.
Merger. On July 20, 2018, we completed the merger of Holdings with a subsidiary of NS. Under the terms of the merger agreement, Holdings unitholders
received 0.55 of a common unit representing a limited partner interest in NS in exchange for each Holdings unit owned at the effective time of the merger.
Please refer to Note 5 for further discussion of the merger.
Hurricane Activity. In the third quarter of 2017, several of our facilities were affected by the hurricanes in the Caribbean and Gulf of Mexico, including the
St. Eustatius terminal, which experienced the most damage and was temporarily shut down. In 2018, we received the remaining insurance proceeds of
$87.5 million in settlement of our property damage claim for the St. Eustatius terminal, of which $9.1 million related to business interruption. Proceeds
from business interruption insurance are included in “Cash flows from operating activities” in the consolidated statements of cash flows. We recorded a
$78.8 million gain in the consolidated statement of income in 2018 for the amount by which the insurance proceeds exceeded our expenses incurred during
the period. The insurance proceeds related to business interruption and the gain are included in “(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax” in
the consolidated statements of (loss) income.
Operations
We conduct our operations through our subsidiaries, primarily NuStar Logistics, L.P. (NuStar Logistics) and NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.
(NuPOP). We have three business segments: pipeline, storage and fuels marketing.
Pipeline. We own 3,205 miles of refined product pipelines and 2,205 miles of crude oil pipelines, as well as 5.6 million barrels of crude oil storage
capacity, which comprise our Central West System. In addition, we own 2,500 miles of refined product pipelines, consisting of the East and North
Pipelines, and a 2,000-mile ammonia pipeline, which comprise our Central East System. The East and North Pipelines have storage capacity of 7.4 million
barrels. We charge tariffs on a per barrel basis for transporting refined products, crude oil and other feedstocks in our refined product and crude oil
pipelines and on a per ton basis for transporting anhydrous ammonia in the Ammonia Pipeline.
Storage. We own terminal and storage facilities in the United States, Canada and Mexico, with 59.0 million barrels of storage capacity. Our terminal and
storage facilities provide storage, handling and other services on a fee basis for petroleum products, crude oil, specialty chemicals and other liquids.
Fuels Marketing. The fuels marketing segment includes our bunkering operations in the Gulf Coast, as well as certain of our blending operations associated
with our Central East System.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements represent the consolidated operations of the Partnership and our subsidiaries. Inter-partnership
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The operations of certain pipelines and terminals in which we own an undivided interest
are proportionately consolidated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. On an ongoing basis, management reviews its estimates based on currently available information. Management may revise
estimates due to changes in facts and circumstances.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when acquired.
Accounts Receivable
On January 1, 2020, we adopted new guidance from the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) on credit losses, as discussed in Note 3. Trade
receivables are carried at amortized cost, net of a valuation allowance for current expected credit losses. We extend credit to certain customers after review
of various credit indicators, including the customer’s credit rating, and obtain letters of credit, guarantees or collateral as deemed necessary. We monitor our
ongoing credit exposure through active review of customer balances against contract terms and due dates and pool customer receivables based upon days
outstanding, which is our primary credit risk indicator. Our review activities include timely account reconciliations, dispute resolution and payment
confirmations. Prior to adoption of the new guidance, outstanding customer receivable balances were regularly reviewed for possible non-payment
indicators and allowances for doubtful accounts were recorded based upon management’s estimate of collectability at the time of its review.
Inventories
Inventories consist of petroleum products, materials and supplies. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined
using the weighted-average cost method. Our inventory, other than materials and supplies, consists of one end-product category, petroleum products, which
we include in the fuels marketing segment. Accordingly, we determine lower of cost or net realizable value adjustments on an aggregate basis. Materials
and supplies are valued at the lower of average cost or net realizable value.
Restricted Cash
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we have restricted cash representing legally restricted funds that are unavailable for general use totaling $8.8 million,
which is included in “Other long-term assets, net” on the consolidated balance sheet.
Property, Plant and Equipment
We record additions to property, plant and equipment, including reliability and strategic capital expenditures, at cost. Repair and maintenance costs
associated with existing assets that are minor in nature and do not extend the useful life of existing assets are charged to operating expenses as incurred.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. When property or
equipment is retired, sold or otherwise disposed of, the difference between the carrying value and the net proceeds is recognized in “Other (expense)
income, net” or “(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax” in the consolidated statements of (loss) income in the year of disposition. We
capitalize overhead costs and interest costs incurred on funds used to construct property, plant and equipment while the asset is under construction. The
overhead costs and capitalized interest are recorded as part of the asset to which they relate and are amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life as a
component of depreciation expense.
Goodwill
We assess goodwill for impairment annually on October 1, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate it might be impaired. We have
the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. We elected to bypass
the qualitative assessment for all reporting units as of October 1, 2020 and performed a quantitative assessment. We performed a qualitative assessment as
of October 1, 2019 and determined that goodwill was not impaired.
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We adopted amended accounting guidance in the first quarter of 2019 to measure goodwill impairment as the excess of each reporting unit’s carrying value
over its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill for that reporting unit. The carrying value of each reporting unit equals the total identified
assets (including goodwill) less the sum of each reporting unit’s identified liabilities. We used reasonable and supportable methods to assign the assets and
liabilities to the appropriate reporting units in a consistent manner.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, our reporting units to which goodwill has been allocated consisted of the following:
•

crude oil pipelines;

•

refined product pipelines; and

•

terminals, excluding our Point Tupper facility and our refinery crude storage tanks.

As discussed in Note 11, in the first quarter of 2020, we recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $225.0 million associated with the crude oil pipelines
reporting unit. In the first quarter of 2019, we recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $31.1 million for the goodwill associated with the Statia
Bunkering reporting unit, which consisted of our bunkering operations at the St. Eustatius terminal facility.
We recognize an impairment of goodwill if the carrying value of a reporting unit that contains goodwill exceeds its estimated fair value. In order to estimate
the fair value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, management must make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the total fair value of the
reporting unit including, among other things, an assessment of market conditions, projected cash flows, discount rates and growth rates. Management’s
estimates of projected cash flows related to the reporting unit include, but are not limited to, future earnings of the reporting unit, assumptions about the use
or disposition of the asset, estimated remaining life of the asset, and future expenditures necessary to maintain the asset’s existing service potential. We
calculate the estimated fair value of each of our reporting units using a weighted-average of values calculated using an income approach and a market
approach. The income approach involves estimating the fair value of each reporting unit by discounting its estimated future cash flows using a discount rate
that would be consistent with a market participant’s assumption. The market approach bases the fair value measurement on information obtained from
observed stock prices of public companies and recent merger and acquisition transaction data of comparable entities.
Although we determined that no impairment charges resulted from our October 1, 2020 impairment assessment, the fair value of the crude oil pipelines
reporting unit, which is included in the pipeline reporting segment, exceeded its carrying value by approximately 4%. The goodwill associated with the
crude oil pipelines reporting unit totaled $308.6 million as of December 31, 2020. Our estimate of the fair value of the crude oil pipelines reporting unit is
sensitive to typical valuation assumptions, particularly our estimates for the weighted-average cost of capital (WACC) used for the income approach and
the guideline public company (GPC) multiple used for the market approach. Considering that the carrying value of the reporting unit was written down to
its fair value with the first quarter of 2020 impairment charge, as further discussed in Note 11, changes to the WACC or GPC multiple used in our estimate
could cause the fair value to be less than the carrying value of the crude oil pipelines reporting unit, resulting in an impairment. The fair values of the
refined product pipelines and terminals reporting units substantially exceed their carrying values.
Management’s estimates are based on numerous assumptions about future operations and market conditions, which we believe to be reasonable but are
inherently uncertain. The uncertainties underlying our assumptions and estimates could differ significantly from actual results, including with respect to the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic, the extent of travel restrictions, business closures and other efforts to control the spread of COVID-19
and the impact of actions by OPEC+, which could lead to a different determination of the fair value of our assets. We will continue to monitor the business
and consider additional interim analysis of goodwill as appropriate.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We review long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. We evaluate recoverability using undiscounted estimated net cash flows generated by the related asset or asset
group. If the results of that evaluation indicate that the undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset (i.e., the asset is not
recoverable) we perform an impairment analysis. If our intent is to hold the asset for continued use, we determine the amount of impairment as the amount
by which the net carrying value exceeds its fair value. If our intent is to sell the asset, and the criteria required to classify an asset as held for sale are met,
we determine the amount of impairment as the amount by which the net carrying amount exceeds its fair value less costs to sell. As discussed in Note 4, we
recognized long-lived asset impairment charges of $305.7 million in 2019 related to the St. Eustatius terminal facility. We believe that the carrying amounts
of our long-lived assets as of December 31, 2020 are recoverable.
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Income Taxes
We are a limited partnership and generally are not subject to federal or state income taxes. Accordingly, our taxable income or loss, which may vary
substantially from income or loss reported for financial reporting purposes, is generally included in the federal and state income tax returns of our partners.
For transfers of publicly held common units subsequent to our initial public offering, we have made an election permitted by Section 754 of the Internal
Revenue Code (the Code) to adjust the common unit purchaser’s tax basis in our underlying assets to reflect the purchase price of the units. This results in
an allocation of taxable income and expenses to the purchaser of the common units, including depreciation deductions and gains and losses on sales of
assets, based upon the new unitholder’s purchase price for the common units.
We conduct certain of our operations through taxable wholly owned corporate subsidiaries. We account for income taxes related to our taxable subsidiaries
using the asset and liability method. Under this method, we recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. We measure deferred taxes
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the year those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
We recognize a tax position if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained, based on the technical merits of the position, upon
examination. We record uncertain tax positions in the financial statements at the largest amount of benefit that is more likely than not to be realized. We had
no unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
NuStar Energy and certain of its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. For U.S.
federal and state purposes, as well as for our major non-U.S. jurisdictions, tax years subject to examination are 2016 through 2019, according to standard
statute of limitations.
Asset Retirement Obligations
We record a liability for asset retirement obligations at the fair value of the estimated costs to retire a tangible long-lived asset at the time we incur that
liability, which is generally when the asset is purchased, constructed or leased, when we have a legal obligation to incur costs to retire the asset and when a
reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be made. If a reasonable estimate cannot be made at the time the liability is incurred, we record
the liability when sufficient information is available to estimate the fair value.
We have asset retirement obligations with respect to certain of our assets due to various legal obligations to clean and/or dispose of those assets at the time
they are retired. However, these assets can be used for an extended and indeterminate period of time as long as they are properly maintained and/or
upgraded. It is our practice and current intent to maintain our assets and continue making improvements to those assets based on technological advances.
As a result, we believe that our assets have indeterminate lives for purposes of estimating asset retirement obligations because dates or ranges of dates upon
which we would retire these assets cannot reasonably be estimated at this time. When a date or range of dates can reasonably be estimated for the
retirement of any asset, we estimate the costs of performing the retirement activities and record a liability for the fair value of these costs.
We also have legal obligations in the form of leases and right-of-way agreements, which require us to remove certain of our assets upon termination of the
agreement. However, these lease or right-of-way agreements generally contain automatic renewal provisions that extend our rights indefinitely or we have
other legal means available to extend our rights. Liabilities for conditional asset retirement obligations related to the retirement of terminal assets with lease
and right-of-way agreements were not material as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Environmental Remediation Costs
Environmental remediation costs are expensed and an associated accrual established when site restoration and environmental remediation and cleanup
obligations are either known or considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. These environmental obligations are based on estimates of probable
undiscounted future costs using currently available technology and applying current regulations, as well as our own internal environmental policies. The
environmental liabilities have not been reduced by possible recoveries from third parties. Environmental costs include initial site surveys, costs for
remediation and restoration and ongoing monitoring costs, as well as fines, damages and other costs, when applicable and estimable. Adjustments to initial
estimates are recorded, from time to time, to reflect changing circumstances and estimates based upon additional information developed in subsequent
periods.
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Revenue Recognition
Revenue-Generating Activities. Revenues for the pipeline segment are derived from interstate and intrastate pipeline transportation of refined products,
crude oil and anhydrous ammonia and the applicable pipeline tariff.
Revenues for the storage segment include fees for tank storage agreements, whereby a customer agrees to pay for a certain amount of storage in a tank over
a period of time (storage terminal revenues), and throughput agreements, whereby a customer pays a fee per barrel for volumes moving through our
terminals (throughput terminal revenues). Our terminals also provide blending, additive injections, handling and filtering services for which we charge
additional fees, and certain of our facilities charge fees to provide marine services such as pilotage, tug assistance, line handling, launch service, emergency
response services and other ship services (all of which are considered optional services).
Revenues for the fuels marketing segment are derived from the sale of petroleum products.
Within our pipeline and storage segments, we provide services on uninterruptible and interruptible bases. Uninterruptible services within our pipeline
segment typically result from contracts that contain take-or-pay minimum volume commitments (MVCs) from the customer. Contracts with MVCs obligate
the customer to pay for that minimum amount. If a customer fails to meet its MVC for the applicable service period, the customer is obligated to pay a
deficiency fee based upon the shortfall between the actual volumes transported or stored and the MVC for that service period (deficiency payments). In
exchange, those contracts with MVCs obligate us to stand ready to transport volumes up to the customer’s MVC.
Within our storage segment, uninterruptible services arise from contracts containing a fixed monthly fee for the portion of storage capacity reserved by the
customer. These contracts require that the customer pay the fixed monthly fee, regardless of whether or not it uses our storage facility (i.e., take-or-pay
obligation), and that we stand ready to store that volume. Interruptible services within our pipeline and storage segments are generally provided when and
to the extent we determine the requested capacity is available. The customer typically pays a per-unit rate for the actual quantities of services it receives.
For the majority of our contracts, we recognize revenue in the amount to which we have a right to invoice. Generally, payment terms do not exceed 30
days.
Performance Obligations. The majority of our contracts contain a single performance obligation. For our pipeline segment, the single performance
obligation encompasses multiple activities necessary to deliver our customers’ products to their destinations. Typically, we satisfy this performance
obligation over time as the product volume is delivered in or out of the pipelines. Certain of our pipeline segment customer contracts include an incentive
pricing structure, which provides a discounted rate for the remainder of the contract once the customer exceeds a cumulative volume. The ability to receive
discounted future services represents a material right to the customer, which results in a second performance obligation in those contracts.
The performance obligation for our storage segment consists of multiple activities necessary to receive, store and deliver our customers’ products. We
typically satisfy this performance obligation over time as the product volume is delivered in or out of the tanks (for throughput terminal revenues) or with
the passage of time (for storage terminal revenues).
Product sales contracts associated with our fuels marketing segment generally include a single performance obligation to deliver specified volumes of a
commodity, which we satisfy at a point in time, when the product is delivered and the customer obtains control of the commodity.
Optional services described in our contracts do not provide a material right to the customer, and are not considered a separate performance obligation in the
contract. If and when a customer elects an optional service, and the terms of the contract are otherwise met, those services become part of the existing
performance obligation.
Transaction Price. For uninterruptible services, we determine the transaction price at contract inception based on the guaranteed minimum amount of
revenue over the term of the contract. For interruptible services and optional services, we determine the transaction price based on our right to invoice the
customer for the value of services provided to the customer for the applicable period.
In certain instances, our customers reimburse us for capital projects, in arrangements referred to as contributions in aid of construction, or CIAC. Typically,
in these instances, we receive upfront payments for future services, which are included in the transaction price of the underlying service contract.
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We collect taxes on certain revenue transactions to be remitted to governmental authorities, which may include sales, use, value-added and some excise
taxes. These taxes are not included in the transaction price and are, therefore, excluded from revenues.
Allocation of Transaction Price. We allocate the transaction price to the single performance obligation that exists in the vast majority of our contracts with
customers. For the few contracts that have a second performance obligation, such as those that include an incentive pricing structure, we calculate an
average rate based on the estimated total volumes to be delivered over the term of the contract and the resulting estimated total revenue to be billed using
the applicable rates in the contract. We allocate the transaction price to the two performance obligations by applying the average rate to product volumes as
they are delivered to the customer over the term of the contract. Determining the timing and amount of volumes subject to these incentive pricing contracts
requires judgment that can impact the amount of revenue allocated to the two separate performance obligations. We base our estimates on our analysis of
expected future production information available from our customers or other sources, which we update at least quarterly.
Some of our MVC contracts include provisions that allow the customer to apply deficiency payments to future service periods (the carryforward period). In
those instances, we have not satisfied our performance obligation as we still have the obligation to perform those services, subject to contractual and/or
capacity constraints, at the customer’s request. At least quarterly, we assess the customer’s ability to utilize any deficiency payments during the
carryforward period. If we receive a deficiency payment from a customer that we expect the customer to utilize during the carryforward period, we defer
that amount as a contract liability. We will consider the performance obligation satisfied and allocate any deferred deficiency payments to our performance
obligation when the customer utilizes the deficiency payment, the carryforward period ends or we determine the customer cannot or will not utilize the
deficiency payment (i.e. breakage). If our contract does not allow the customer to apply deficiency payments to future service periods, we allocate the
deficiency payment to the already satisfied portion of the performance obligation.
Income Allocation
Our partnership agreement contains provisions for the allocation of net income to the unitholders and, prior to the merger with our general partner, to the
general partner. Our net income for each quarterly reporting period is first allocated to the preferred limited partner unitholders in an amount equal to the
earned distributions for the respective reporting period and, prior to the merger, then to the general partner in an amount equal to the general partner’s
incentive distribution calculated based upon the declared distribution for the respective reporting period. We allocate the remaining net income or loss
among the common unitholders. Prior to the merger, we allocated the remaining net income or loss among the common unitholders (98%) and general
partner (2%). See Note 5 for further discussion of the merger.
Basic and Diluted Net (Loss) Income Per Common Unit
Basic and diluted net (loss) income per common unit are determined pursuant to the two-class method. Under this method, all earnings are allocated to our
limited partners and participating securities based on their respective rights to receive distributions earned during the period. Participating securities include
restricted units awarded under our long-term incentive plans and, prior to the merger with our general partner, included our general partner’s interest.
We compute basic net (loss) income per common unit by dividing net (loss) income attributable to our common limited partners by the weighted-average
number of common units outstanding during the period. We compute diluted net (loss) income per common unit by dividing net (loss) income attributable
to our common limited partners by the sum of (i) the weighted-average number of common units outstanding during the period and (ii) the effect of dilutive
potential common units outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common units include contingently issuable performance units awarded and the
Series D Preferred Units. See Note 23 for additional information on our performance units, Note 18 for additional information on our Series D Preferred
Units and Note 20 for the calculation of basic and diluted net (loss) income per common unit.
Derivative Financial Instruments
When we apply hedge accounting, we formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items. This process includes
identification of the hedging instrument and the hedged transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the hedging instrument’s effectiveness will
be assessed. To qualify for hedge accounting, at inception of the hedge we assess whether the derivative instruments that are used in our hedging
transactions are expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows. Throughout the designated hedge period and at least quarterly, we
assess whether the derivative instruments are highly effective and continue to qualify for hedge accounting.

67

Table of Contents

NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

We enter into the forward-starting swaps in order to hedge the risk of changes in the interest payments attributable to changes in the benchmark interest rate
during the period from the effective date of the swap to the issuance of the forecasted debt. For forward-starting interest rate swaps designated and
qualifying as cash flow hedges, we recognize the fair value of each interest rate swap in the consolidated balance sheets. We record changes in the fair
value of the hedge as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI), to the extent those cash flow hedges remain highly
effective. If at any point a cash flow hedge ceases to qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of the hedge are recognized in “Interest
expense, net” from that date forward. The amount accumulated in AOCI is amortized into “Interest expense, net” as the forecasted interest payments occur
or if the interest payments are probable not to occur.
We classify cash flows associated with our derivative instruments as operating cash flows in the consolidated statements of cash flows, except for receipts
or payments associated with terminated forward-starting interest rate swap agreements, which are included in cash flows from financing activities. See
Note 17 for additional information regarding our derivative financial instruments.
Unit-based Compensation
Unit-based compensation for our long-term incentive plans is recorded in our consolidated balance sheets based on the fair value of the awards granted and
recognized as compensation expense primarily on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Forfeitures of our unit-based compensation awards
are recognized as an adjustment to compensation expense when they occur. Unit-based compensation expense is included in “General and administrative
expenses” on our consolidated statements of (loss) income. Most of our currently outstanding awards are classified as equity awards as we intend to settle
these awards through the issuance of our common units. See Note 23 for additional information regarding our unit-based compensation.
Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currencies of our foreign subsidiaries are the local currencies of the countries in which the subsidiaries are located. The assets and liabilities
of our foreign subsidiaries with local functional currencies are translated to U.S. dollars at period-end exchange rates, and income and expense items are
translated to U.S. dollars at weighted-average exchange rates in effect during the period. These translation adjustments are included in “Accumulated other
comprehensive loss” in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheets. Gains and losses on foreign currency transactions are included in “Other
(expense) income, net” or “(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax” in the consolidated statements of (loss) income.
Reclassifications
We have reclassified certain previously reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and notes to conform to current-period presentation.
3. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Selected Financial Data, and Supplementary Financial Information
In November 2020, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) issued final rules to modernize, simplify, and enhance certain financial disclosure
requirements in Regulation S-K. Among other changes, the amended guidance eliminates the requirements to present five-year selected financial data and
the two-year quarterly financial data table in the Annual Report on Form 10-K. The rule changes became effective on February 10, 2021, and we are
required to apply the amended rules in our filings for the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2021. Early application by amended Regulation S-K item is
permitted any time after the effective date. We elected to apply provisions related to selected financial data and quarterly financial information in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 and expect to apply the remaining provisions in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2021.
Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity
In August 2020, the FASB issued guidance intended to simplify the accounting for convertible instruments by eliminating certain accounting models for
convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock. In addition, the guidance amends the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity’s
own equity, the disclosure requirements for convertible instruments, and certain earnings-per-unit guidance. The guidance is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2021, and early adoption is permitted for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020. Amendments may be applied
using either a modified retrospective approach or a fully retrospective approach. We plan to adopt the amended guidance on January 1, 2022 and are
currently assessing the impact of this amended guidance on our financial position, results of operations and disclosures. We plan to provide additional
information about the expected impact at a future date.
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Reference Rate Reform
In March 2020, the FASB issued guidance intended to provide relief to companies impacted by reference rate reform. The amended guidance provides
optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain
criteria are met. Our variable-rate debt instruments use LIBOR as a benchmark for establishing the interest rate. In addition, the distribution rates on our
Series A, B and C preferred units convert from fixed rates to floating rates based on LIBOR, beginning in December 2021, June 2022 and December 2022,
respectively. The U.K. Financial Conduct Authority has announced its expectation that the publication of U.S. dollar LIBOR rates for the most common
tenors will cease after publication on June 30, 2023, instead of on December 31, 2021 as previously expected. The FASB’s guidance is effective as of
March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. We adopted the guidance on the effective date on a prospective basis. The guidance did not have an impact on
our financial position, results of operations or disclosures at transition, but we will continue to evaluate its impact on contracts and hedging relationships
modified on or before December 31, 2022.
Financial Disclosures about Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities
In March 2020, the SEC issued final rules regarding presentation of financial information for issuer and guarantor entities. The final rules reduce the
number of periods for which issuer and guarantor financial information is required and allow presentation of summarized financial information in lieu of
separate financial statements, either in Management’s Discussion and Analysis or in the Notes to the Financial Statements in the periodic reports on Form
10-K and Form 10-Q. The guidance is effective for fiscal periods ending after January 4, 2021, with early adoption permitted. We elected to early adopt the
guidance and began presenting financial information related to our issuer and guarantor entities in accordance with the final rules in the “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” section of Items 1., 2. and 7. “Business, Properties and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” of this report. The adoption resulted in a reduction of our guarantor financial statement disclosures but did not impact our financial condition
or results of operations.
Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes
In December 2019, the FASB issued amended guidance that simplifies the accounting for income taxes, including enacted changes in tax laws in interim
periods. The guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. These provisions
should be applied retrospectively, prospectively, or on a modified retrospective basis depending on the area affected by the amended guidance. We adopted
the amended guidance on January 1, 2021, and the guidance did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or disclosures.
Cloud Computing Arrangements
In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance addressing a customer’s accounting for implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement (CCA)
that is considered a service contract. The new guidance specifies that an entity would apply the capitalization criteria for implementation costs related to
internal-use software to determine which implementation costs related to a CCA that is a service contract should be capitalized and which should be
expensed. The amendments also require that capitalized implementation costs be classified in the same balance sheet line item as prepayments related to
the CCA and, generally, amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the CCA. Amortization of capitalized implementation costs should be presented
in the same income statement line item as CCA service fees, and cash flows for capitalized implementation costs should be presented consistently with
those related to the CCA service. The guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption
permitted. Prospective adoption for eligible costs incurred on or after the date of adoption or retrospective adoption is permitted. We adopted the guidance
on January 1, 2020 on a prospective basis, and the guidance did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or disclosures.
Disclosures for Defined Benefit Plans
In August 2018, the FASB issued amended guidance that makes minor changes to the disclosure requirements for employers that sponsor defined benefit
pension and/or other postretirement benefit plans. The guidance is effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2020, with early adoption
permitted, using a retrospective approach. We adopted the amended guidance for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the guidance did not have a
material impact on our disclosures.
Credit Losses
In June 2016, the FASB issued amended guidance that requires the use of a “current expected loss” model for financial assets measured at amortized cost
and certain off-balance sheet credit exposures. Under this model, entities will be required to estimate the lifetime expected credit losses on such instruments
based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. This amended guidance also expands the disclosure
requirements to enable users of financial statements to understand an entity’s assumptions, models and methods for estimating expected credit losses. The
changes are effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and amendments should be applied
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using a modified retrospective approach. We adopted the amended guidance on January 1, 2020, and the amended guidance did not have a material impact
on our financial position, results of operations or disclosures.
4. DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Sale of Texas City Terminals
On December 7, 2020, we sold the equity interests in our wholly owned subsidiaries that owned two terminals in Texas City, Texas for $106.0 million,
subject to adjustment (the Texas City Sale). The two terminals have an aggregate storage capacity of 3.0 million barrels and were previously included in
our storage segment. We recorded a non-cash loss of $34.7 million in “Other (expense) income, net” on our consolidated statement of loss for the year
ended December 31, 2020 and utilized the sales proceeds to improve our debt metrics.
Sale of St. Eustatius Operations
Impairments. On January 28, 2019, the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control added Petroleos de Venezuela, S.A. (PDVSA),
at the time a customer at the St. Eustatius facility, to its List of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons (the SDN List). The inclusion of
PDVSA on the SDN List required us to wind down our contracts with PDVSA. Prior to winding down such contracts, PDVSA was the St. Eustatius
terminal’s largest customer. The effect of the sanctions issued against PDVSA, combined with the progression in the sale negotiations that occurred during
March 2019, resulted in triggering events that caused us to evaluate the long-lived assets and goodwill associated with the St. Eustatius terminal and
bunkering operations for potential impairment.
With respect to the terminal operations long-lived assets, our estimates of future expected cash flows included the possibility of a near-term sale, as well as
continuing to operate the terminal. The carrying value of the terminal’s long-lived assets exceeded our estimate of the total expected cash flows, indicating
the long-lived assets were potentially impaired. To determine an impairment amount, we estimated the fair value of the long-lived assets for comparison to
the carrying amount of those assets. Our estimate of the fair value considered the expected sales price as well as estimates generated from income and
market approaches using a market participant’s assumptions. The estimated fair values resulting from the market and income approaches were consistent
with the expected sales price. Therefore, we concluded that the estimated sales price, which was less than the carrying amount of the long-lived assets,
represented the best estimate of fair value at March 31, 2019, and we recorded a long-lived asset impairment charge of $297.3 million in the first quarter of
2019 to reduce the carrying value of the assets to their estimated fair value. We recorded an additional impairment charge of $8.4 million in the second
quarter of 2019, mainly due to additional capital expenditures incurred in the second quarter.
With respect to the goodwill in the Statia Bunkering reporting unit, which consisted of our bunkering operations at the St. Eustatius terminal facility, we
estimated the fair value based on the expected sales price discussed above, which is inclusive of the bunkering operations. As a result, we concluded the
goodwill was impaired. Consistent with FASB’s amended goodwill impairment guidance discussed in Note 2, which we adopted in the first quarter of
2019, we measured the goodwill impairment as the difference between the reporting unit’s carrying value and its fair value. Therefore, we recognized a
goodwill impairment charge of $31.1 million in the first quarter of 2019 to reduce the goodwill to $0 for the Statia Bunkering reporting unit.
The impairment charges are included in “(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax” on the consolidated statement of loss.
Discontinued Operations. During the second quarter of 2019, we determined the assets and liabilities associated with the St. Eustatius Operations met the
criteria to be classified as held for sale. We determined the St. Eustatius Operations and the European Operations, discussed below, met the requirements to
be reported as discontinued operations since the St. Eustatius Disposition and the European Disposition together represented a strategic shift that will have
a major impact on our operations and financial results. These sales were part of our plan to improve our debt metrics and partially fund capital projects to
grow our core business in North America. Accordingly, the consolidated balance sheet reflects the assets and liabilities associated with the St. Eustatius
Operations as held for sale as of December 31, 2018, and the consolidated statements of (loss) income reflect the St. Eustatius Operations and the European
Operations as discontinued operations for all applicable periods presented.
On July 29, 2019, we sold the St. Eustatius Operations for net proceeds of approximately $230.0 million. The St. Eustatius Disposition included a 14.3
million barrel storage and terminalling facility and related assets on the island of St. Eustatius in the Caribbean Netherlands. We previously reported the
terminal operations in our storage segment and the bunkering operations in our fuels marketing segment. We recognized a non-cash loss on the sale of $3.9
million in “(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax” on the consolidated statement of loss in 2019.
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On November 30, 2018, we sold our European Operations for approximately $270.0 million. The European Operations were previously reported in our
storage segment. In association with the European Disposition, we recognized a non-cash loss of $43.4 million in “(Loss) income from discontinued
operations, net of tax” on the consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2018.
The following is a reconciliation of the major classes of line items included in “(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax” on the consolidated
statements of (loss) income:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
(Thousands of Dollars)

Revenues
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues
Impairment losses
General and administrative expenses (excluding depreciation and amortization expense)
Other depreciation and amortization expense
Total costs and expenses
Operating (loss) income
Interest income (expense), net
Other (expense) income, net
(Loss) income from discontinued operations before income tax expense
Income tax expense

$

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax

$

248,981

$

441,495

220,595
336,838
1,231
—
558,664
(309,683)
32
(2,775)
(312,426)
101
(312,527) $

407,256
—
6,133
271
413,660
27,835
(1,839)
34,674
60,670
1,251
59,419

The consolidated statements of cash flows have not been adjusted to separately disclose cash flows related to discontinued operations. The following table
presents selected cash flow information associated with our discontinued operations:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018
(Thousands of Dollars)

Capital expenditures

$

(27,954) $

Significant noncash operating activities and other adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Asset impairment losses
Goodwill impairment loss
Loss from sale of the St. Eustatius Operations
Loss from sale of the European Operations
Gain from insurance recoveries

$
$
$
$
$
$

8,536
305,715
31,123
3,942
—
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

(114,811)

41,982
—
—
—
43,366
(78,756)

5. MERGER AND RELATED PARTY AGREEMENTS
On July 20, 2018, we completed the merger of Holdings with a subsidiary of NuStar Energy (the Merger). Pursuant to the Merger agreement and at the
effective time of the Merger, NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement was amended and restated to, among other things, (i) cancel the incentive distribution
rights held by our general partner, (ii) convert the 2% general partner interest in NuStar Energy held by our general partner into a non-economic
management interest and (iii) provide the holders of our common units with voting rights in the election of the members of the board of directors of NuStar
GP, LLC, beginning at the annual meeting in 2019.
At the effective time of the Merger, each outstanding Holdings common unit was converted into the right to receive 0.55 of a NuStar Energy common unit
and all Holdings common units ceased to be outstanding. As a result of the Merger, we issued
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approximately 23.6 million NuStar Energy common units and cancelled the 10.2 million NuStar Energy common units owned by subsidiaries of Holdings,
resulting in approximately 13.4 million incremental NuStar Energy common units outstanding after the Merger. In addition, we repaid Holdings’ debt with
borrowings under our revolving credit agreement and incurred transaction costs for aggregate cash consideration of approximately $68.0 million.
Also at the effective time of the Merger, each outstanding award of Holdings restricted units was converted, on the same terms and conditions as were
applicable to the awards immediately prior to the Merger, into an award of NuStar Energy restricted units. The number of NuStar Energy restricted units
subject to the converted awards was determined pursuant to the 0.55 exchange ratio provided in the Merger Agreement.
Following the completion of the Merger, the NuStar GP, LLC board of directors consists of nine members, currently composed of the six members of the
NuStar GP, LLC board of directors prior to the Merger and the three independent directors who served prior to the Merger on Holdings’ board of directors.
We accounted for the Merger as an equity transaction similar to a redemption or induced conversion of preferred stock. The excess of (x) the fair value of
the consideration transferred in exchange for the outstanding Holdings units over (y) the carrying value of the general partner interest in the Partnership
was subtracted from net income available to common unitholders in the calculation of net loss per common unit attributable to the Merger as follows (in
thousands of dollars, except unit and per unit data):
Consideration transferred:
Fair value of incremental NS common units issued
Holdings debt and assumed net current liabilities
Transaction costs
Total consideration

$

Carrying value of general partner interest
Loss to common unitholders attributable to the Merger
For the year ended December 31, 2018:
Basic weighted-average common units outstanding
Loss per common unit attributable to the Merger

335,106
52,075
15,897
403,078

$

25,999
(377,079)

$

99,490,495
(3.79)

Related Party Agreements with Holdings
GP Services Agreement. Prior to the Merger, we were a party to an Amended and Restated Services Agreement with NuStar GP, LLC, effective March 1,
2016 (the Amended GP Services Agreement), which provided that we furnish administrative services necessary to conduct the business of Holdings, and
Holdings compensated us for these services for an annual fee of $1.0 million, subject to adjustment based on the annual merit increase percentage
applicable to our employees for the most recently completed fiscal year and for changes in level of service. We terminated the Amended GP Services
Agreement in conjunction with the Merger.
Non-Compete Agreement. Prior to the Merger, we were a party to a non-compete agreement with Holdings, Riverwalk Logistics, L.P. and NuStar GP, LLC,
effective on December 22, 2006 (the Non-Compete Agreement). Under the Non-Compete Agreement, we had the right of first refusal with respect to the
potential acquisition of assets related to the transportation, storage or terminalling of crude oil, feedstocks or refined products (including petrochemicals) in
the United States and internationally. Holdings had a right of first refusal with respect to the potential acquisition of general partner and other equity
interests in publicly traded partnerships under common ownership with the general partner interest. As a result of the Merger, the Non-Compete Agreement
was terminated, effective July 20, 2018.

72

Table of Contents

NUSTAR ENERGY L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities
The following table provides information about contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers:
2020
Contract Assets

Balances as of January 1:
Current portion
Noncurrent portion
Held for sale
Total

$

Activity:
Additions
Transfer to accounts receivable
Transfer to revenues, including amounts reported
in discontinued operations
Total
Balances as of December 31:
Current portion
Noncurrent portion
Held for sale
Total

$

2,140
1,003
—
3,143

2019
Contract
Liabilities

$

2018

Contract
Contract Assets
Liabilities
(Thousands of Dollars)

(21,083) $
(40,289)
—
(61,372)

2,066
539
—
2,605

$

Contract
Liabilities

Contract Assets

(21,579) $
(38,945)
(25,357)
(85,881)

1,956
171
—
2,127

$

(13,801)
(46,361)
(302)
(60,464)

5,686
(4,828)

(69,830)
—

4,890
(4,352)

(52,957)
—

3,281
(2,803)

(83,243)
—

(375)
483

61,646
(8,184)

—
538

77,466
24,509

—
478

57,826
(25,417)

2,066
539
—
2,605

(21,579)
(38,945)
(25,357)
(85,881)

2,694
932
—
3,626

$

(22,019)
(47,537)
—
(69,556) $

2,140
1,003
—
3,143

$

(21,083)
(40,289)
—
(61,372) $

$

Contract assets relate to performance obligations satisfied in advance of scheduled billings. Current contract assets are included in “Other current assets”
and noncurrent contract assets are included in “Other long-term assets, net” on the consolidated balance sheets. Contract liabilities relate to payments
received in advance of satisfying performance obligations under a contract, which mainly result from contracts with an incentive pricing structure, CIAC
payments and contracts with MVCs. Current contract liabilities are included in “Accrued liabilities” or “Liabilities held for sale” and noncurrent contract
liabilities are included in “Other long-term liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheets.
In the third quarter of 2018, we entered into an agreement whereby our customer transferred ownership of crude oil to us, and we agreed to sell the crude
oil and apply the proceeds as a non-refundable, one-time payment of storage fees. At the time of the agreement, we recognized a contract liability of $37.5
million. We recognized all the revenue associated with this contract liability by the end of 2019.
In the second quarter of 2018, one customer for whom we had recorded a contract liability to perform future services elected not to extend the term of its
terminal storage contract, thus reducing our future performance obligation. As a result, we adjusted the related contract liability and recognized $9.0
million in revenue.
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Remaining Performance Obligations
The following table presents our estimated revenue from contracts with customers for remaining performance obligations that has not yet been recognized,
representing our contractually committed revenue as of December 31, 2020 (in thousands of dollars):
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

486,339
354,666
261,205
184,862
128,279
173,917
1,589,268

$

Total

Our contractually committed revenue, for purposes of the tabular presentation above, is generally limited to customer contracts that have fixed pricing and
fixed volume terms and conditions, generally including contracts with MVC payment obligations.
Disaggregation of Revenues
The following table disaggregates our revenues:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

2020

Pipeline segment:
Crude oil pipelines
Refined products and ammonia pipelines (excluding lessor revenues)
Total pipeline segment revenues from contracts with customers
Lessor revenues
Total pipeline segment revenues

$

329,105
387,793
716,898
1,925
718,823

$

316,417
376,588
693,005
8,825
701,830

2018

$

248,261
362,750
611,011
54
611,065

Storage segment:
Throughput terminals
Storage terminals (excluding lessor revenues)
Total storage segment revenues from contracts with customers
Lessor revenues
Total storage segment revenues

136,632
316,496
453,128
41,314
494,442

114,243
298,984
413,227
40,774
454,001

83,157
320,582
403,739
39,849
443,588

Fuels marketing segment:
Revenues from contracts with customers

268,345

342,215

465,651

(46)

(25)

(42)

Consolidation and intersegment eliminations
$

Total revenues
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7. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES
The balance of and changes in the allowance for credit losses consisted of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

2020

Balance as of beginning of year
Current period provision for credit losses
Write-offs charged against the allowance
Balance as of end of year

$

72 $
441
(513)
— $

$

2018

9,412 $
2,322
(11,662)
72 $

9,380
233
(201)
9,412

8. INVENTORIES
Inventories consisted of the following:
December 31,
2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Petroleum products
Materials and supplies
Total

$

7,394
3,665
11,059

$

$

8,646
3,747
12,393

$

We purchase petroleum products for resale. Our petroleum products consist of intermediates, gasoline, distillates and other petroleum products. Materials
and supplies mainly consist of blending and additive chemicals and maintenance materials used in our pipeline and storage segments.
9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:
December 31,
Estimated Useful Lives
(Years)

Land, buildings and improvements
Pipelines, storage and terminals
Rights-of-way
Construction in progress
Total
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property, plant and equipment, net

0
15
20

-

40
40
40

2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

$

$

440,358 $
5,253,507
359,441
111,436
6,164,742
(2,207,230)
3,957,512 $

444,156
5,162,426
350,026
230,536
6,187,144
(2,068,165)
4,118,979

Capitalized interest costs added to property, plant and equipment, including amounts related to discontinued operations, totaled $4.9 million, $8.9 million
and $7.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Depreciation and amortization expense for property, plant and
equipment totaled $228.8 million, $226.0 million and $243.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, including
depreciation and amortization expense reported in “(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax” on the consolidated statements of (loss)
income.
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets consisted of the following:
December 31, 2020
Weighted-Average
Amortization Period
(Years)

Customer contracts and relationships
Other
Total

18
47

Cost

$

863,900
2,359
866,259

$

December 31, 2019

Accumulated
Amortization
Cost
(Thousands of Dollars)

$

(235,205) $
(845)
(236,050) $

$

Accumulated
Amortization

863,900
2,359
866,259

$

(183,832)
(795)
(184,627)

$

Intangible assets are recorded at fair value as of the date acquired. All of our intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis. Amortization expense
for intangible assets was $51.4 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. The estimated aggregate amortization expense is
$51.0 million for the years 2021 and 2022, $45.0 million for 2023 and 2024 and $38.0 million for 2025.
11. GOODWILL
The balances of and changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment were as follows:
Pipeline

Balances as of January 1, 2019 and 2020

$

Activity for the year ended December 31, 2020:
Goodwill impairment loss on crude oil pipelines
Texas City Sale
Balances as of December 31, 2020:
Goodwill
Accumulated impairment loss
$

Net goodwill

704,231

Storage
(Thousands of Dollars)

$

301,622

Total

$

1,005,853

(225,000)
—

—
(14,437)

(225,000)
(14,437)

704,231
(225,000)
479,231 $

287,185
—
287,185

991,416
(225,000)
766,416

$

Activity for the Year Ended December 31, 2020
Texas City Sale. On December 7, 2020, we completed the Texas City Sale and the goodwill associated with the sold terminals was included in the
calculation of the loss on sale. Please see Note 4 for additional information on the sale.
Impairment. In March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken by OPEC+ resulted in severe disruptions in the capital and commodities markets,
which led to significant decline in our unit price. As a result, our equity market capitalization fell significantly. The decline in crude oil prices and demand
for petroleum products also led to a decline in expected earnings from some of our goodwill reporting units. These factors and others related to COVID-19
and OPEC+ caused us to conclude there were triggering events that occurred in March that required us to perform a goodwill impairment test as of March
31, 2020. We recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $225.0 million in the first quarter of 2020, which is reported in the pipeline segment. Our
assessment did not identify any other reporting units at risk of a goodwill impairment.
We calculated the estimated fair value of each of our reporting units using a weighted-average of values determined from an income approach and a market
approach. The income approach involves estimating the fair value of each reporting unit by discounting its estimated future cash flows using a discount rate
that would be consistent with a market participant’s assumption. The market approach bases the fair value measurement on information obtained from
observed stock prices of public companies and recent merger and acquisition transaction data of comparable entities. In order to estimate the fair value of
goodwill, management must make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the total fair value of the reporting unit including, among other things, an
assessment of market conditions, projected cash flows, discount rates and growth rates. Management’s estimates of projected cash flows related to the
reporting unit include, but are not limited to, future earnings of the reporting unit, assumptions about the use or disposition of assets included in the
reporting unit, estimated remaining lives of
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those assets, and future expenditures necessary to maintain the assets’ existing service potential. The assumptions in the fair value measurement reflect the
current market environment, industry-specific factors and company-specific factors.
The decline in expected earnings from certain of our long-lived assets was also an indicator that the carrying values of these long-lived assets may not be
recoverable. Prior to performing the goodwill impairment test, we tested these long-lived assets for recoverability and determined they were fully
recoverable as of March 31, 2020.
Management’s estimates are based on numerous assumptions about future operations and market conditions, which we believe to be reasonable but are
inherently uncertain. The uncertainties underlying our assumptions and estimates could differ significantly from actual results, including with respect to the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic.
2019 Impairment
As discussed in Note 4, in 2019, the assets and liabilities associated with the European Operations and the St. Eustatius Operations, including goodwill,
were reclassified to assets and liabilities held for sale for all periods presented and are not included in the table above. In 2019, goodwill of $31.1 million
associated with the bunkering operations at the St. Eustatius terminal facility, which represented all goodwill in the fuels marketing segment, was reduced
to $0. Please see Note 4 for additional information.
12. ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:
December 31,
2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Employee wages and benefit costs
Revenue contract liabilities
Interest rate swaps
Operating lease liabilities
Environmental costs
Other
Accrued liabilities

$

27,805
22,019
—
10,890
5,371
11,685
77,770

$

$

$

36,704
21,083
19,169
10,416
4,837
16,401
108,610

13. DEBT
Short-term debt consisted of the following:
December 31,
2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Short-term line of credit
Current portion of finance leases (refer to Note 16)

$
$

77

—
3,839

$
$

5,500
4,546
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Long-term debt consisted of the following:
December 31,
Maturity

2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Revolving Credit Agreement
4.80% senior notes
6.75% senior notes
4.75% senior notes
5.75% senior notes
6.00% senior notes
5.625% senior notes
6.375% senior notes
Subordinated Notes
GoZone Bonds
Receivables Financing Agreement
Net fair value adjustments, unamortized discounts and unamortized debt issuance
costs
Total long-term debt (excluding finance leases)
Finance leases (refer to Note 16)
Less current portion

2023
2020
2021
2022
2025
2026
2027
2030
2043
2038 thru 2041
2023

$

N/A

$

Long-term debt, less current portion

—
—
300,000
250,000
600,000
500,000
550,000
600,000
402,500
322,140
57,000

$

475,000
450,000
300,000
250,000
—
500,000
550,000
—
402,500
365,440
62,200

(42,382)
3,539,258
54,238
—
3,593,496 $

(23,301)
3,331,839
55,446
452,367
2,934,918

The long-term debt repayments (excluding finance leases) are due as follows (in thousands of dollars):
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total repayments
Net fair value adjustments, unamortized discounts and unamortized debt issuance costs
Total long-term debt (excluding finance leases)

$

$

300,000
250,000
57,000
—
600,000
2,374,640
3,581,640
(42,382)
3,539,258

Interest payments totaled $207.2 million, $183.8 million and $190.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to
debt obligations. We amortized an aggregate of $11.4 million, $6.5 million and $7.1 million of debt issuance costs and debt discount combined for the years
ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Term Loan Credit Agreement
On April 19, 2020, NuStar Energy and NuStar Logistics entered into an unsecured term loan credit agreement with certain lenders and Oaktree Fund
Administration, LLC, as administrative agent for the lenders. The Term Loan provided for an aggregate commitment of up to $750.0 million pursuant to a
three-year unsecured term loan credit facility. NuStar Logistics drew $500.0 million (the Initial Loan) on April 21, 2020 (the Initial Loan Funding Date).
We utilized the proceeds from the Initial Loan, net of the original issue discount of $22.5 million (3.0% of the total commitment) and issuance costs of
$14.4 million, to repay outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement, as defined below. The Term Loan bolstered our liquidity to address
near-term senior note maturities.
On September 16, 2020, we used a portion of the net proceeds from the issuance of the 5.75% and 6.375% senior notes to repay the $500.0 million of
outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan and pay related early repayment premiums totaling $97.6 million. We also recognized costs of $40.3 million
related to unamortized debt issuance costs, unamortized discount and a commitment fee, which resulted in a loss from extinguishment of debt of
$137.9 million in the third quarter of 2020. As of
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December 31, 2020, an aggregate principal amount of $250.0 million remained available to be drawn. On February 16, 2021, we terminated the Term Loan.
Outstanding borrowings bore interest at an aggregate rate of 12.0% per annum, and the Term Loan was subject to a commitment fee in the amount of 5.0%
per annum on the average daily undrawn amount of $250.0 million until April 19, 2021. Upon issuance of the $1.2 billion of senior notes in September
2020, we were required to repay outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan and pay a make-whole premium for liquidated damages and compensation
for the costs of making funds available. From the Initial Loan Funding Date through the 18-month anniversary of the Initial Loan Funding Date, such
premium was the sum of (i) the make-whole amount and (ii) 6.25% of the aggregate principal amount of borrowings then paid.
Revolving Credit Agreement
On March 6, 2020, NuStar Logistics amended its revolving credit agreement (the Revolving Credit Agreement) to, among other things, extend the maturity
date from October 29, 2021 to October 27, 2023, reduce the total amount available for borrowing from $1.2 billion to $1.0 billion and increase the rates
included in the definition of Applicable Rate contained in the Revolving Credit Agreement. On April 6, 2020, NuStar Logistics amended the Revolving
Credit Agreement to allow for certain transactions related to the GoZone Bonds discussed below. On February 16, 2021, NuStar Logistics amended the
Revolving Credit Agreement to, among other things, expand certain adjustments related to our maximum consolidated debt coverage ratio and minimum
consolidated interest coverage ratio.
The Revolving Credit Agreement is subject to maximum consolidated debt coverage ratio and minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio requirements,
which may limit the amount we can borrow to an amount less than the total amount available for borrowing. For the rolling period ending December 31,
2020, the maximum allowed consolidated debt coverage ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) may not exceed 5.00-to-1.00 and the
minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement), must not be less than 1.75-to-1.00. If we complete one or
more acquisitions for aggregate net consideration of at least $50.0 million, our maximum consolidated debt coverage ratio will increase to 5.50-to-1.00 for
two rolling periods. The Revolving Credit Agreement also contains customary restrictive covenants, such as limitations on indebtedness, liens, mergers,
asset transfers and certain investing activities. As of December 31, 2020, we believe that we are in compliance with the covenants in the Revolving Credit
Agreement.
As of December 31, 2020, we had $994.8 million available for borrowing and no borrowings outstanding. Letters of credit issued under the Revolving
Credit Agreement totaled $5.2 million as of December 31, 2020. Letters of credit are limited to $400.0 million and also may restrict the amount we can
borrow under the Revolving Credit Agreement. Obligations under the Revolving Credit Agreement are guaranteed by NuStar Energy and NuPOP.
The Revolving Credit Agreement bears interest, at our option, based on an alternative base rate or a LIBOR-based rate. The interest rate on the Revolving
Credit Agreement is subject to adjustment if our debt rating is downgraded (or upgraded) by certain credit rating agencies. In August of 2020, Moody’s
Investor Service Inc. downgraded our credit rating from Ba2 to Ba3. This rating downgrade caused the interest rate on our Revolving Credit Agreement to
increase by 0.25% effective August 2020. The Revolving Credit Agreement is the only debt arrangement with an interest rate that is subject to adjustment
if our debt rating is downgraded (or upgraded) by certain credit rating agencies. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the weighted-average interest
rate related to borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement was 3.3%.
Notes
NuStar Logistics Senior Notes. On September 14, 2020, NuStar Logistics issued $600.0 million of 5.75% senior notes due October 1, 2025 and $600.0
million of 6.375% senior notes due October 1, 2030. We received proceeds of $1,182.0 million, net of issuance costs of $18.0 million, which we used to
repay outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan, along with early repayment premiums, as well as borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement.
The issuance of the 5.75% and 6.375% senior notes bolstered our liquidity to address our senior note maturities in early 2021 and 2022. The interest on the
5.75% and 6.375% senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, beginning on April 1, 2021.
We repaid our $450.0 million of 4.8% senior notes due September 1, 2020 with borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement.
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On May 22, 2019, NuStar Logistics issued $500.0 million of 6.0% senior notes due June 1, 2026. We received net proceeds of $491.6 million, which we
used to repay outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement. The interest on the 6.0% senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on
June 1 and December 1 of each year, beginning on December 1, 2019.
We repaid the $350.0 million of 7.65% senior notes on April 15, 2018 with borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement.
Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears for the $300.0 million of 6.75% senior notes, $250.0 million of 4.75% senior notes, $600.0 million of 5.75%
senior notes, $500.0 million of 6.0% senior notes, $550.0 million of 5.625% senior notes and $600.0 million of 6.375% senior notes (collectively, the
NuStar Logistics Senior Notes).
The NuStar Logistics Senior Notes do not have sinking fund requirements. These notes rank equally with existing senior unsecured indebtedness and senior
to existing subordinated indebtedness of NuStar Logistics and contain restrictions on NuStar Logistics’ ability to incur secured indebtedness unless the
same security is also provided for the benefit of holders of the NuStar Logistics Senior Notes. In addition, the NuStar Logistics Senior Notes limit the
ability of NuStar Logistics and its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur indebtedness secured by certain liens, engage in certain sale-leaseback
transactions and engage in certain consolidations, mergers or asset sales. At the option of NuStar Logistics, the NuStar Logistics Senior Notes may be
redeemed in whole or in part at any time at a redemption price, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. If we undergo a change of control,
as defined in the supplemental indentures for the 6.75% senior notes, the 5.75% senior notes, the 6.0% senior notes, the 5.625% senior notes or the 6.375%
senior notes, each holder of the applicable senior notes may require us to repurchase all or a portion of its notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal
amount of the notes repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to the date of repurchase. The NuStar Logistics Senior Notes are fully and
unconditionally guaranteed by NuStar Energy and NuPOP.
We repaid our $300.0 million of 6.75% senior notes due February 1, 2021 with borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement; the senior notes are
therefore classified as long-term debt as of December 31, 2020.
NuStar Logistics Subordinated Notes. NuStar Logistics’ $402.5 million of fixed-to-floating rate subordinated notes are due January 15, 2043 (the
Subordinated Notes). The Subordinated Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on an unsecured and subordinated basis by NuStar Energy and
NuPOP. Effective January 15, 2018, the interest rate on the Subordinated Notes switched from a fixed annual rate of 7.625%, payable quarterly in arrears,
to an annual rate equal to the sum of the three-month LIBOR for the related quarterly interest period, plus 6.734% payable quarterly, commencing April 15,
2018, unless payment is deferred in accordance with the terms of the notes. NuStar Logistics may elect to defer interest payments on the Subordinated
Notes on one or more occasions for up to five consecutive years. Deferred interest will accumulate additional interest at a rate equal to the interest rate then
applicable to the Subordinated Notes until paid. If NuStar Logistics elects to defer interest payments, NuStar Energy cannot declare or make cash
distributions to its unitholders during the period that interest payments are deferred. As of December 31, 2020, the interest rate was 7.0%.
The Subordinated Notes do not have sinking fund requirements and are subordinated to existing senior unsecured indebtedness of NuStar Logistics and
NuPOP. The Subordinated Notes do not contain restrictions on NuStar Logistics’ ability to incur additional indebtedness, including debt that ranks senior in
priority of payment to the notes. In addition, the Subordinated Notes do not limit NuStar Logistics’ ability to incur indebtedness secured by liens or to
engage in certain sale-leaseback transactions. Effective January 15, 2018, we may redeem the Subordinated Notes in whole or in part at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date.
Gulf Opportunity Zone Revenue Bonds
In 2008, 2010 and 2011, the Parish of St. James, Louisiana issued Revenue Bonds Series 2008, Series 2010, Series 2010A, Series 2010B and Series 2011
associated with our St. James terminal expansions pursuant to the Gulf Opportunity Zone Act of 2005 for an aggregate $365.4 million (collectively, the
GoZone Bonds). Following the issuances, the proceeds were deposited with a trustee and were disbursed to us upon our request for reimbursement of
expenditures related to our St. James terminal. We did not receive any proceeds from the trustee for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020. On
March 4, 2020, NuStar Logistics repaid $43.3 million of GoZone Bonds with unused funds, which had been held in trust. NuStar Logistics is obligated to
make payments in amounts sufficient to pay the principal of, premium, if any, interest and certain other payments on, the GoZone Bonds.
On June 3, 2020, NuStar Logistics completed the reoffering and conversion of the GoZone Bonds through supplements to the original indentures governing
the GoZone Bonds and supplements to the original agreements between NuStar Logistics and the Parish of St. James, which, among other things, converted
the interest rate from a weekly rate to a long-term rate. In connection with the reoffering and conversion, we terminated the letters of credit previously
issued by various individual banks on our
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behalf to support the payments required in connection with the GoZone Bonds, and NuStar Energy and NuPOP guaranteed NuStar Logistics’ obligations
with respect to the GoZone Bonds. We did not receive any proceeds from the reoffering, and the reoffering did not increase our outstanding debt.
The following table summarizes the GoZone Bonds outstanding as of December 31, 2020:
Amount
Outstanding
(Thousands of Dollars)

Series

Date Issued

Series 2008
Series 2010
Series 2010A
Series 2010B
Series 2011

June 26, 2008
July 15, 2010
October 7, 2010
December 29, 2010
August 9, 2011

$

Total $

Interest Rate

55,440
100,000
43,300
48,400
75,000
322,140

6.10 %
6.35 %
6.35 %
6.10 %
5.85 %

Mandatory
Purchase Date

Maturity Date

June 1, 2030
n/a
n/a
June 1, 2030
June 1, 2025

June 1, 2038
July 1, 2040
October 1, 2040
December 1, 2040
August 1, 2041

Interest on the GoZone Bonds accrues from June 3, 2020 and is payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1 of each year, beginning December 1,
2020. The holders of the Series 2008, Series 2010B and Series 2011 GoZone Bonds are required to tender their bonds at the applicable mandatory purchase
date in exchange for 100% of the principal plus accrued and unpaid interest, after which these bonds will potentially be remarketed with a new interest rate
established. Each of the Series 2010 and Series 2010A GoZone Bonds is subject to redemption on or after June 1, 2030 by the Parish of St. James, at our
option, in whole or in part, at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed plus accrued interest. The Series 2008, Series 2010B and
Series 2011 GoZone Bonds are not subject to optional redemption.
NuStar Logistics’ agreements with the Parish of St. James related to the GoZone Bonds contain (i) customary restrictive covenants that limit the ability of
NuStar Logistics and its subsidiaries, to, among other things, create liens or enter into sale-leaseback transactions, consolidations, mergers or asset sales
and (ii) a change of control provision that provides each holder the right to require the trustee, with funds provided by NuStar Logistics, to repurchase all or
a portion of that holder’s GoZone Bonds upon a change of control at a price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount repurchased, plus any
accrued and unpaid interest.
Receivables Financing Agreement
NuStar Energy and NuStar Finance LLC (NuStar Finance), a special purpose entity and wholly owned subsidiary of NuStar Energy, are parties to a
receivables financing agreement with third-party lenders (the Receivables Financing Agreement) and agreements with certain of NuStar Energy’s wholly
owned subsidiaries (together with the Receivables Financing Agreement, the Securitization Program). On September 3, 2020, they amended the
Receivables Financing Agreement to, among other things: (i) extend the maturity date from September 20, 2021 to September 20, 2023, (ii) reduce the
amount available for borrowing from $125.0 million to $100.0 million, (iii) provide that the failure to satisfy the consolidated debt coverage ratio, as
defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement, would constitute an Event of Default as defined in the Receivables Financing Agreement, and (iv) increase the
interest rate. Under the Securitization Program, certain of NuStar Energy’s wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the Originators), sell their accounts
receivable to NuStar Finance on an ongoing basis, and NuStar Finance provides the newly acquired accounts receivable as collateral for its revolving
borrowings under the Receivables Financing Agreement. NuStar Energy provides a performance guarantee in connection with the Securitization Program.
The amount available for borrowing is based on the availability of eligible receivables and other customary factors and conditions. The Securitization
Program contains various customary affirmative and negative covenants and default, indemnification and termination provisions, and the Receivables
Financing Agreement provides for acceleration of amounts owed upon the occurrence of certain specified events. NuStar Finance’s sole activity consists of
purchasing such receivables and providing them as collateral under the Securitization Program. NuStar Finance is a separate legal entity and the assets of
NuStar Finance, including these accounts receivable, are not available to satisfy the claims of creditors of NuStar Energy, the Originators or their affiliates.
Borrowings by NuStar Finance under the Receivables Financing Agreement bear interest at the applicable bank rate, as defined under the Receivables
Financing Agreement. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, accounts receivable totaling $110.6 million and $112.8 million, respectively, were included in
the Securitization Program. The weighted average interest rate related to outstanding borrowings under the Securitization Program during the year ended
December 31, 2020 was 1.9%.
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14. HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
Our operations are subject to extensive international, federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, in the U.S. and in the other countries in
which we operate, including those relating to the discharge of materials into the environment, waste management, remediation, the characteristics and
composition of fuels, climate change and greenhouse gases. Our operations are also subject to extensive health, safety and security laws and regulations,
including those relating to worker and pipeline safety, pipeline and storage tank integrity and operations security. The principal environmental, health,
safety and security risks associated with our operations relate to unauthorized emissions into the air, releases into soil, surface water or groundwater,
personal injury and property damage. We have adopted policies, practices, systems and procedures designed to comply with the laws and regulations and to
help minimize and mitigate these risks, limit the liability that could result from such events, prevent material environmental or other damage, ensure the
safety of our employees and the public and secure our pipelines, terminals and operations. Compliance with environmental, health, safety and security laws,
regulations and related permits increases our capital expenditures and operating expenses, and violation of these laws, regulations or permits could result in
significant civil and criminal liabilities, injunctions or other penalties. Future governmental action and regulatory initiatives could necessitate changes to
expected operating permits and procedures, additional remedial actions or increased capital expenditures and operating costs. Risks of additional costs and
liabilities are inherent to government-regulated industries, including midstream energy, and there can be no assurances that significant costs and liabilities
will not be incurred in the future.
Most of our pipelines are subject to federal regulation by one or more of the following governmental agencies: The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
(the FERC), the Surface Transportation Board (the STB), the Department of Transportation (DOT), the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the
Department of Homeland Security. Additionally, the operations and integrity of the pipelines are subject to the respective jurisdictions of the states those
lines traverse.
Environmental and safety exposures and liabilities are difficult to assess and estimate due to unknown factors such as the timing and extent of remediation,
the determination of our liability in proportion to other parties, improvements in cleanup technologies and the extent to which environmental and safety
laws and regulations may change in the future. Although environmental and safety costs may have a significant impact on the results of operations for any
single period, we believe that such costs will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position.
The balance of and changes in the accruals for environmental matters were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Balance as of the beginning of year
Additions to accrual
Payments
Balance as of the end of year

$

7,938 $
3,692
(3,257)
8,373 $

$

7,753
3,700
(3,515)
7,938

Accruals for environmental matters are included in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:
December 31,
2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Accrued liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Accruals for environmental matters

$
$

82

5,371
3,002
8,373

$
$

4,837
3,101
7,938
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments
Future minimum rental payments applicable to all noncancellable purchase obligations as of December 31, 2020 are as follows:
Payments Due by Period
2021

Purchase obligations

$

9,980

2022

$

7,647

2023

$

2024
(Thousands of Dollars)

2,039

$

1,025

Thereafter

2025

$

483

$

4,520

Total

$

25,694

Our purchase obligations primarily consist of an eleven-year chemical supply agreement related to our pipelines that terminates in 2022 and various service
agreements with information technology providers.
Contingencies
We have contingent liabilities resulting from various litigation, claims and commitments. We record accruals for loss contingencies when losses are
considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. Legal fees associated with defending the Partnership in legal matters are expensed as incurred. We
accrued $2.6 million and $3.7 million for contingent losses as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The amount that will ultimately be paid related
to such matters may differ from the recorded accruals, and the timing of such payments is uncertain. We evaluate each contingent loss at least quarterly, and
more frequently as each matter progresses and develops over time, and we do not believe that the resolution of any particular claim or proceeding, or all
matters in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position or liquidity.
16. LEASE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Transition
On January 1, 2019, we adopted Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, “Leases” (ASC Topic 842) using the modified retrospective method.
Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2019 are presented under ASC Topic 842. In accordance with the modified retrospective approach,
prior period amounts were not adjusted and are reported under ASC Topic 840, “Leases.” As a result of the adoption of ASC Topic 842, we recorded rightof-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately $207.0 million and $192.0 million, respectively, as of January 1, 2019. The adoption of ASC Topic 842
had an immaterial impact on our results of operations and cash flows at adoption.
We elected the following practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard:
• the package of practical expedients, which, among other things, allowed us to carry forward historical lease classification;
• the practical expedient specifically related to land easements, which, among other things, allowed us to carry forward our historical accounting
treatment for existing land easement agreements;
• the lessee practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease components for all of our asset classes except the other pipeline and terminal
equipment asset class; and
• the lessor practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease components and to account for the transaction based on the predominant component
(i.e., ASC Topic 842 or ASC Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”). We apply this expedient to certain contracts in which we
agree to provide both storage capacity and optional services to customers.
We record all leases on our consolidated balance sheet except for those leases with an initial term of 12 months or less, which are expensed on a straightline basis over the lease term. We use judgment in determining the reasonably certain lease term and consider factors such as the nature and utility of the
leased asset, as well as the importance of the leased asset to our operations. We calculate the present value of our lease liabilities based upon our
incremental borrowing rate unless the rate implicit in the lease is readily determinable.
Lessee Arrangements
Our operating leases consist primarily of land and dock leases at various terminal facilities. As of December 31, 2020, land and dock leases have remaining
terms generally of up to five years and include options to extend, some up to twenty years, which we are reasonably certain to exercise. During 2020, we
modified three leases for marine vessels at our Point Tupper terminal facility in order to extend their lease terms by five years. The modifications and
related remeasurements resulted in additional lease liabilities and right-of-use assets totaling $20.1 million.
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The primary component of our finance lease portfolio is a dock at a terminal facility, which includes a commitment for minimum dockage and wharfage
throughput volumes. The dock lease has a remaining initial term of less than one year and four additional five-year renewal periods, all of which we are
reasonably certain to exercise. We historically accounted for the dock lease under legacy build-to-suit accounting guidance, which was eliminated by ASC
Topic 842.
Certain of our leases are subject to variable payment arrangements, the most notable of which include:
• dockage and wharfage charges, which are based on volumes moved over leased docks and are included in our calculation of our lease payments
based on minimum throughput volume requirements. We recognize charges on excess throughput volumes in profit or loss in the period in which
the obligation for those payments is incurred; and
• consumer price index adjustments, which are measured and included in the calculation of our lease payments based on the consumer price index at
the adoption date or, after adoption, at the commencement date. We recognize changes in lease payments as a result of changes in the consumer
price index in profit or loss in the period in which those payments are made.
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities included in our consolidated balance sheet were as follows:
December 31,
Balance Sheet Location

2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Right-of-Use Assets:
Operating
Finance
Lease Liabilities:
Operating:
Current
Noncurrent
Total operating lease liabilities
Finance:
Current
Noncurrent

Other long-term assets, net
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated
amortization of $8,444 and $3,748

$

87,443

$

81,219

$

73,319

$

74,953

Accrued liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

$

10,890
74,899
85,789

$

10,416
70,083
80,499

3,839
54,238
58,077

$

$
Current portion of debt and finance lease obligations
Long-term debt, less current portion

$
$

Total finance lease liabilities

$

$

4,546
55,446
59,992

As of December 31, 2020, maturities of our operating and finance lease liabilities were as follows:
Operating Leases
Finance Leases
(Thousands of Dollars)

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: Interest

$

$
$

Present value of lease liabilities
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13,137
12,419
11,170
10,294
8,154
53,288
108,462
22,673
85,789

$

$
$

5,907
5,231
5,102
4,622
3,898
56,079
80,839
22,762
58,077
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Costs incurred for leases, including costs associated with discontinued operations, were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Operating lease cost
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liability
Short-term lease cost
Variable lease cost
Total lease cost

$

16,814

$

29,167

$
$
$
$
$

4,700
2,201
15,359
8,653
47,727

$
$
$
$
$

3,748
2,212
19,140
6,990
61,257

Rental expense for operating leases (pursuant to ASC Topic 840) totaled $42.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 including rental expense
reported in “(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax” on the consolidated statements of (loss) income.
The table below presents additional information regarding our leases as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Year ended December 31,
2020
Operating Leases

Cash outflows from operating activities
Cash outflows from financing activities
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)
Weighted-average discount rate

$
$
$

2019
Finance Leases
Operating Leases
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Term and Rate Data)

14,487 $
— $
20,830 $
13
3.2 %

2,208 $
4,981 $
3,077 $
19
3.7 %

Finance Leases

27,567 $
— $
2,153 $
15
3.6 %

2,027
3,700
4,430
20
3.7 %

Lessor Arrangements
We have entered into certain revenue arrangements where we are considered to be the lessor. Under the largest of these arrangements, we lease certain of
our storage tanks in exchange for a fixed fee, subject to an annual consumer price index adjustment. The operating leases commenced on January 1, 2017,
and have initial terms of 10 years with successive automatic renewal terms. We recognized lease revenues from these leases of $41.3 million and $40.8
million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which are included in “Service revenues” in the consolidated statements of (loss)
income. As of December 31, 2020, we expect to receive minimum lease payments totaling $234.8 million, based upon the consumer price index as of the
adoption date. We will recognize these payments ratably over the remaining initial lease term.
The table below presents cost, accumulated depreciation and useful life information related to our storage lease assets, which are included in our “Pipeline,
storage and terminals” asset class within property, plant and equipment, as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:
December 31,

Estimated Useful
Life
(Years)

Lease storage assets, at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Lease storage assets, net

30

2020

$
$
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2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

241,664
(130,217)
111,447 $

238,204
(121,545)
116,659
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17. DERIVATIVES AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Derivative Instruments
We utilize various derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate risk and commodity price risk. Our risk management policies and
procedures are designed to monitor interest rates, futures and swap positions and over-the-counter positions, as well as physical commodity volumes,
grades, locations and delivery schedules, to help ensure that our hedging activities address our market risks.
Commodity Price Risk. The results of operations for the fuels marketing segment depend largely on the margin between our cost and the sales prices of the
products we market. Therefore, the results of operations for this segment are more sensitive to changes in commodity prices compared to the operations of
the pipeline and storage segments. Since our fuels marketing operations expose us to commodity price risk, we enter into derivative instruments to mitigate
the effect of commodity price fluctuations on our operations. Derivative financial instruments associated with commodity price risk with respect to our
petroleum product inventories and related firm commitments to purchase and/or sell such inventories were not material for any period presented.
Interest Rate Risk. We were a party to certain interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates, which consisted of
forward-starting interest rate swap agreements related to forecasted debt issuances. We entered into these swaps in order to hedge the risk of fluctuations in
the required interest payments attributable to changes in the benchmark interest rate during the period from the effective date of the swap to the issuance of
the forecasted debt. Under the terms of the swaps, we paid a weighted-average fixed rate and received a rate based on the three-month USD LIBOR. These
swaps qualified as cash flow hedges, and we designated them as such. We recorded mark-to-market adjustments as a component of AOCI, and the amount
in AOCI is recognized in “Interest expense, net” as the forecasted interest payments occur or if the interest payments are probable not to occur. In June
2020, in connection with the reoffering and conversion of the GoZone Bonds, we terminated forward-starting interest rate swaps with an aggregate notional
amount of $250.0 million and paid $49.2 million, which will be amortized into “Interest expense, net” as the related forecasted interest payments occur. In
April 2018, in connection with the maturity of the 7.65% senior notes due April 15, 2018, we terminated forward-starting interest rate swaps with an
aggregate notional amount of $350.0 million and received $8.0 million. The termination payments and receipts are included in cash flows from financing
activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows.
The remaining fair value amounts associated with unwound interest rate swap agreements are presented in the table below. These amounts are amortized
ratably over the remaining life of the related debt instrument into “Interest expense, net” on the consolidated statements of (loss) income.
December 31,
Unwound Interest Rate Swap Agreements

Balance Sheet Location

2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Fixed-to-floating
Fixed-to-floating
Forward-starting

Current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt, less current portion
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

$
$
$

— $
1,363 $
(42,150) $

2,755
2,568
3,045

Our forward-starting interest rate swaps had the following impact on earnings:
2020

(Loss) gain recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) on derivative
Loss reclassified from AOCI into interest expense, net

$
$

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

(30,291) $
(4,265) $

(19,045) $
(3,814) $

2018

17,912
(5,499)

As of December 31, 2020, we expect to reclassify a loss of $5.4 million to “Interest expense, net” within the next twelve months associated with unwound
forward-starting interest rate swap agreements.
Fair Value Measurements
We segregate the inputs used in measuring fair value into three levels: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets
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that are either directly or indirectly observable, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs for which little or no market data exists. We consider counterparty
credit risk and our own credit risk in the determination of all estimated fair values.
Recurring Fair Value Measurements. Prior to the termination of our forward-starting interest rate swaps, we estimated the fair value using discounted cash
flows, which use observable inputs such as time to maturity and market interest rates, and, therefore, we included interest rate swaps in Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy. As of December 31, 2019, the fair value of our forward-starting interest rate swap agreements included in “Accrued liabilities” on our
consolidated balance sheet was $19.2 million, with an aggregate notional amount of $250.0 million.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
We recognize cash equivalents, receivables, payables and debt in our consolidated balance sheets at their carrying amounts. The fair values of these
financial instruments, except for long-term debt other than finance leases, approximate their carrying amounts. The estimated fair values and carrying
amounts of the long-term debt, including the current portion and excluding finance leases, were as follows:
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Fair value
Carrying amount

$
$

3,799,378
3,539,258

$
$

3,442,001
3,331,839

We have estimated the fair value of our publicly traded notes based upon quoted prices in active markets; therefore, we determined that the fair value of our
publicly traded notes falls in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. With regard to our other debt, for which a quoted market price is not available, we have
estimated the fair value using a discounted cash flow analysis using current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements and
determined that the fair value falls in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The carrying value includes net fair value adjustments, unamortized discounts and
unamortized debt issuance costs.
18. SERIES D CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED UNITS
Purchase Agreement and Issuance of Series D Preferred Units
On June 26, 2018, the Partnership entered into a purchase agreement (the Series D Preferred Unit Purchase Agreement) with investment funds, accounts
and entities (collectively, the Purchasers) managed by EIG Management Company, LLC and FS/EIG Advisors, LLC to issue and sell $590.0 million of
Series D Cumulative Convertible Preferred Units (Series D Preferred Units) in a private placement. The Partnership issued a total of 23,246,650 Series D
Preferred Units to the Purchasers at a price of $25.38 per Series D Preferred Unit (the Series D Preferred Unit Purchase Price). At the initial closing on June
29, 2018 (the Initial Closing), the Purchasers purchased 15,760,441 Series D Preferred Units for $400.0 million, and we received net proceeds of $370.7
million. The Purchasers purchased the remaining 7,486,209 Series D Preferred Units for $190.0 million at a second closing on July 13, 2018. The net
proceeds to the Partnership from the sale of the Series D Preferred Units of $555.8 million, including deductions for a 3.5% transaction fee of $20.7 million
paid to the Purchasers and other issuance costs of $13.5 million, were used for general partnership purposes, including repayment of outstanding
borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement.
Series D Preferred Units Rights
At the Initial Closing and pursuant to the Series D Preferred Unit Purchase Agreement, the Partnership amended and restated its partnership agreement to
authorize and establish the rights, preferences and privileges of the Series D Preferred Units. The Series D Preferred Units rank equal to other classes of
preferred units and senior to common units in the Partnership with respect to distribution rights and rights upon liquidation. The Series D Preferred Units
generally will vote on an as-converted basis with the common units and will have certain class voting rights with respect to a limited number of matters as
set forth in the partnership agreement.
Series D Preferred Units Distributions
Distributions on the Series D Preferred Units are payable out of any legally available funds, accrue and are cumulative from the issuance dates and are
payable on the 15th day (or next business day) of each of March, June, September and December, beginning September 17, 2018, to holders of record on
the first business day of each payment month. The distribution rates on the Series D Preferred Units are as follows: (i) 9.75%, or $57.6 million, per annum
($0.619 per unit per distribution period) for
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the first two years; (ii) 10.75%, or $63.4 million, per annum ($0.682 per unit per distribution period) for years three through five; and (iii) the greater of
13.75%, or $81.1 million, per annum ($0.872 per unit per distribution period) or the distribution per common unit thereafter. While the Series D Preferred
Units are outstanding, the Partnership will be prohibited from paying distributions on any junior securities, including the common units, unless full
cumulative distributions on the Series D Preferred Units (and any parity securities) have been, or contemporaneously are being, paid or set aside for
payment through the most recent Series D Preferred Unit distribution payment date. Any Series D Preferred Unit distributions in excess of $0.635 per unit
may be paid, in the Partnership’s sole discretion, in additional Series D Preferred Units, with the remainder paid in cash.
If we fail to pay in full any Series D Preferred Unit distribution amount, then, until we pay such distributions in full, the applicable distribution rate for each
of those distribution periods shall be increased by $0.048 per Series D Preferred Unit. In addition, if we fail to pay in full any Series D Preferred Unit
distribution amount for three consecutive distribution periods, then until we pay such distributions in full: (i) each holder of the Series D Preferred Units
may elect to convert its Series D Preferred Units into common units on a one-for-one basis, plus any unpaid Series D distributions, (ii) one person selected
by the holders holding a majority of the outstanding Series D Preferred Units shall become an additional member of our board of directors and (iii) we will
not be permitted to incur any indebtedness (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) or engage in any acquisitions or asset sales in excess of $50.0
million without the consent of the holders holding a majority of the outstanding Series D Preferred Units. In addition, we will permanently lose the ability
to pay any part of the distributions on the Series D Preferred Units in the form of additional Series D Preferred Units.
In January 2021, our board of directors declared a distribution of $0.682 per Series D Preferred Unit to be paid on March 15, 2021.
Series D Preferred Units Conversion and Redemption Features
On or after June 29, 2020, each holder of Series D Preferred Units may convert all or any portion of its Series D Preferred Units into common units on a
one-for-one basis (plus any unpaid Series D distributions), subject to anti-dilution adjustments, at any time, but not more than once per quarter, so long as
any conversion is for at least $50.0 million based on the Series D Preferred Unit Purchase Price (or such lesser amount representing all of a holder’s Series
D Preferred Units).
The Partnership may redeem all or any portion of the Series D Preferred Units, in an amount not less than $50.0 million for cash at a redemption price
equal to, as applicable: (i) $31.73 per Series D Preferred Unit at any time on or after June 29, 2023 but prior to June 29, 2024; (ii) $30.46 per Series D
Preferred Unit at any time on or after June 29, 2024 but prior to June 29, 2025; (iii) $29.19 per Series D Preferred Unit at any time on or after June 29,
2025; plus, in each case, the sum of any unpaid distributions on the applicable Series D Preferred Unit plus the distributions prorated for the number of
days elapsed (not to exceed 90) in the period of redemption (Series D Partial Period Distributions). The holders have the option to convert the units prior to
such redemption as discussed above.
Additionally, at any time on or after June 29, 2028, each holder of Series D Preferred Units will have the right to require the Partnership to redeem all of the
Series D Preferred Units held by such holder at a redemption price equal to $29.19 per Series D Preferred Unit plus any unpaid Series D distributions plus
the Series D Partial Period Distributions. If a holder of Series D Preferred Units exercises its redemption right, the Partnership may elect to pay up to 50%
of such amount in common units (which shall be valued at 93% of a volume-weighted average trading price of the common units); provided, that the
common units to be issued do not, in the aggregate, exceed 15% of NuStar Energy’s common equity market capitalization at the time.
Series D Preferred Units Change of Control
Upon certain events involving a change of control, each holder of the Series D Preferred Units may elect to: (i) convert its Series D Preferred Units into
common units on a one-for-one basis, plus any unpaid Series D distributions; (ii) require the Partnership to redeem its Series D Preferred Units for an
amount equal to the sum of (a) $29.82 per Series D Preferred Unit plus (b) any unpaid Series D distributions plus (c) the applicable distribution amount for
the distribution periods ending after the change of control event and prior to (but including) the fourth anniversary of the Initial Closing; (iii) if the
Partnership is the surviving entity and its common units continue to be listed, continue to hold its Series D Preferred Units; or (iv) if the Partnership will
not be the surviving entity, or it will be the surviving entity but its common units will cease to be listed, require the Partnership to use its commercially
reasonable efforts to deliver a security in the surviving entity that has substantially similar terms as the Series D Preferred Units; however, if the Partnership
is unable to deliver a mirror security, each holder is still entitled to option (i) or (ii) above.
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Registration Rights Agreement
On June 29, 2018, in connection with the Initial Closing and pursuant to the Series D Preferred Unit Purchase Agreement, the Partnership entered into a
Registration Rights Agreement (the Registration Rights Agreement) with the Purchasers relating to the registration of the Series D Preferred Units and
common units issuable upon conversion of the Series D Preferred Units (the Common Unit Registrable Securities, and, collectively with the Series D
Preferred Units, the Registrable Securities). Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Partnership is required to use its commercially reasonable
efforts to file a registration statement and to cause such registration statement to become effective: (i) with respect to the Common Unit Registrable
Securities, no later than one year after the Initial Closing; and (ii) with respect to the Series D Preferred Units, after the second anniversary of the Initial
Closing, no later than one year after receipt by the Partnership of a written request from holders holding a majority of the Series D Preferred Units to
register the Series D Preferred Units. In April 2019, the Securities and Exchange Commission declared effective the registration statement on Form S-3
filed by NuStar Energy to register the Common Unit Registrable Securities. With respect to the Series D Preferred Units, if the Partnership fails to cause
such registration statement to become effective by the applicable date, the Partnership will be required to pay certain amounts to the holders of the
Registrable Securities as liquidated damages.
Series D Preferred Units Accounting Treatment
The Series D Preferred Units include redemption provisions at the option of the holders of the Series D Preferred Units and upon a Series D Change of
Control (as defined in the partnership agreement), which are outside the Partnership’s control. Therefore, the Series D Preferred Units are presented in the
mezzanine section of the consolidated balance sheets. The Series D Preferred Units have been recorded at their issuance date fair value, net of issuance
costs. We reassess the presentation of the Series D Preferred Units in our consolidated balance sheets on a quarterly basis.
The Series D Preferred Units are subject to accretion from their carrying value at the issuance date to the redemption value, which is based on the
redemption right of the Series D Preferred Unit holders that may be exercised at any time on or after June 29, 2028, using the effective interest method over
a period of ten years. In the calculation of net income per unit, the accretion is treated in the same manner as a distribution and deducted from net income to
arrive at net income attributable to common units.
19. PARTNERS’ EQUITY
Please refer to Note 5 for a discussion of the Merger.
Partnership Agreement Amendments
In the third quarter of 2018, NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement was amended and restated to, among other things, (i) cancel the incentive distribution
rights held by our general partner, (ii) convert the 2% general partner interest in NuStar Energy held by our general partner into a non-economic
management interest and (iii) provide the holders of our common units with voting rights in the election of the members of the board of directors of NuStar
GP, LLC, beginning at the annual meeting in 2019. The partnership agreement was also amended and restated in the second quarter of 2018 in connection
with the issuance of our Series D Preferred Units discussed in Note 18.
Series A, B and C Preferred Units
The following is a summary of our Series A, Series B and Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Units (collectively
the Series A, B and C Preferred Units) issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020:

Units
Series A
Preferred Units
Series B
Preferred Units
Series C
Preferred Units

Original
Issuance Date
November 25,
2016
April 28, 2017
November 30,
2017

Number of
Units Issued
and
Outstanding
9,060,000

Price per
Unit
$ 25.00

Fixed Distribution
Rate per Annum (as a
Fixed
Percentage of the
Distribution
$25.00 Liquidation
Rate per Unit
Preference per Unit)
per Annum
8.50 % $
2.125

Fixed
Distribution per
Annum (in
thousands)
$
19,252

15,400,000

$

25.00

7.625 % $

1.90625

$

29,357

6,900,000

$

25.00

9.00 % $

2.25

$

15,525
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Optional
Redemption
Date/Date at
Which
Distribution Rate
Becomes Floating
December 15, 2021
June 15,
2022
December 15, 2022

Floating Annual Rate
(as a Percentage of the
$25.00 Liquidation
Preference per Unit)
Three-month LIBOR plus
6.766%
Three-month LIBOR plus
5.643%
Three-month LIBOR plus
6.88%
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We may redeem any of our outstanding Series A, B and C Preferred Units at any time on or after the optional redemption date set forth above for each
series of the Series A, B and C Preferred Units, in whole or in part, at a redemption price of $25.00 per unit plus an amount equal to all accumulated and
unpaid distributions to, but not including, the date of redemption, whether or not declared. We may also redeem the Series A, B and C Preferred Units upon
the occurrence of certain rating events or a change of control as defined in our partnership agreement. In the case of the latter instance, if we choose not to
redeem the Series A, B and C Preferred Units, those preferred unitholders may have the ability to convert their Series A, B and C Preferred Units to
common units at the then applicable conversion rate. Holders of the Series A, B and C Preferred Units have no voting rights except for certain exceptions
set forth in our partnership agreement.
Distributions on the Series A, B and C Preferred Units are payable out of any legally available funds, accrue and are cumulative from the original issuance
dates, and are payable on the 15th day (or the next business day) of each of March, June, September and December of each year to holders of record on the
first business day of each payment month. The Series A, B and C Preferred Units rank equal to each other and to the Series D Preferred Units, and senior to
all of our other classes of equity securities with respect to distribution rights and rights upon liquidation.
In January 2021, our board of directors declared quarterly distributions with respect to the Series A, B and C Preferred Units to be paid on March 15, 2021.
Common Units and General Partner
Issuances of Common Units. In the fourth quarter of 2019, we issued 527,426 common units at a price of $28.44 per unit to William E. Greehey, Chairman
of the Board of Directors of NuStar GP, LLC. We used the proceeds of $15.0 million from the sale of these units for general partnership purposes.
As a result of the Merger discussed in Note 5, we issued approximately 13.4 million incremental NuStar Energy common units in the third quarter of 2018,
in exchange for the previously outstanding Holdings units.
In the second quarter of 2018, we issued 413,736 common units at a price of $24.17 per unit to William E. Greehey. We used the proceeds of $10.2 million
from the sale of these units, including a contribution of $0.2 million from our general partner to maintain the 2% general partner economic interest it owned
at that time, for general partnership purposes.

The following table shows the balance of and changes in the number of our common units outstanding:
2020

Balance as of the beginning of year
Issuance of units
Unit-based compensation (refer to Note 23 for discussion)
Merger (refer to Note 5 for discussion)

108,527,806
—
940,321
—
109,468,127

Balance as of the end of year

Year Ended December 31,
2019

107,225,156
527,426
775,224
—
108,527,806

2018

93,176,683
413,736
225,144
13,409,593
107,225,156

Cash Distributions. We make quarterly distributions to common unitholders, and, prior to the Merger, made quarterly distributions to the general partner of
100% of our “Available Cash,” generally defined as cash receipts less cash disbursements, including distributions to our preferred units, and cash reserves
established by the general partner, in its sole discretion. These quarterly distributions are declared and paid within 45 days subsequent to each quarter-end.
The common unitholders receive a distribution each quarter as determined by the board of directors, subject to limitation by the distributions in arrears, if
any, on our preferred units.
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The following table summarizes information about cash distributions to our common limited partners applicable to the period in which the distributions
were earned:
Cash Distributions
Per Unit

Quarter ended:
December 31, 2020
September 30, 2020
June 30, 2020
March 31, 2020

$

Year ended December 31, 2020

$

0.40
0.40
0.40
0.40
1.60

Year ended December 31, 2019
Year ended December 31, 2018

$
$

2.40
2.40

Total Cash Distributions
(Thousands of Dollars)

$

$

43,787
43,678
43,678
43,730
174,873

$
$

259,136
248,705

Record Date

Payment Date

February 8, 2021
November 6, 2020
August 7, 2020
May 11, 2020

February 12, 2021
November 13, 2020
August 13, 2020
May 15, 2020

Because the Merger was effective prior to the record date for the distribution for the second quarter of 2018, the general partner received no distributions
after the first quarter of 2018 distribution. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the general partner earned $1.1 million in distributions related to the first
quarter of 2018.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The balance of and changes in the components included in AOCI were as follows:
Foreign
Currency
Translation

Balance as of January 1, 2018
Other comprehensive (loss) income before
reclassification adjustments
Sale of European Operations reclassified into other income, net
Net gain on pension costs reclassified into other income, net
Net loss on cash flow hedges reclassified into interest expense, net
Other
Other comprehensive income
Balance as of December 31, 2018
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification adjustments
Net gain on pension costs reclassified into other income, net
Net loss on cash flow hedges reclassified into interest expense, net
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Balance as of December 31, 2019
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification adjustments
Net gain on pension costs reclassified into other income, net
Net loss on cash flow hedges reclassified into interest expense, net
Other comprehensive income (loss)

$

Balance as of December 31, 2020

$

(51,603) $

92

Pension and
Other
Postretirement
Cash Flow Hedges
Benefits
(Thousands of Dollars)

(24,304) $

Total

(9,020) $

(84,927)

(13,880)
18,124
—
—
60
4,304
(47,299)

17,912
—
—
5,499
—
23,411
(893)

3,282
—
(814)
—
(134)
2,334
(6,686)

7,314
18,124
(814)
5,499
(74)
30,049
(54,878)

3,527
—
—
3,527
(43,772)

(19,045)
—
3,814
(15,231)
(16,124)

1,000
(2,314)
—
(1,314)
(8,000)

(14,518)
(2,314)
3,814
(13,018)
(67,896)

1,410
—
—
1,410
(42,362) $

(30,291)
—
4,265
(26,026)
(42,150) $

(2,924)
(1,220)
—
(4,144)
(12,144) $

(31,805)
(1,220)
4,265
(28,760)
(96,656)
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20. NET (LOSS) INCOME PER COMMON UNIT
As discussed in Note 18, the Series D Preferred Units are convertible into common units at the option of the holder at any time on or after June 29, 2020.
As such, we calculated the dilutive effect of the Series D Preferred Units using the if-converted method. The effect of the assumed conversion of the Series
D Preferred Units outstanding was antidilutive for each of the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018; therefore, we did not include such
conversion in the computation of diluted net (loss) income per common unit.
Contingently issuable performance units are included as dilutive potential common units if it is probable that the performance measures will be achieved,
unless to do so would be antidilutive. Refer to Note 23 for additional discussion.
The following table details the calculation of net loss per common unit:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
2018
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Unit and Per Unit Data)

Net (loss) income
Distributions to preferred limited partners
Distributions to general partner
Distributions to common limited partners
Distribution equivalent rights to restricted units
Distributions in excess of (loss) income

$

$

Distributions to common limited partners
Allocation of distributions in excess of (loss) income
Series D Preferred Unit accretion (refer to Note 18)
Loss to common unitholders attributable to the Merger (refer to Note 5)
Net loss attributable to common units

$

$

(198,983) $
(124,882)
—
(174,873)
(2,093)
(500,831) $

(105,693) $
(121,693)
—
(259,136)
(2,659)
(489,181) $

205,794
(92,540)
(1,141)
(248,705)
(2,045)
(138,637)

174,873 $
(500,831)
(17,626)
—
(343,584) $

259,136 $
(489,181)
(18,085)
—
(248,130) $

248,705
(138,659)
(8,195)
(377,079)
(275,228)

Basic weighted-average common units outstanding

109,155,117

107,789,030

99,490,495

Diluted common units outstanding:
Basic weighted-average common units outstanding
Effect of dilutive potential common units
Diluted weighted-average common units outstanding

109,155,117
—
109,155,117

107,789,030
65,669
107,854,699

99,490,495
40,677
99,531,172

Basic and diluted net loss per common unit

$

93

(3.15) $

(2.30) $

(2.77)
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21. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Changes in current assets and current liabilities were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

2020

Decrease (increase) in current assets:
Accounts receivable
Receivable from related party
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Increase (decrease) in current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued interest payable
Accrued liabilities
Taxes other than income tax
Changes in current assets and current liabilities

$

$

2018

14,589 $
—
1,340
(3,326)

(23,480) $
—
(866)
(5,103)

22,482
160
3,819
3,694

(25,455)
12,922
7,886
3,972
11,928 $

8,068
1,632
(19,740)
(5,276)
(44,765) $

8,003
(4,279)
39,862
4,521
78,262

The above changes in current assets and current liabilities differ from changes between amounts reflected in the applicable consolidated balance sheets due
to:
• the change in the amount accrued for capital expenditures;
• the effect of foreign currency translation;
• changes in the fair values of our interest rate swap agreements prior to termination;
• the effect of accrued compensation expense paid with fully vested common unit awards;
• the recognition of lease liabilities upon the adoption of ASC Topic 842;
• the reclassification of certain assets and liabilities to “Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities held for sale” on the consolidated balance sheets
(please refer to Note 4 for additional discussion); and
• current assets and current liabilities acquired and disposed of during the period.
Cash flows related to interest and income taxes were as follows:
2020

Cash paid for interest, net of amount capitalized
Cash paid for income taxes, net of tax refunds received

$
$

204,511
3,260

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

$
$

176,859
6,817

2018

$
$

183,078
8,535

Restricted cash is included in "Other long-term assets, net" on the consolidated balance sheets. “Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash” on the
consolidated statements of cash flows was included in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:
December 31,
2020
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents
Other long-term assets, net

$
$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

94

153,625
8,801
162,426

$
$

16,192
8,788
24,980
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22. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Thrift Plans
The NuStar Thrift Plan (the Thrift Plan) is a qualified defined contribution plan that became effective June 26, 2006. Participation in the Thrift Plan is
voluntary and open to substantially all our domestic employees upon their dates of hire. Thrift Plan participants can contribute from 1% up to 30% of their
total annual compensation to the Thrift Plan in the form of pre-tax and/or after tax employee contributions. We make matching contributions in an amount
equal to 100% of each participant’s employee contributions up to a maximum of 6% of the participant’s total annual compensation. The matching
contributions to the Thrift Plan for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 totaled $7.8 million, $7.6 million and $7.4 million, respectively.
The NuStar Excess Thrift Plan (the Excess Thrift Plan) is a nonqualified deferred compensation plan that became effective July 1, 2006. The Excess Thrift
Plan provides benefits to those employees whose compensation and/or annual contributions under the Thrift Plan are subject to the limitations applicable to
qualified retirement plans under the Code.
We also maintain other defined contribution plans for certain international employees located in Canada. We maintained plans for international employees
in the Caribbean Netherlands, United Kingdom and Netherlands prior to the St. Eustatius Disposition and the European Disposition on July 29, 2019 and
November 30, 2018, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, our costs for these plans totaled $0.5 million, $0.9
million and $2.5 million, respectively.
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits
The NuStar Pension Plan (the Pension Plan) is a qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plan that provides eligible U.S. employees with
retirement income as calculated under a cash balance formula. Under the cash balance formula, benefits are determined based on age, years of vesting
service and interest credits, and employees become fully vested in their benefits upon attaining three years of vesting service. Prior to January 1, 2014,
eligible employees were covered under either a cash balance formula or a final average pay formula (FAP). Effective January 1, 2014, the Pension Plan was
amended to freeze the FAP benefits as of December 31, 2013, and going forward, all eligible employees are covered under the cash balance formula
discussed above.
We also maintain an excess pension plan (the Excess Pension Plan), which is a nonqualified deferred compensation plan that provides benefits to a select
group of management or other highly compensated employees. Neither the Excess Thrift Plan nor the Excess Pension Plan is intended to constitute either a
qualified plan under the provisions of Section 401 of the Code or a funded plan subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act.
The Pension Plan and Excess Pension Plan are collectively referred to as the Pension Plans in the tables and discussion below. Our other postretirement
benefit plans include a contributory medical benefits plan for U.S. employees who retired prior to April 1, 2014 and, for employees who retire on or after
April 1, 2014, a partial reimbursement for eligible third-party health care premiums. We use December 31 as the measurement date for our pension and
other postretirement plans.
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The changes in the benefit obligation, the changes in fair value of plan assets, the funded status and the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance
sheets for our Pension Plans and other postretirement benefit plans as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
Pension Plans
2020

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation, January 1
Service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Participant contributions
Actuarial loss
Benefit obligation, December 31
Change in plan assets:
Plan assets at fair value, January 1
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Participant contributions
Plan assets at fair value, December 31
Reconciliation of funded status:
Fair value of plan assets at December 31
Less: Benefit obligation at December 31
Funded status at December 31
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets (a):
Accrued liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Net pension liability
Accumulated benefit obligation

$

$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$

Other Postretirement
Benefit Plans
2019
2020
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

167,257 $
9,174
4,693
(9,520)
—
15,081
186,685 $

141,833 $
9,549
5,480
(7,109)
—
17,504
167,257 $

13,196 $
529
399
(281)
44
793
14,680 $

10,908
431
453
(217)
62
1,559
13,196

159,036 $
21,758
11,453
(9,520)
—
182,727 $

126,949 $
28,064
11,132
(7,109)
—
159,036 $

— $
—
237
(281)
44
— $

—
—
155
(217)
62
—

182,727 $
186,685
(3,958) $

159,036 $
167,257
(8,221) $

— $
14,680
(14,680) $

—
13,196
(13,196)

(382) $
(3,576)
(3,958) $

(303) $
(7,918)
(8,221) $

(352) $
(14,328)
(14,680) $

(368)
(12,828)
(13,196)

181,263

$

164,183

$

14,680

$

13,196

(a) For the Pension Plan, since assets exceed the present value of expected benefit payments for the next 12 months, all of the liability is noncurrent. For the Excess
Pension Plan and the other postretirement benefit plans, since there are no assets, the current liability is the present value of expected benefit payments for the next
12 months; the remainder is noncurrent.

The actuarial loss related to the benefit obligation for our pension plans was primarily attributable to a decrease in the discount rates used to determine the
benefit obligation from 3.34% to 2.84% in 2020 and from 4.40% to 3.34% in 2019. The fair value of our plan assets is affected by the return on plan assets
resulting primarily from the performance of equity and bond markets during the period.
The Excess Pension Plan has no plan assets and an accumulated benefit obligation of $3.8 million and $3.7 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The accumulated benefit obligation is the present value of benefits earned to date, assuming no future salary increases, and for the Excess
Pension Plan, approximates the projected benefit obligation.
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The components of net periodic benefit cost (income) related to our Pension Plans and other postretirement benefit plans were as follows:
Pension Plans
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2020

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of prior service credit
Amortization of net actuarial loss
Excess Pension Plan settlement
Net periodic benefit cost (income)

$

$

9,174 $
4,693
(8,972)
(2,057)
1,845
136
4,819 $

9,549 $
5,480
(8,015)
(2,057)
846
—
5,803 $

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
Year Ended December 31,
2018
2020
2019
2018
(Thousands of Dollars)

9,621 $
4,824
(7,417)
(2,057)
2,174
—
7,145 $

529 $
399
—
(1,145)
137
—
(80) $

431 $
453
—
(1,145)
42
—
(219) $

504
429
—
(1,145)
214
—
2

We amortize prior service costs and credits on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of employees expected to receive benefits
under our Pension Plans and other postretirement benefit plans (“Amortization of prior service credit” in table above). We amortize the actuarial gains and
losses that exceed 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or market-related value of plan assets (smoothed asset value) over the average
remaining service period of active employees expected to receive benefits under our Pension Plans and other postretirement benefit plans (“Amortization of
net actuarial loss” in table above).
The service cost component of net periodic benefit cost (income) is reported in “General and administrative expenses” and “Operating expenses” on the
consolidated statements of (loss) income, and the remaining components of net periodic benefit cost (income) are reported in “Other (expense) income,
net.”
Adjustments to other comprehensive (loss) income related to our Pension Plans and other postretirement benefit plans were as follows:

2020

Net unrecognized (loss) gain arising during the
year:
Net actuarial (loss) gain
$
Net (gain) loss reclassified into income:
Amortization of prior service credit
Amortization of net actuarial loss
Net (gain) loss reclassified into income
Reclassification of stranded tax effects
Income tax benefit (expense)
Total changes to other comprehensive (loss)
income

$

Pension Plans
Year Ended December 31,
2019

(2,159) $

2,545

$

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
Year Ended December 31,
2018
2020
2019
2018
(Thousands of Dollars)

1,049

$

(793) $

(1,559) $

2,267

(2,057)
1,845
(212)

(2,057)
846
(1,211)

(2,057)
2,174
117

(1,145)
137
(1,008)

(1,145)
42
(1,103)

(1,145)
214
(931)

—
28

—
14

(74)
(69)

—
—

—
—

—
(25)

(1,801) $

(2,662) $

(2,343) $

1,348

97

$

1,023

$

1,311
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The amounts recorded as a component of “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” on the consolidated balance sheets related to our Pension Plans and
other postretirement benefit plans were as follows:
Other Postretirement
Benefit Plans
December 31,

Pension Plans
December 31,
2020

Unrecognized actuarial loss
Prior service credit
Deferred tax asset
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income,
net of tax

2019

2020
(Thousands of Dollars)

$

(24,878) $
10,433
118

(24,564) $
12,490
90

$

(14,327) $

(11,984) $

2019

(3,846) $
6,029
—
2,183

$

(3,190)
7,174
—
3,984

Investment Policies and Strategies
The investment policies and strategies for the assets of our qualified Pension Plan incorporate a well-diversified approach that is expected to earn long-term
returns from capital appreciation and a growing stream of current income. This approach recognizes that assets are exposed to risk, and the market value of
the Pension Plan’s assets may fluctuate from year to year. Risk tolerance is determined based on our financial ability to withstand risk within the investment
program and the willingness to accept return volatility. In line with the investment return objective and risk parameters, the Pension Plan’s mix of assets
includes a diversified portfolio of equity and fixed-income instruments. The aggregate asset allocation is reviewed on an annual basis. As of December 31,
2020, the target allocations for plan assets were 65% equity securities and 35% fixed income investments, with certain fluctuations permitted.
The overall expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for the Pension Plan is estimated using various models of asset returns. Model assumptions are
derived using historical data with the assumption that capital markets are informationally efficient. Three models are used to derive the long-term expected
returns for each asset class. Since each method has distinct advantages and disadvantages and differing results, an equal weighted average of the methods’
results is used.
Fair Value of Plan Assets
We disclose the fair value for each major class of plan assets in the Pension Plan in three levels: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices
for identical assets or liabilities in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not
active; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs for which little or no market data exists.
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The major classes of plan assets measured at fair value for the Pension Plan were as follows:
December 31, 2020
Level 2
Level 3
(Thousands of Dollars)

Level 1

Cash equivalent securities
Equity securities:
U.S. large cap equity fund (a)
International stock index fund (b)
Fixed income securities:
Bond market index fund (c)
Total

$

2,125

$

—
20,732
55,013
77,870

$

$

—

—
104,857

$

$

$

—

2,125

—
—
—
—

$

104,857
20,732

$

55,013
182,727

$

December 31, 2019
Level 2
Level 3
(Thousands of Dollars)

160

$

$

104,857
—

Level 1

Cash equivalent securities
Equity securities:
U.S. large cap equity fund (a)
International stock index fund (b)
Fixed income securities:
Bond market index fund (c)
Total

—

Total

Total

—

$

160

—
17,473

92,737
—

—
—

92,737
17,473

48,666
66,299

—
92,737

—
—

48,666
159,036

$

$

$

(a) This fund is a low-cost equity index fund not actively managed that tracks the S&P 500. Fair values were estimated using pricing models, quoted prices of
securities with similar characteristics or discounted cash flows.
(b) This fund tracks the performance of the Total International Composite Index.
(c) This fund tracks the performance of the Barclays Capital U.S. Aggregate Bond Index.

Contributions to the Pension Plans
For the year ended December 31, 2020, we contributed $11.5 million and $0.2 million to the Pension Plans and other postretirement benefit plans,
respectively. During 2021, we expect to contribute approximately $9.4 million and $0.3 million to the Pension Plans and other postretirement benefit plans,
respectively, which principally represent contributions either required by regulations or laws, or with respect to unfunded plans, necessary to fund current
benefits.
Estimated Future Benefit Payments
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid for the years ending December 31:
Pension Plans

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030

$
$
$
$
$
$

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
(Thousands of Dollars)

9,771
10,030
10,329
10,846
11,558
61,321

99

$
$
$
$
$
$

352
397
451
483
529
3,355
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Assumptions
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations were as follows:
Pension Plans
December 31,
2020

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Cash balance interest crediting rate

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
December 31,
2020
2019

2019

2.84 %
3.51 %
2.00 %

3.34 %
3.51 %
2.00 %

2.83 %
n/a
n/a

3.43 %
n/a
n/a

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost (income) were as follows:

2020

Discount rate
Expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase
Cash balance interest crediting rate

Pension Plans
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2020

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

3.34 %

4.40 %

3.72 %

3.43 %

4.53 %

3.82 %

6.50 %
3.51 %
2.00 %

6.50 %
3.51 %
2.90 %

6.50 %
3.51 %
2.00 %

n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a

The assumed health care cost trend rates were as follows:
December 31,
2020

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year
Rate to which the cost trend rate was assumed to decrease (the ultimate trend rate)
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate

2019

6.84 %
5.00 %
2028

6.84 %
5.00 %
2028

We sponsor a contributory postretirement health care plan for employees who retired prior to April 1, 2014. The plan has an annual limitation (a cap) on the
increase of the employer’s share of the cost of covered benefits. The cap on the increase in employer’s cost is 2.5% per year.
23. UNIT-BASED COMPENSATION
Overview
2019 LTIP. In April 2019, our common unitholders approved the 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2019 LTIP) for eligible employees, consultants and
directors of NuStar Energy L.P., and of NuStar GP, LLC, and their respective affiliates who perform services for us and our subsidiaries. The 2019 LTIP
allows for the awarding of (i) options; (ii) restricted units; (iii) distribution equivalent rights (DERs); (iv) performance cash; (v) performance units; and (vi)
unit awards. DERs entitle the participant to receive cash equal to cash distributions made on any award prior to its vesting. The 2019 LTIP permits the
granting of awards totaling an aggregate of 2,500,000 common units, subject to adjustment as provided in the 2019 LTIP. The 2019 LTIP generally will be
administered by the compensation committee of our board of directors. As of December 31, 2020, a total of 399,790 common units remained available to
be awarded under the 2019 LTIP.
2000 LTIP. We sponsor the 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (2000 LTIP), which terminated with respect to new grants when the unitholders
approved the 2019 LTIP. However, unvested restricted unit and performance unit awards granted under the 2000 LTIP remain outstanding.
2006 LTIP. Effective July 20, 2018 and in conjunction with the Merger, we assumed the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (the 2006 LTIP).
Prior to the Merger, Holdings sponsored the 2006 LTIP. At the effective time of the Merger, each outstanding award of Holdings restricted units was
converted, on the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the awards immediately prior to the Merger, into an award of NuStar Energy restricted
units. The number of NuStar Energy restricted units subject to the converted awards was determined pursuant to the 0.55 exchange ratio provided in the
Merger agreement. The Holdings units remaining available to be awarded under the 2006 LTIP were also converted pursuant to the
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exchange ratio provided in the Merger agreement. Effective with the approval of the 2019 LTIP, the 2006 LTIP terminated with respect to new grants;
however, unvested restricted unit awards granted under the 2006 LTIP remain outstanding.
The following table summarizes information pertaining to all of our long-term incentive plans:

2020

Restricted units:
Domestic employees
Non-employee directors (NEDs)
International employees
Performance awards
Unit awards
Total

Units Outstanding
December 31,
2019

2,235,125
98,769
19,987
87,122
—
2,441,003

1,223,143
61,349
10,243
161,561
—
1,456,296

2018

1,028,484
59,752
30,918
158,326
—
1,277,480

2020

$

$

Compensation Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

10,205
631
58
1,291
—
12,185

$

$

9,437
774
711
4,172
22,941
38,035

$

$

2018

8,233
524
1,158
1,889
18,895
30,699

Restricted Units
Our restricted unit awards are considered phantom units, as they represent the right to receive our common units upon vesting. We account for restricted
units as either equity-classified awards or liability-classified awards, depending on expected method of settlement. Awards we settle with the issuance of
common units upon vesting are equity-classified. Awards we settle in cash upon vesting are liability-classified. We record compensation expense ratably
over the vesting period based on the fair value of the common units at the grant date (for domestic employees and NEDs) or the fair value of the common
units measured at each reporting period (for international employees). DERs paid with respect to outstanding equity-classified unvested restricted units
reduce equity, similar to cash distributions to unitholders, whereas DERs paid with respect to outstanding liability-classified unvested restricted units are
expensed. In connection with the DERs for equity awards, we paid $2.1 million, $2.7 million and $2.0 million respectively, in cash, for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
Domestic Employees. The outstanding restricted units granted to domestic employees are equity-classified awards and generally vest over five years,
beginning one year after the grant date. The fair value of these awards is measured at the grant date.
Non-Employee Directors. The outstanding restricted units granted to NEDs are equity-classified awards that vest over three years. On January 1, 2019 we
adopted amended guidance that allows for the fair value of these awards to be measured at the grant date. The unvested restricted units granted to NEDs as
of January 1, 2019 were measured at the fair value as of that date. Previously, the fair value of these awards was equal to the market price of our common
units at each reporting period.
International Employees. The outstanding restricted units granted to international employees are cash-settled and accounted for as liability-classified
awards. These awards vest over three years and the fair value is equal to the market price of our common units at each reporting period. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, we granted 14,581 restricted units and 4,837 restricted units vested.
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A summary of our equity-classified restricted unit awards is as follows:
Measured at Grant Date Fair Value
Weighted-Average Fair Value Per
Number of Units
Unit

Nonvested units as of January 1, 2018
Converted on July 20, 2018
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested units as of December 31, 2018
Change in measurement (a)
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested units as of December 31, 2019
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested units as of December 31, 2020

736,746 $
53,447
518,282
(235,746)
(44,245)
1,028,484
59,752
596,881
(328,386)
(72,239)
1,284,492
1,454,998
(374,847)
(30,749)
2,333,894

35.95
24.99
24.07
35.12
36.05
29.47
20.93
26.46
30.11
28.05
27.48
12.10
28.47
26.75
17.70

Measured at Market Price
Number of NEDs Units

27,097
18,915
34,303
(20,563)
—
59,752
(59,752)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(a) On January 1, 2019 we adopted amended guidance that allows for the fair value of these awards to be measured at the grant date. The unvested restricted units
granted to NEDs as of January 1, 2019 were measured at the fair value as of that date.

The total fair value of our equity-classified restricted unit awards vested for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $4.6 million, $9.3
million and $6.2 million, respectively. We issued 275,146, 242,199 and 189,399 common units in connection with these award vestings, net of employee
tax withholding requirements, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Unrecognized compensation cost related to our equityclassified employee awards totaled $38.1 million as of December 31, 2020, which we expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 3.8 years.
Performance Awards
Performance awards are issued to certain of our key employees and represent either rights to receive our common units or cash upon achieving
performance measures for the performance period established by the NuStar GP, LLC Compensation Committee. Achievement of the performance
measures determines the rate at which the performance awards convert into our common units or cash, which ranges from zero to 200% for certain awards.
Performance awards vest in three annual increments (tranches), based upon our achievement of the performance measures set by the Compensation
Committee during the performance periods that end on December 31 of each applicable year. Therefore, the performance awards are not considered granted
for accounting purposes until the Compensation Committee has set the performance measures for each tranche of awards. Performance unit awards are
equity-classified awards measured at the grant date fair value. In addition, since the performance unit awards granted do not receive DERs, the grant date
fair value of these awards is reduced by the per unit distributions expected to be paid to common unitholders during the vesting period. Performance cash
awards are accounted for as a liability but may be settled in common units. We record compensation expense ratably for each vesting tranche over its
requisite service period (one year) if it is probable that the specified performance measures will be achieved. Additionally, changes in the actual or
estimated outcomes that affect the quantity of performance awards expected to be converted into common units or paid in cash, are recognized as a
cumulative adjustment. Performance units vested relate to the performance for the performance period ended December 31 of the previous year.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
A summary of our performance unit awards is shown below:
Total Performance
Unit Awards

Outstanding as of January 1, 2018
Granted
Forfeitures
Outstanding as of December 31, 2018
Granted
Vested
Forfeitures
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019
Granted
Performance adjustment (a)
Vested

80,961
116,230
(38,865)
158,326
95,969
(80,690)
(12,044)
161,561
—
72,951
(147,390)
87,122

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020

Granted for Accounting Purposes
Weighted-Average Grant Date
Performance Unit Awards
Fair Value per Unit

38,865 $
80,690
(38,865)
80,690
74,439
(80,690)
—
74,439
57,448
72,951
(147,390)
57,448

50.04
23.43
50.04
23.43
28.01
23.43
—
28.01
13.21
28.01
28.01
13.21

(a) Common units granted and issued upon vesting of performance units earned at 198% of target related to the performance awards granted in 2019 and 2018.

The total fair value of our performance unit awards vested for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $4.2 million and $2.1 million,
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we issued 93,440 and 50,054 common units in connection with these award vestings, net of
employee tax withholding requirements, respectively, that relate to the performance periods ended December 31 of each previous year. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, no performance units vested with respect to the performance period ended December 31, 2017.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, performance cash awards of $2.2 million were granted that vest in three annual tranches. On February 1, 2021, we
settled the first tranche of the performance cash awards in common units, and together with the performance unit awards, we issued 58,070 common units,
net of employee tax withholding requirements.
Unit Awards
Unit awards are equity-classified awards of fully vested common units. We accrued compensation expense in 2019 and 2018 that was paid in unit awards in
the first quarter of the subsequent year. We base the number of unit awards granted on the fair value of the common units at the grant date. A summary of
our unit awards is shown below:
Date of Grant

February and March 2020
February 2019
July 2018

Grant Date Fair Value
(Thousands of Dollars)

$
$
$

22,941
17,537
1,358
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Unit Awards Granted

834,224
704,886
55,133

Common Units Issued, Net of
Employee Withholding Tax

571,735
482,971
35,745
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24. INCOME TAXES
Components of income tax expense related to certain of our continuing operations conducted through separate taxable wholly owned corporate subsidiaries
were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

2020

Current:
U.S.
Foreign
Foreign withholding tax
Total current

$

Deferred:
U.S.
Foreign
Foreign withholding tax
Total deferred
Less: amounts reported in discontinued operations
Income tax expense

$

36
2,415
—
2,451

$

3,741
1,489
101
5,331

2018

$

4,515
4,658
192
9,365

300
(621)
533
212

(490)
(168)
182
(476)

1,403
394
246
2,043

—

101

1,251

2,663

$

4,754

$

10,157

The difference between income tax expense recorded in our consolidated statements of (loss) income and income taxes computed by applying the
applicable statutory federal income tax rate to income before income tax expense is due to the fact that the majority of our income is not subject to federal
income tax due to our status as a limited partnership. We record a tax provision related to the amount of undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries
expected to be repatriated.
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The tax effects of significant temporary differences representing deferred income tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
December 31,
2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Deferred income tax assets:
Net operating losses
Employee benefits
Environmental and legal reserves
Capital loss
Other
Total deferred income tax assets
Less: Valuation allowance
Net deferred income tax assets

$

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Foreign withholding tax
Other
Total deferred income tax liabilities
Net deferred income tax liability

$

18,459 $
134
105
10,813
834
30,345
(28,211)
2,134

26,081
372
267
3,870
693
31,283
(17,743)
13,540

(13,772)
(1,002)
(371)
(15,145)

(25,169)
(433)
(365)
(25,967)

(13,011) $

(12,427)

As of December 31, 2020, our U.S. and foreign corporate operations have net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes totaling $58.0 million and
$21.0 million, respectively, which are subject to various limitations on use and expire in years 2025 through 2037 for U.S. losses and in years 2019 through
2029 for foreign losses. However, U.S. losses generated after December 31, 2017, totaling $4.9 million, can be carried forward indefinitely. As of
December 31, 2020, our U.S. corporate operations have a capital loss carryforward for tax purposes totaling $51.5 million, of which $17.7 million is
subject to limitations on use and expires in 2024, and the remaining amount expires in 2025.
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we have a valuation allowance of $28.2 million and $17.7 million, respectively, related to our deferred tax assets on
net operating losses and capital losses. We estimate the amount of valuation allowance based upon our expectations of taxable income in the various
jurisdictions in which we operate and the period over which we can utilize those future deductions. The valuation allowance reflects uncertainties related to
our ability to utilize certain net operating loss carryforwards before they expire. In 2020, there was a $10.0 million increase in the valuation allowance for
the U.S. net operating loss and a $0.5 million increase in the foreign net operating loss valuation allowance due to the Texas City Sale and changes in our
estimates of the amount of loss carryforwards that will be realized, based upon future taxable income.
The realization of net deferred income tax assets recorded as of December 31, 2020 is dependent upon our ability to generate future taxable income in the
United States. We believe it is more likely than not that the net deferred income tax assets as of December 31, 2020 will be realized, based on expected
future taxable income.
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25. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Our reportable business segments consist of the pipeline, storage and fuels marketing segments. Our segments represent strategic business units that offer
different services and products. We evaluate the performance of each segment based on its respective operating income, before general and administrative
expenses and certain non-segmental depreciation and amortization expense. General and administrative expenses are not allocated to the operating
segments since those expenses relate primarily to the overall management at the entity level. Our principal operations include the transportation of
petroleum products and anhydrous ammonia, and the terminalling, storage and marketing of petroleum products. Intersegment revenues result from storage
agreements with wholly owned subsidiaries of NuStar Energy at rates consistent with the rates charged to third parties for storage.
Results of operations for the reportable segments were as follows:
2020

Revenues:
Pipeline
Storage:
Third parties
Intersegment
Total storage
Fuels marketing
Consolidation and intersegment eliminations
Total revenues

$

$

Depreciation and amortization expense:
Pipeline
Storage
Total segment depreciation and amortization expense
Other depreciation and amortization expense
Total depreciation and amortization expense

$

$

Operating income:
Pipeline
Storage
Fuels marketing
Consolidation and intersegment eliminations
Total segment operating income
General and administrative expenses
Other depreciation and amortization expense
Total operating income

$

$

106

718,823

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

$

494,396
46
494,442
268,345
(46)
1,481,564 $

177,384
99,092
276,476
8,625
285,101

$

118,429
189,781
12,233
—
320,443
102,716
8,625
209,102

$

$

$

701,830

2018

$

611,065

453,976
25
454,001
342,215
(25)
1,498,021 $

443,546
42
443,588
465,651
(42)
1,520,262

166,991
97,573
264,564
8,360
272,924

$

$

153,943
93,345
247,288
8,604
255,892

332,480 $
154,105
20,578
(32)
507,131
107,855
8,360
390,916 $

272,695
155,708
15,964
32
444,399
100,067
8,604
335,728
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Revenues by geographic area are shown in the table below:
2020

United States
Foreign
Consolidated revenues

$
$

1,441,892
39,672
1,481,564

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

$
$

1,465,135
32,886
1,498,021

2018

$

1,481,844
38,418
1,520,262

$

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, Valero Energy Corporation accounted for approximately 20%, or $295.1 million, 21%, or $307.2
million, and 20%, or $303.7 million, of our revenues, respectively. These revenues were included in all of our reportable business segments. No other
single customer accounted for 10% or more of our consolidated revenues.
Total amounts of property, plant and equipment, net by geographic area were as follows:
December 31,
2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

United States
Foreign
Consolidated property, plant and equipment, net

$
$

3,837,550
119,962
3,957,512

$

4,000,647
118,332
4,118,979

$

Total assets by reportable segment were as follows:
December 31,
2020

2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

Pipeline
Storage
Fuels marketing
Total segment assets
Other partnership assets
Total consolidated assets

$

$

3,609,508
1,897,167
31,967
5,538,642
278,376
5,817,018

$

$

3,884,819
2,082,832
31,064
5,998,715
187,277
6,185,992

Capital expenditures, including acquisitions, by reportable segment were as follows:
2020

Pipeline
Storage
Other partnership assets
Total capital expenditures

$

$

122,512
71,788
3,779
198,079

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(Thousands of Dollars)

$

$

387,702
141,972
3,894
533,568

2018

$

$

288,035
202,782
4,137
494,954

Capital expenditures have not been adjusted to separately disclose those capital expenditures related to discontinued operations, which are included in the
storage segment totaling $28.0 million and $114.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Our management has evaluated, with the participation of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer of NuStar GP, LLC, the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered by
this report, and has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2020.
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
(a)

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

Management’s report on NuStar Energy L.P.’s internal control over financial reporting appears in Item 8. of this Form 10-K, and is incorporated herein by
reference.
(b)

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm.

The report of KPMG LLP on NuStar Energy L.P.’s internal control over financial reporting appears in Item 8. of this Form 10-K, and is incorporated herein
by reference.
(c)

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information required to be disclosed under this Item 10 is incorporated by reference to the following sections of our Proxy Statement for the 2021 annual
meeting of unitholders, which is expected to be filed within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K (Proxy Statement):
“Corporate Governance-Leadership and Governance,” “Corporate Governance-Committees of the Board,” “Corporate Governance-Governance Documents
and Codes of Ethics,” “Corporate Governance-Communications with the Board of Directors,” “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports,” “Proposal No. 1
Election of Directors” and “Information About Our Executive Officers.”
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information required to be disclosed under this Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the following sections of our Proxy Statement: “Corporate
Governance-Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Compensation Committee Report,” “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis,” “Evaluation of Compensation Risk,” “Summary Compensation Table,” “Pay Ratio,” “Grants of Plan-Based Awards During the Year Ended
December 31, 2020,” “Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2020,” “Option Exercises and Units Vested During the Year Ended December 31,
2020,” “Pension Benefits for the Year Ended December 31, 2020,” “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for the Year Ended December 31, 2020,”
“Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control” and “Director Compensation.”
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED UNITHOLDER
MATTERS
Information required to be disclosed under this Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the following sections of our Proxy Statement: “Security
Ownership-Security Ownership of Management and Directors,” “Security Ownership-Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” and “Security
Ownership-Equity Compensation Plan Information.”
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information required to be disclosed under this Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the following sections of our Proxy Statement: “Corporate
Governance-Director Independence,” “Corporate Governance-Board Leadership and Governance” and “Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions.”
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Information required to be disclosed under this Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the following sections of our Proxy Statement: “KPMG Fees” and
“Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy.”
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)

(1) Financial Statements. The following consolidated financial statements of NuStar Energy L.P. and its subsidiaries are included in Part II,
Item 8 of this Form 10-K:
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG LLP)
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of (Loss) Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Partners’ Equity and Mezzanine Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(2) Financial Statement Schedules and Other Financial Information. No financial statement schedules are submitted because either they are
inapplicable or because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits.
The following are filed or furnished, as applicable, as part of this Form 10-K:

Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference
to the Following Document

Description

3.01

Amended and Restated Certificate of Limited Partnership of
Shamrock Logistics, L.P. (n/k/a NuStar Energy L.P.), effective
January 1, 2002

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 3.3

3.02

Amendment to Certificate of Limited Partnership of Valero L.P.
(n/k/a NuStar Energy L.P.), dated March 21, 2007 and effective
April 1, 2007

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March
27, 2007 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 3.01

3.03

Eighth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of NuStar Energy L.P., dated as of July 20, 2018

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 20,
2018 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 3.1

3.04

Amended and Restated Certificate of Limited Partnership of
Shamrock Logistics Operations, L.P. (n/k/a NuStar Logistics,
L.P.), dated as of January 7, 2002 and effective January 8, 2002

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 3.8

3.05

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Limited Partnership
of Valero Logistics Operations, L.P. (n/k/a NuStar Logistics,
L.P.), dated March 21, 2007 and effective April 1, 2007

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended March 31, 2007 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit
3.03

3.06

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Limited Partnership
of NuStar Logistics, L.P., dated and effective as of March 18,
2014

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2014 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 3.09

3.07

Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of Shamrock Logistics Operations, L.P. (n/k/a
NuStar Logistics, L.P.), dated as of April 16, 2001

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 3.9

3.08

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement
of Limited Partnership of Shamrock Logistics Operations, L.P.
(n/k/a NuStar Logistics, L.P.), effective as of April 16, 2001

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended June 30, 2001 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.1

3.09

Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated
Agreement of Limited Partnership of Shamrock Logistics
Operations, L.P. (n/k/a NuStar Logistics, L.P.), dated as of
January 7, 2002

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 3.10
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Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference
to the Following Document

Description

3.10

Certificate of Limited Partnership of Riverwalk Logistics, L.P.,
dated as of June 5, 2000

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
August 14, 2000 (File No. 333-43668), Exhibit 3.7

3.11

First Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of
Riverwalk Logistics, L.P., dated as of April 16, 2001

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 3.16

3.12

Certificate of Formation of Shamrock Logistics GP, LLC (n/k/a
NuStar GP, LLC), dated as of December 7, 1999

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
August 14, 2000 (File No. 333-43668), Exhibit 3.9

3.13

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Formation of
Shamrock Logistics GP, LLC (n/k/a NuStar GP, LLC), dated as
of December 31, 2001

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 3.14

3.14

Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Formation of Valero
GP, LLC (n/k/a NuStar GP, LLC), dated March 21, 2007 and
effective April 1, 2007

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended March 31, 2007 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit
3.02

3.15

Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company
Agreement of NuStar GP, LLC, dated as of July 20, 2018

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
July 20, 2018 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 3.2

4.01

Description of Securities

*

4.02

Indenture, dated as of July 15, 2002, among Valero Logistics
Operations, L.P., as Issuer, Valero L.P., as Guarantor, and The
Bank of New York, as Trustee, relating to Senior Debt
Securities

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
July 15, 2002 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.1

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2005, to
Indenture dated as of July 15, 2002, as amended and
supplemented, among Valero Logistics Operations, L.P., Valero
L.P., Kaneb Pipe Line Operating Partnership, L.P., and The
Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended June 30, 2005 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.02

4.04

Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance, dated
March 31, 2008, among NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy
L.P., Kaneb Pipeline Operating Partnership, L.P., The Bank of
New York Trust Company N.A., and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.05

4.05

Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 2, 2012, to
Indenture dated as of July 15, 2002, among NuStar Logistics,
L.P., as Issuer, NuStar Energy L.P., as Guarantor, NuStar
Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P., as Affiliate Guarantor, and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Successor Trustee

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
February 7, 2012 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.3

4.06

Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 28, 2017,
among NuStar Logistics, L.P., as Issuer, NuStar Energy L.P., as
Guarantor, NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P., as
Affiliate Guarantor, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Successor Trustee

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April
28, 2017 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.4

4.03
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Exhibit
Number
4.07

Incorporated by Reference
to the Following Document

Description
Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 22, 2019,
among NuStar Logistics, L.P., as Issuer, NuStar Energy L.P., as
Guarantor, NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P., as
Affiliate Guarantor, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Successor Trustee

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May
22, 2019 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.3

4.08

Tenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 14, 2020,
among NuStar Logistics, L.P., as Issuer, NuStar Energy L.P., as
Guarantor, NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P., as
Affiliate Guarantor, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Successor Trustee

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
September 14, 2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.3

4.09

Indenture, dated as of January 22, 2013, among NuStar
Logistics, L.P., as Issuer, NuStar Energy L.P., as Guarantor, and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee, relating to
Subordinated Debt Securities

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January
22, 2013 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.1

4.10

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 22, 2013,
among NuStar Logistics, L.P., as Issuer, NuStar Energy L.P., as
Parent Guarantor, NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.,
as Affiliate Guarantor, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as Trustee

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January
22, 2013 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.2

4.11

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 29, 2018, by
and among NuStar Energy L.P. and the Purchasers party thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June
29, 2018 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 4.2

10.01

Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving Credit Agreement,
dated as of October 29, 2014, among NuStar Logistics, L.P.,
NuStar Energy L.P., the Lenders party thereto and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, SunTrust Bank and
Mizuho Bank, Ltd., as Co-Syndication Agents, Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association and PNC Bank, National
Association, as Co-Documentation Agents, and J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC, SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., Mizuho
Bank, Ltd., Wells Fargo Securities, LLC and PNC Capital
Markets LLC, as Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Arrangers

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October
31, 2014 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.1

10.02

First Amendment to Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving
Credit Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2015, among NuStar
Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders party thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended June 30, 2015 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit
10.01

10.03

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated 5-Year
Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of August 22, 2017,
among NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders
party thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August
22, 2017 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01
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Number

Incorporated by Reference
to the Following Document

Description

10.04

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving
Credit Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2017, among
NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders party
thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
November 22, 2017 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

10.05

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving
Credit Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2018, among NuStar
Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders party thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March
28, 2018 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.02

10.06

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving
Credit Agreement, dated as of June 29, 2018, among NuStar
Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders party thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June
29, 2018 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.3

10.07

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving
Credit Agreement, dated as of September 12, 2019, among
NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders party
thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
September 12, 2019 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

10.08

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated 5-Year
Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 6, 2020,
among NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders
party thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March
6, 2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

10.09

Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving
Credit Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2020, among NuStar
Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders party thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 7,
2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

10.10

Ninth Amendment to Amended and Restated 5-Year Revolving
Credit Agreement, dated as of February 16, 2021, among
NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P., JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders party
thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
February 18, 2021 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

10.11

Lease Agreement between the Parish of St. James, State of
Louisiana and NuStar Logistics, L.P. dated as of June 1, 2008

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 5,
2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.1

10.12

First Supplement and Amendment to Lease Agreement (Series
2008), dated June 1, 2020, among the Parish of St. James, State
of Louisiana, NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P. and
NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 5,
2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.2

10.13

Lease Agreement Between Parish of St. James, State of
Louisiana and NuStar Logistics, L.P. dated as of July 1, 2010

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 21,
2010 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

10.14

First Supplement and Amendment to Lease Agreement (Series
2010), dated June 1, 2020, among the Parish of St. James, State
of Louisiana, NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P. and
NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 5,
2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.4
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Lease Agreement between the Parish of St. James, State of
Louisiana and NuStar Logistics, L.P. dated as of October 1,
2010

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 5,
2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.5

First Supplement and Amendment to Lease Agreement (Series
2010A), dated June 1, 2020, among the Parish of St. James,
State of Louisiana, NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P.
and NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 5,
2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.6

Lease Agreement between Parish of St. James, State of
Louisiana and NuStar Logistics, L.P. dated as of December 1,
2010

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
December 30, 2010 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

First Supplement and Amendment to Lease Agreement (Series
2010B), dated June 1, 2020, among the Parish of St. James,
State of Louisiana, NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P.
and NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 5,
2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.8

Lease Agreement between Parish of St. James, State of
Louisiana and NuStar Logistics, L.P. dated as of August 1, 2011

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August
10, 2011 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

First Supplement and Amendment to Lease Agreement (Series
2011), dated June 1, 2020, among the Parish of St. James, State
of Louisiana, NuStar Logistics, L.P., NuStar Energy L.P. and
NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 5,
2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.10

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2015,
among NuStar Energy Services, Inc., NuStar Logistics, L.P.,
NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P. and NuStar Supply
& Trading LLC, as Originators, NuStar Energy L.P., as
Servicer, and NuStar Finance LLC, as Buyer

NuStar Energy L.P.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 19,
2015 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.1

Receivables Financing Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2015,
by and among NuStar Finance LLC, as Borrower, the persons
from time to time party thereto as Lenders and Group Agents,
PNC Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and
NuStar Energy L.P., as initial Servicer

NuStar Energy L.P.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 19,
2015 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.2

Omnibus Amendment, dated as of January 15, 2016, which is
the First Amendment to the Purchase and Sale Agreement
referenced above and the First Amendment to the Receivables
Financing Agreement referenced above among the respective
parties thereto

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2015 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.26

10.24

Second Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as
of September 20, 2017, by and among the Originators listed
therein, NuStar Energy L.P., NuStar Finance LLC, Mizuho
Bank, Ltd. and PNC Bank, National Association

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
September 20, 2017 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

10.25

Second Amendment to Receivables Financing Agreement,
dated as of September 20, 2017, by and among NuStar Finance,
LLC, as Borrower, NuStar Energy L.P., as initial Servicer,
Mizuho Bank, Ltd. and PNC Bank, National Association

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
September 20, 2017 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.02

10.16

10.17
10.18

10.19
10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23
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10.26

Third Amendment to Receivables Financing Agreement, dated
as of March 28, 2018, by and among NuStar Finance, LLC, as
Borrower, NuStar Energy L.P., as initial Servicer, Mizuho Bank,
Ltd. and PNC Bank, National Association

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March
28, 2018 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

10.27

Fourth Amendment to Receivables Financing Agreement, dated
as of April 29, 2019, by and among NuStar Finance, LLC, as
Borrower, NuStar Energy L.P., as initial Servicer, Mizuho Bank,
Ltd. and PNC Bank, National Association

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April
29, 2019 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.1

10.28

Fifth Amendment to Receivables Financing Agreement, dated
as of September 3, 2020, by and among NuStar Finance, LLC,
as Borrower, NuStar Energy L.P., as initial Servicer, and PNC
Bank, National Association

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
September 3, 2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.01

+10.29

NuStar GP, LLC Fifth Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, amended and restated as of January 28, 2016

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2017 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.30

+10.30

First Amendment to the NuStar GP, LLC Fifth Amended and
Restated 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan, dated as of February
7, 2018

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2017 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.31

+10.31

Form of Restricted Unit Award Agreement under the NuStar
GP, LLC Fifth Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term
Incentive Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2016 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.28

+10.32

Form of 2018 Performance Unit Award Agreement under the
NuStar GP, LLC Fifth Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term
Incentive Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 25,
2018 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.1

+10.33

Form of 2018 Non-employee Director Restricted Unit Award
Agreement under the NuStar GP, LLC Fifth Amended and
Restated 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended September 30, 2018 (File No. 001-16417),
Exhibit 10.08

+10.34

NuStar GP Holdings, LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan, amended
and restated as of April 1, 2007

NuStar GP Holdings, LLC’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-32040), Exhibit
10.04

+10.35

First Amendment to the NuStar GP Holdings, LLC Long-Term
Incentive Plan, dated as of February 7, 2018

NuStar GP Holdings, LLC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
year ended December 31, 2017 (File No. 001-32040), Exhibit
10.46

+10.36

Form of Converted Award Agreement under the NuStar GP
Holdings, LLC Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive
Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 20,
2018 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.1

+10.37

Form of Restricted Unit Award Agreement under the NuStar
GP Holdings, LLC Amended and Restated Long-Term
Incentive Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended September 30, 2018 (File No. 001-16417),
Exhibit 10.06

+10.38

NuStar Energy L.P. 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April
23, 2019 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.1

+10.39

Form of Restricted Unit Award Agreement under the NuStar
Energy L.P. 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April
23, 2019 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.2

+10.40

Form of Non-employee Director Restricted Unit Award
Agreement under the NuStar Energy L.P. 2019 Long-Term
Incentive Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April
23, 2019 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.3

+10.41

Form of 2019 Performance Unit Award Agreement under the
NuStar Energy L.P. 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended June 30, 2019 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit
10.07
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+10.42

Form of 2020 Performance Cash Award Agreement under the
NuStar Energy L.P. 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended June 30, 2020 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit
10.11

+10.43

Form of 2020 Restricted Unit Award Agreement under the
NuStar Energy L.P. 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan

*

+10.44

NuStar Energy L.P. Annual Bonus Plan

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2006 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.18

+10.45

Form of NuStar Energy L.P. Amended and Restated Change of
Control Severance Agreement

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August
4, 2016 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.1

+10.46

NuStar Excess Pension Plan, amended and restated effective as
of January 1, 2014

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2015 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.45

+10.47

Amendment to NuStar Excess Pension Plan, effective October
9, 2018

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended September 30, 2018 (File No. 001-16417),
Exhibit 10.04

+10.48

NuStar Excess Thrift Plan, amended and restated effective as of
January 1, 2008

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.30

+10.49

Amendment to NuStar Excess Thrift Plan, effective as of
January 1, 2017

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended March 31, 2017 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit
10.02

+10.50

Amendment No. 2 to NuStar Excess Thrift Plan, effective
October 9, 2018

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended September 30, 2018 (File No. 001-16417),
Exhibit 10.05

Amended and Restated Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement, dated
as of September 4, 2009, between NuStar Logistics, L.P. and
William E. Greehey

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 001-16417), Exhibit 10.24

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Aircraft Time
Sharing Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2017, between
NuStar Logistics, L.P. and William E. Greehey

NuStar Energy L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
quarter ended September 30, 2017 (File No. 001-16417),
Exhibit 10.02

21.01

List of subsidiaries of NuStar Energy L.P.

*

22.01

Subsidiary Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities

*

23.01

Consent of KPMG LLP dated February 25, 2021

*

24.01

Powers of Attorney (included in signature page of this Form 10K)

*

31.01

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification (under Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) of principal executive officer

*

31.02

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification (under Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) of principal financial officer

*

10.51
10.52
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32.01

Section 1350 Certification (under Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002) of principal executive officer

**

32.02

Section 1350 Certification (under Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002) of principal financial officer

**

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document - The instance document does
not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

*

101.SCH

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

*

101.CAL

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

*

101.DEF

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document

*

101.LAB

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

*

101.PRE

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document

*

Cover page Interactive Data File - Formatted in Inline XBRL
and contained in Exhibit 101

*

104
*

Filed herewith.

**

Furnished herewith.

+

Identifies management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as an exhibit hereto pursuant to Item 15 of Form 10K.

An electronic copy of this Form 10-K is available on our website, free of charge, at http://www.nustarenergy.com
(select the “Investors” link, then the “SEC Filings” link). A paper copy of the Form 10-K also is available without charge to unitholders upon
written request at the address below. Copies of exhibits filed as a part of this Form 10-K may be obtained by unitholders of record at a charge of
$0.15 per page, minimum $5.00 each request. Direct inquiries to Corporate Secretary, NuStar Energy L.P., 19003 IH-10 West, San Antonio, Texas
78257 or
corporatesecretary@nustarenergy.com.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NUSTAR ENERGY L.P.
(Registrant)
By:

Riverwalk Logistics, L.P., its general partner
By: NuStar GP, LLC, its general partner

By:

/s/ Bradley C. Barron
Bradley C. Barron
President and Chief Executive Officer
February 25, 2021

By:

/s/ Thomas R. Shoaf
Thomas R. Shoaf
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
February 25, 2021

By:

/s/ Jorge A. del Alamo
Jorge A. del Alamo
Senior Vice President and Controller
February 25, 2021
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Bradley C. Barron, Thomas
R. Shoaf and Amy L. Perry, or any of them, each with power to act without the other, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power
of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any or all subsequent amendments
and supplements to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, or cause to be filed the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto each said attorney-in-fact and agent full power to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in
person, hereby qualifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent or his or her substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done
by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

Chairman of the Board

February 25, 2021

/s/ Bradley C. Barron
Bradley C. Barron

President, Chief Executive
Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 25, 2021

/s/ Thomas R. Shoaf
Thomas R. Shoaf

Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 25, 2021

Senior Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 25, 2021

/s/ J. Dan Bates
J. Dan Bates

Director

February 25, 2021

/s/ William B. Burnett
William B. Burnett

Director

February 25, 2021

/s/ James F. Clingman, Jr.
James F. Clingman, Jr.

Director

February 25, 2021

/s/ Dan J. Hill
Dan J. Hill

Director

February 25, 2021

/s/ Jelynne LeBlanc-Burley
Jelynne LeBlanc-Burley

Director

February 25, 2021

/s/ Robert J. Munch
Robert J. Munch

Director

February 25, 2021

/s/ W. Grady Rosier
W. Grady Rosier

Director

February 25, 2021

/s/ William E. Greehey
William E. Greehey

/s/ Jorge A. del Alamo
Jorge A. del Alamo

119

Exhibit 4.01
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
NuStar Energy L.P. ("NuStar Energy") has four classes of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Exchange Act"), each of which is listed on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"), as set forth in the table below.
Title of Class
Common Units ("Common Units")
Series A Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Units ("Series A
Preferred Units")
Series B Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Units ("Series B
Preferred Units")
Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Units ("Series C
Preferred Units")

Trading Symbol
Exchange
NS
NYSE
NSprA
NYSE
NSprB

NYSE

NSprC

NYSE

The following summary of the material terms of our Common Units, Series A Preferred Units, Series B Preferred Units and Series C Preferred Units is
based upon our Eighth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership, dated as of July 20, 2018 (the "partnership agreement"). The summary is
not complete and is qualified by reference to our partnership agreement, which is filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is
incorporated herein by reference.
DESCRIPTION OF COMMON UNITS
The Common Units represent limited partner interests that entitle the holders to participate in NuStar Energy’s cash distributions and to exercise the rights
and privileges as set forth in the partnership agreement. Please read "The Partnership Agreement" below.
Voting Rights
Each holder of Common Units is entitled to one vote for each unit on all matters submitted to a vote of the Common Unitholders, subject to any limitations
contained in NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement. See "The Partnership Agreement—Voting Rights" below.
Cash Distributions
Within 45 days after the end of each quarter, NuStar Energy will distribute all of its available cash to its Common Unitholders of record on the applicable
record date.
Available cash is defined in NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement and generally means, with respect to any fiscal quarter, the sum of all cash and cash
equivalents at the end of such quarter, plus any cash resulting from working capital borrowings made subsequent to the end of such quarter, less the amount
of any cash reserves that NuStar Energy’s general partner determines in its reasonable discretion are necessary or appropriate to:
•
•
•
•

provide for the proper conduct of NuStar Energy’s business, including reserves for future capital expenditures and anticipated credit needs;
comply with applicable law or any debt instrument or other agreement or obligation;
provide funds for payments to holders of NuStar Energy’s preferred units; or
provide funds for distributions with respect to any one or more of the next four fiscal quarters.

NuStar Energy’s current policy is, to the extent it has sufficient available cash from operating surplus, as defined in the partnership agreement, to distribute
to each Common Unitholder a quarterly distribution of $0.40 per quarter or $1.60 per year. However, there is no guarantee that NuStar Energy will pay a
quarterly distribution on the Common Units in any quarter and NuStar Energy may be prohibited from making any distributions to unitholders if it would
cause an event of default under the terms of NuStar Energy’s indebtedness. In addition, NuStar Energy’s preferred units rank senior to the Common Units
with respect to distribution rights and rights upon liquidation. If NuStar Energy does not pay the required distributions (including any arrears) on its
preferred units, it will be unable to pay distributions on the Common Units.

1

Exchange Listing
Our outstanding Common Units are listed on the NYSE under the ticker symbol "NS." Any additional Common Units we issue will also be listed on the
NYSE.
Transfer Agent and Registrar
Our transfer agent and registrar for the Common Units is Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
DESCRIPTION OF SERIES A, SERIES B AND SERIES C PREFERRED UNITS
The Series A Preferred Units, Series B Preferred Units and Series C Preferred Units (collectively, the "Series A, B and C Preferred Units") represent
limited partner interests that entitle the holders to receive cash distributions and to exercise the rights and privileges as set forth in the partnership
agreement. Please read "The Partnership Agreement" below.
The following table summarizes the original issuance dates, price per unit, fixed and floating distribution rates and optional redemption dates of our Series
A, B and C Preferred Units, as further described below.
Fixed Distribution
Rate per Annum
(as a Percentage of
the $25.00
Fixed
Liquidation
Distribution
Preference per
Rate per Unit
Unit)
per Annum
8.50 % $
2.125

Original
Issuance Date
November 25, 2016

Price
per Unit
$ 25.00

Series B Preferred
Units

April 28, 2017

$ 25.00

7.625 % $

1.90625

Series C Preferred
Units

November 30, 2017

$ 25.00

9.00 % $

2.25

Units
Series A Preferred
Units

Optional Redemption
Date/Date at Which
Distribution Rate
Becomes Floating
December 15, 2021
June 15, 2022
December 15, 2022

Floating Annual
Rate (as a
Percentage of
the $25.00
Liquidation
Preference per
Unit)
Three-month
LIBOR plus
6.766%
Three-month
LIBOR plus
5.643%
Three-month
LIBOR plus
6.88%

Ranking; Maturity
The Series A, B and C Preferred Units rank senior to NuStar Energy's Common Units with respect to the payment of distributions and distribution of assets
upon liquidation, dissolution and winding up. The Series A, B and C Preferred Units rank on parity with each other and with any other securities with terms
expressly providing that they rank on parity with the Series A, B and C Preferred Units as to the payment of distributions and distribution of assets upon
liquidation, dissolution and winding up, such as NuStar Energy's Series D Cumulative Convertible Preferred Units ("Series D Preferred Units," and
collectively with the Series A, B and C Preferred Units, "Preferred Units"). The Series A, B and C Preferred Units have no stated maturity and are not
subject to mandatory redemption or any sinking fund and will remain outstanding indefinitely unless repurchased or redeemed by NuStar Energy or
converted into its Common Units in connection with a change of control, as described below.
Distributions
Holders of our Series A, B and C Preferred Units are entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by our general partner, out of legally available funds,
quarterly cumulative cash distributions. Distributions on the Series A, B and C Preferred Units are cumulative from the original issuance date, and are
payable quarterly in arrears on the 15th day of each of March, June, September and December (or the next business day) of each year to holders of record
on the first business day of each payment month. Distributions on the Series A, B and C Preferred Units are payable from and including the original
issuance date to, but not including, the date at which the distribution rate for each series becomes a floating rate, as set forth in the table above. On and after
the date at which the distribution rate for a specific series becomes a floating rate (the "floating rate period"), distributions accumulate at a percentage of the
$25.00 liquidation preference equal to the annual floating rate set forth in the

2

table above for such series. During the floating rate period, the calculation agent determines LIBOR as provided in the partnership agreement.
Optional Redemption; Conversion
At any time on or after the optional redemption dates set forth in the table above for each of the Series A, B and C Preferred Units, NuStar Energy may, at
its option, redeem the Series A, B and C Preferred Units, in whole or in part, out of amounts legally available therefor, by paying $25.00 per unit plus an
amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid distributions thereon to the date of redemption, whether or not declared. In addition, NuStar Energy may
redeem the Series A, B and C Preferred Units following certain changes of control, as well as at any time within 120 days after the conclusion of any
review or appeal process instituted by NuStar Energy following the occurrence of a rating event, each as described in the partnership agreement.
For purposes of the Series A, B and C Preferred Units, a "change of control" generally means the occurrence of either (1) the direct or indirect sale, lease,
transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by merger, consolidation or business combination), in one or a series of related transactions, of all or
substantially all of the assets of NuStar Energy and its subsidiaries taken as a whole to any person or (2) the completion of any transaction (including any
merger, consolidation or business combination), the result of which is that any person other than NuStar GP Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries becomes
the direct or indirect beneficial owner of more than 50% of the voting interests in NuStar Energy's general partner and, in the case of either (1) or (2),
neither NuStar Energy nor such acquiring person has a class of common equity securities listed or admitted to trading on any National Securities Exchange.
A "rating event" generally means a change by any nationally recognized statistical rating organization that publishes a rating for NuStar Energy to its equity
credit criteria for securities such as the Series A, B and C Preferred Units, as in effect on the original issuance date of the applicable series (the "current
criteria"), which change results in (1) any shortening of the length of time for which the current criteria are scheduled to be in effect with respect to such
series or (2) a lower equity credit being given to such series than the equity credit that would have been assigned to such series by such rating agency under
the current criteria.
If NuStar Energy does not exercise the option to redeem following a change of control, then the holders of the Series A, B and C Preferred Units have the
option to convert their Series A, B and C Preferred Units into a number of Common Units per Series A, B and C Preferred Unit, respectively, as set forth
for each such series in the partnership agreement. If NuStar Energy exercises its redemption rights relating to any Series A, B or C Preferred Units
following a change of control, the holders of those units will not have the conversion right described above with respect to the units called for redemption.
Voting Rights
Holders of Series A, B and C Preferred Units have only limited voting rights with respect to potential amendments to the partnership agreement that have a
material adverse effect on the existing terms of the Series A, B and C Preferred Units, respectively, and in certain other limited circumstances or as required
by law. See "The Partnership Agreement—Voting Rights" below.
Exchange Listing
Our outstanding Series A, B and C Preferred Units are listed on the NYSE under the ticker symbols "NSprA," "NSprB" and "NSprC," respectively. Any
additional Series A, B and C Preferred Units we issue will also be listed on the NYSE.
Calculation Agent
In the case of the Series A Preferred Units and the Series B Preferred Units, the calculation agent will be Wells Fargo Bank, National Association and its
successors and assigns or any other calculation agent appointed by NuStar Energy's general partner. In the case of the Series C Preferred Units, the
calculation agent will be the person appointed by NuStar Energy's general partner before the start of the floating rate period for the Series C Preferred
Units, and its successors and assigns or any other calculation agent appointed by NuStar Energy's general partner.
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THE PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT
The material provisions of NuStar Energy's partnership agreement are summarized below.
Organization and Duration
NuStar Energy was organized in December 1999 and will continue in existence until dissolved in accordance with the partnership agreement.
Purpose
The purpose of NuStar Energy is: (1) to serve as a partner of NuStar Logistics, one of NuStar Energy’s primary operating subsidiaries, and its other
subsidiaries established for conducting the business of NuStar Energy (collectively, the "Operating Partnership"); (2) to engage in any business activities
that may be engaged in by the Operating Partnership or that are approved by NuStar Energy’s general partner, provided that NuStar Energy’s general
partner must reasonably determine that such activity generates or enhances the operations of any activity that generates "qualifying income," as this term is
defined in Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; (3) to serve as a member of NuStar GP Holdings, LLC and to exercise all the
rights and powers held by NuStar Energy as a member of NuStar GP Holdings, LLC as the member of NuStar GP, LLC; and (4) to do anything necessary
or appropriate to the foregoing, including the making of capital contributions or loans to NuStar Energy’s subsidiaries. NuStar Energy’s general partner has
no obligation or duty to NuStar Energy, its limited partners or assignees of partnership interests to propose or approve, and in its discretion may decline to
propose or approve, the conduct by NuStar Energy of any business.
Power of Attorney
Each limited partner, and each person who acquires a limited partner interest and executes and delivers a transfer application, grants to NuStar Energy’s
general partner and, if appointed, a liquidator, a power of attorney to, among other things, execute and file documents required for the qualification,
continuance or dissolution of NuStar Energy. The power of attorney also grants NuStar Energy’s general partner and the liquidator the authority to amend
the partnership agreement, and to make consents and waivers under the partnership agreement.
Capital Contributions
NuStar Energy’s unitholders are not obligated to make additional capital contributions, except as described below under "—Limited Liability."
Limited Liability
Assuming that a limited partner does not participate in the control of NuStar Energy’s business within the meaning of the Delaware Revised Uniform
Limited Partnership Act (the "Delaware law"), and that it otherwise acts in conformity with the provisions of NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement, the
limited partner’s liability under the Delaware law will be limited, subject to possible exceptions, to the amount of capital the limited partner is obligated to
contribute to NuStar Energy for such partner’s units plus the partner’s share of any undistributed profits and assets and any funds wrongfully distributed to
it, as described below. If it were determined, however, that the right or exercise of the right, by the limited partners as a group:
•
•
•

to remove or replace NuStar Energy’s general partner;
to approve some amendments to the partnership agreement; or
to take other action under the partnership agreement

constituted "participation in the control" of NuStar Energy’s business for the purposes of the Delaware law, then the limited partners could be held
personally liable for NuStar Energy’s obligations under the laws of Delaware, to the same extent as its general partner. This liability would extend to
persons who transact business with NuStar Energy who reasonably believe that a limited partner is a general partner based on the limited partner’s conduct.
Neither NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement nor the Delaware law specifically provides for legal recourse against NuStar Energy’s general partner if a
limited partner were to lose limited liability through any fault of NuStar Energy’s general partner. While this does not mean that a limited partner could not
seek legal recourse, we know of no precedent for this type of a claim in Delaware case law.
Under the Delaware law, a limited partnership may not make a distribution to a partner if, after the distribution, all liabilities of the limited partnership,
other than liabilities to partners on account of their partnership interests and liabilities for which the
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recourse of creditors is limited to specific property of the partnership, would exceed the fair value of the assets of the limited partnership. For the purpose
of determining the fair value of the assets of a limited partnership, the Delaware law provides that the fair value of property subject to liability for which
recourse of creditors is limited shall be included in the assets of the limited partnership only to the extent that the fair value of that property exceeds the
nonrecourse liability. The Delaware law provides that a limited partner who receives a distribution and knew at the time of the distribution that the
distribution was in violation of the Delaware law will be liable to the limited partnership for the amount of the distribution for three years from the date of
distribution. Under the Delaware law, an assignee who becomes a substituted limited partner of a limited partnership is liable for the obligations of its
assignor to make contributions to the limited partnership, excluding any obligations of the assignor with respect to wrongful distributions, as described
above, except the assignee is not obligated for liabilities unknown to it at the time it became a limited partner and that could not be ascertained from the
partnership agreement.
NuStar Energy’s operating subsidiaries conduct business or own assets in the United States and internationally. Maintenance of NuStar Energy’s limited
liability as a limited partner or member, respectively, of its operating subsidiaries may require compliance with legal requirements in the jurisdictions in
which the operating subsidiary conducts business. Limitations on the liability of limited partners or members for the obligations of a limited partnership or
limited liability company have not been clearly established in many jurisdictions. If it were determined that NuStar Energy was, by virtue of NuStar
Energy’s ownership interest in its subsidiaries or otherwise, conducting business in any state without compliance with the applicable limited partnership or
limited liability company statute, or that the right or exercise of the right by the limited partners as a group to remove or replace NuStar Energy’s general
partner, to approve certain amendments to the partnership agreement, or to take other action under the partnership agreement constituted "participation in
the control" of NuStar Energy’s business for purposes of the statutes of any relevant jurisdiction, then the limited partners could be held personally liable
for NuStar Energy’s obligations under the law of that jurisdiction to the same extent as its general partner under the circumstances. NuStar Energy will
operate in a manner that its general partner considers reasonable and necessary or appropriate to preserve the limited liability of the limited partners.
Voting Rights
The following matters require the unitholder vote specified below. Matters that require the approval of a "unit majority" require the approval of holders of a
majority of the outstanding Common Units and the outstanding Series D Preferred Units (voting on an as-converted basis), voting together as a single class
(subject to the limitations set forth in the definition of "Outstanding" in the partnership agreement).
Election of directors to the board

Plurality of the votes cast by the limited partners holding outstanding Common
Units and Series D Preferred Units (voting on an as-converted basis), voting
together as a single class, at a meeting of the limited partners. Please read "—
Meetings; Voting."

Amendment of the partnership agreement

Certain amendments may be made by NuStar Energy’s general partner without
the approval of unitholders. Certain other amendments require the approval of a
unit majority. Certain other amendments require the approval of the holders of a
super-majority of outstanding Common Units and Series D Preferred Units
(voting on an as-converted basis), voting together as a single class. Certain
amendments that would have a material adverse effect on a class of NuStar
Energy interests require the approval of a majority of NuStar Energy interests to
be affected by such amendment. Please read "—Amendment of the Partnership
Agreement."

Merger or the sale of all or substantially all of NuStar Energy’s assets

The holders of a unit majority. Please read "—Merger, Sale or Other Disposition
of Assets."

Dissolution of NuStar Energy

The holders of a unit majority. Please read "—Termination and Dissolution."

Removal/Replacement of the general partner

The holders of a unit majority. Please read "—Withdrawal or Removal of the
General Partner."
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Issuance of Additional Securities
NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement authorizes NuStar Energy, subject to any approvals required by the holders of Preferred Units, to issue an unlimited
number of additional partnership securities for the consideration and on the terms and conditions established by NuStar Energy’s general partner in its sole
discretion without the approval of any limited partners.
Except for restrictions arising from the need for approval of the holders of Preferred Units, there are no restrictions under the partnership agreement on the
ability of NuStar Energy’s general partner to issue partnership securities, including partnership securities junior or senior to the Common Units.
It is possible that NuStar Energy will fund acquisitions through the issuance of additional Common Units or other partnership securities. Holders of any
additional Common Units NuStar Energy issues will be entitled to share equally with the then-existing Common Unitholders in NuStar Energy’s
distributions of available cash and additional partnership securities may be senior to the Common Units with respect to distributions. In addition, the
issuance of additional partnership securities may dilute the value of the interests of the then-existing Common Unitholders in NuStar Energy’s net assets.
In accordance with Delaware law and the provisions of the partnership agreement, NuStar Energy may also issue additional partnership securities that, in
the sole discretion of NuStar Energy’s general partner, may have special voting rights to which Common Units are not entitled.
No person will have any preemptive, preferential or other similar right with respect to the issuance of any partnership securities.
Amendment of the Partnership Agreement
General
Amendments to the partnership agreement may be proposed only by or with the consent of NuStar Energy’s general partner, which consent may be given or
withheld in its sole discretion. In order to adopt a proposed amendment, other than the amendments discussed below, NuStar Energy’s general partner is
required to seek written approval of the holders of the number of units required to approve the amendment or call a meeting of the limited partners to
consider and vote upon the proposed amendment. Except as described below, an amendment must be approved by a unit majority.
Prohibited Amendments
No amendment may be made that would:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

amend, alter, change, repeal or rescind, in any respect, a provision of the partnership agreement that establishes a percentage of outstanding units
required to take any action, that would have the effect of reducing such voting percentage, unless such amendment is approved by the written
consent or the affirmative vote of holders of outstanding units whose aggregate outstanding units constitute not less than the voting requirement
sought to be reduced;
enlarge the obligations of any limited partner without its consent, unless approved by at least a majority of the type or class of limited partner
interests so affected;
enlarge the obligations of, restrict in any way any action by or rights of, or reduce in any way the amounts distributable, reimbursable or otherwise
payable by NuStar Energy to its general partner or any of its affiliates without the consent of NuStar Energy’s general partner, which may be given
or withheld in its sole discretion;
change the term of NuStar Energy;
provide that NuStar Energy is not dissolved upon an election to dissolve NuStar Energy by its general partner that is approved by the holders of a
unit majority;
give any person the right to dissolve NuStar Energy, other than its general partner’s right to dissolve NuStar Energy with the approval of the
holders of a unit majority; or
have a material adverse effect on the rights or preferences of any class of partnership securities in relation to other classes of partnership securities,
unless approved by the holders of not less than a majority of the outstanding partnership securities of the class affected.

The provision of the partnership agreement prohibiting amendments to the partnership agreement having the effects described in the seven bullets above
can be amended, subject to certain exceptions, only upon the approval of the holders of at least 90% of the outstanding Common Units and Series D
Preferred Units (voting on an as-converted basis), voting together as a single class. In addition, no amendment may be made to the partnership agreement
that would have a material adverse effect on the powers, preferences, duties or special rights of the Preferred Units without first obtaining the affirmative
vote or consent of the
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holders of (a) 66-2/3% of the respective outstanding class of Series A Preferred Units, Series B Preferred Units and Series C Preferred Units or (b) a
majority of the outstanding Series D Preferred Units.
No Unitholder Approval
NuStar Energy’s general partner may generally make amendments to the partnership agreement without the approval of any partner or assignee to reflect:
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

a change in the name of NuStar Energy, the location of the principal place of business of NuStar Energy, the registered agent or the registered
office of NuStar Energy;
the admission, substitution, withdrawal or removal of partners in accordance with the partnership agreement;
a change that, in the sole discretion of NuStar Energy’s general partner, is necessary or advisable to qualify or continue the qualification of NuStar
Energy as a limited partnership or a partnership in which the limited partners have limited liability under the laws of any state or to ensure that
neither NuStar Energy nor the Operating Partnership will be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise taxed as an entity for
federal income tax purposes;
an amendment that is necessary, in the opinion of counsel to NuStar Energy, to prevent NuStar Energy, its general partner, NuStar GP, LLC, or any
of the directors, officers, agents or trustees of NuStar GP, LLC from in any manner being subjected to the provisions of the Investment Company
Act of 1940, the Investment Advisors Act of 1940, or "plan asset" regulations adopted under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, as amended ("ERISA"), whether or not substantially similar to plan asset regulations currently applied or proposed;
subject to any restrictions imposed by the terms of the Preferred Units and the limitations on the issuance of additional partnership securities
described above, an amendment that in the discretion of NuStar Energy’s general partner is necessary or advisable for the authorization of
additional partnership securities;
any amendment expressly permitted in the partnership agreement to be made by NuStar Energy’s general partner acting alone;
an amendment effected, necessitated or contemplated by a merger agreement that has been approved under the terms of the partnership agreement;
any amendment that, in the discretion of NuStar Energy’s general partner, is necessary or advisable for the formation by NuStar Energy of, or its
investment in, any corporation, partnership or other entity, as otherwise permitted by the partnership agreement;
a change in the fiscal year or taxable year of NuStar Energy and related changes; and
any other amendments substantially similar to any of the matters described above.

In addition, subject to any restrictions imposed by the terms of the Preferred Units, NuStar Energy’s general partner may make amendments to the
partnership agreement without the approval of any partner or assignee if those amendments, in the discretion of NuStar Energy’s general partner:
•
•
•
•
•

do not adversely affect the limited partners (or any particular class of limited partners) in any material respect;
are necessary or advisable to satisfy any requirements, conditions or guidelines contained in any opinion, directive, order, ruling or regulation of
any federal or state agency or judicial authority or contained in any federal or state statute;
are necessary or advisable to facilitate the trading of limited partner interests or to comply with any rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of
any securities exchange on which the limited partner interests are or will be listed for trading, compliance with any of which NuStar Energy’s
general partner deems to be in the best interests of NuStar Energy and the limited partners;
are necessary or advisable for any action taken by NuStar Energy’s general partner relating to splits or combinations of partnership securities
under the provisions of the partnership agreement; or
are required to effect the intent of the provisions of the partnership agreement or are otherwise contemplated by the partnership agreement.

Opinion of Counsel and Unitholder Approval
Except for amendments described above under "—No Unitholder Approval" or in connection with a merger, no other amendments to the partnership
agreement will become effective without the approval of holders of at least 90% of the outstanding Common Units and Series D Preferred Units (voting on
an as-converted basis), voting together as a single class, unless NuStar Energy obtains an opinion of counsel to the effect that the amendment will not affect
the limited liability of any limited partner of NuStar Energy under applicable law.
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Merger, Sale or Other Disposition of Assets
Subject to certain exceptions, a merger or consolidation of NuStar Energy requires the prior approval of NuStar Energy’s general partner. NuStar Energy’s
general partner must also approve the merger agreement, which must include certain information as set forth in NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement.
Once approved by NuStar Energy’s general partner, the merger agreement must be submitted to a vote of Common Unitholders and Series D Preferred
Unitholders (voting on an as-converted basis), voting together as a single class, and the merger agreement will be approved upon receipt of the affirmative
vote or consent of the holders of a unit majority (unless the affirmative vote of the holders of a greater percentage is required under the merger agreement
or Delaware law).
Except in connection with a dissolution and liquidation of NuStar Energy or a duly approved merger, NuStar Energy’s general partner may not (a) sell,
exchange or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of NuStar Energy’s assets in a single transaction or a series of related transactions, or (b) approve
on behalf of NuStar Energy the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Operating Partnership without the approval
of the holders of a unit majority. However, NuStar Energy’s general partner may mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or grant a security interest in all or
substantially all of the assets of NuStar Energy or the Operating Partnership without the approval of the unitholders. In addition, NuStar Energy’s general
partner may sell any or all of the assets of NuStar Energy or the Operating Partnership in a forced sale pursuant to the foreclosure of, or other realization
upon, any such encumbrance without the approval of the unitholders.
Termination and Dissolution
NuStar Energy will continue in existence as a limited partnership until terminated in accordance with its partnership agreement. NuStar Energy will
dissolve upon:
•
•
•
•

the election of NuStar Energy’s general partner to dissolve NuStar Energy, if approved by the holders of a unit majority;
the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution of NuStar Energy pursuant to Delaware law;
the sale of all or substantially all of the assets and properties of NuStar Energy, the Operating Partnership and their respective subsidiaries; or
the withdrawal or removal of NuStar Energy’s general partner or any other event that results in its ceasing to be the general partner other than by
reason of a transfer of its general partner interest in accordance with the partnership agreement or withdrawal or removal following approval and
admission of a successor.

Upon a dissolution under the last clause above, the holders of a unit majority may also elect, within specific time limitations, to reconstitute NuStar Energy
and continue its business on the same terms and conditions described in the partnership agreement by forming a new limited partnership on terms identical
to those in the partnership agreement and having as general partner an entity approved by the holders of a unit majority, subject to receipt by NuStar Energy
of an opinion of counsel to the effect that:
•
•

the action would not result in the loss of limited liability of any limited partner; and
neither NuStar Energy, the reconstituted limited partnership, nor any operating subsidiary would be treated as an association taxable as a
corporation or otherwise be taxable as an entity for federal income tax purposes upon the exercise of that right to continue.

Liquidation and Distribution of Proceeds
Upon its dissolution, unless NuStar Energy is reconstituted and continued as a new limited partnership, the liquidator authorized to wind up NuStar
Energy’s affairs will, acting with all of the powers of NuStar Energy’s general partner that the liquidator deems necessary or desirable in its judgment,
liquidate NuStar Energy’s assets and apply the proceeds of the liquidation as follows. NuStar Energy will first apply the proceeds of liquidation to the
payment of, or provision of payment for, its creditors. NuStar Energy will then pay any accumulated and unpaid distributions and the applicable liquidation
preference on the Preferred Units. NuStar Energy will distribute any remaining proceeds to Common Unitholders, in accordance with their capital account
balances, as adjusted to reflect any gain or loss upon the sale or other disposition of its assets in liquidation. The liquidator may defer liquidation or
distribution of NuStar Energy’s assets for a reasonable period of time or distribute assets to partners in kind if it determines that a sale would be impractical
or would cause undue loss to the partners.
Withdrawal or Removal of the General Partner
NuStar Energy’s general partner may withdraw as general partner without first obtaining approval of any unitholder by giving 90 days’ written notice, and
that withdrawal will not constitute a violation of the partnership agreement. In addition, the
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partnership agreement permits NuStar Energy’s general partner to sell or otherwise transfer all of its general partner interest in NuStar Energy without the
approval of the unitholders. Please read "—Transfer of General Partner Interests."
Upon the withdrawal of NuStar Energy’s general partner under any circumstances, other than as a result of a transfer of all or a part of its general partner
interest in NuStar Energy, the holders of a unit majority may select a successor to that withdrawing general partner. If a successor is not elected, or is
elected but an opinion of counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters cannot be obtained, NuStar Energy will be dissolved, wound up and liquidated,
unless within 180 days after that withdrawal, the holders of a unit majority agree in writing to continue the business of NuStar Energy and to appoint a
successor general partner. Please read "—Termination and Dissolution."
If NuStar Energy’s general partner withdraws under circumstances where such withdrawal does not violate the partnership agreement, and a successor
general partner is elected under the terms of the partnership agreement, the departing general partner will have the option to require the successor general
partner to purchase its general partner interests for cash. If NuStar Energy’s general partner withdraws under circumstances where such withdrawal does
violate the partnership agreement, and a successor general partner is elected, the successor general partner will have the option to purchase the general
partner interests of the departing general partner. If such general partner interests are not purchased by the successor general partner, they will be converted
into Common Units.
NuStar Energy’s general partner may not be removed unless that removal is approved by the vote of the holders of not less than a unit majority, and NuStar
Energy receives an opinion of counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters. Any removal of NuStar Energy’s general partner is also subject to the
approval of a successor general partner by the vote of a unit majority.
If NuStar Energy’s general partner is removed under circumstances where cause does not exist, and a successor general partner is elected under the
partnership agreement, the departing general partner will have the option to require the successor general partner to purchase its general partner interests for
cash. If NuStar Energy’s general partner is removed under circumstances where cause does exist, and a successor general partner is elected, the successor
general partner will have the option to purchase the general partner interests of the departing general partner. If NuStar Energy’s general partner interests
are not purchased by the successor general partner, they will be converted into Common Units.
"Cause" is narrowly defined to mean that a court of competent jurisdiction has entered a final, non-appealable judgment finding the general partner liable
for actual fraud, gross negligence, or willful or wanton misconduct in its capacity as the general partner.
Withdrawal or removal of the general partner of NuStar Energy also constitutes withdrawal or removal of the general partner of the Operating Partnership.
In addition, NuStar Energy will be required to reimburse the departing general partner for all amounts due the departing general partner, including, without
limitation, all employee-related liabilities, including severance liabilities, incurred for the termination of any employees employed by the departing general
partner for the benefit of NuStar Energy.
Transfer of General Partner Interests
NuStar Energy’s general partner may transfer all or any part of its general partner interest in NuStar Energy without unitholder approval.
No transfer by NuStar Energy’s general partner of all or any part of its general partner interest is permitted unless (1) the transferee agrees to assume the
rights and duties of the general partner and be bound by the partnership agreement, (2) NuStar Energy receives an opinion of counsel regarding limited
liability and tax matters and (3) such transferee agrees to purchase all of the partnership interests of the general partner as the general partner of the
Operating Partnership and any of NuStar Energy’s or the Operating Partnership’s subsidiaries.
Change of Management Provisions
NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement contains specific provisions that are intended to discourage a person or group from attempting to remove NuStar
Energy’s general partner or otherwise change management, including the following:
•

with certain limited exceptions, any partnership securities held by a person that owns 20% or more of any class of partnership securities then
outstanding, other than NuStar Energy’s general partner and its affiliates, cannot be voted on any matter; provided, however that such restriction
generally does not apply to any Series D Preferred Units held by a person who acquired such Series D Preferred Units pursuant to the Series D
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Unit Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2018, among NuStar Energy L.P. and the purchasers party
thereto;
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•
•

limiting the ability of unitholders to replace members of the board of directors of NuStar GP, LLC (the “board”) by having staggered elections
where each director is elected for a three-year term and providing that directors may only be removed for cause; and
limiting the ability of unitholders to call meetings or to acquire information about NuStar Energy’s operations, as well as other provisions limiting
the unitholders’ ability to influence the manner or direction of management.

Meetings; Voting
An annual meeting of the limited partners for the election of directors to the board, and other matters that NuStar Energy’s general partner submits to a vote
of the limited partners, will be held in April of each year or on such other date as determined by NuStar Energy’s general partner. Special meetings of the
limited partners may be called by NuStar Energy’s general partner or by limited partners owning 20% or more of the outstanding limited partner interests of
the class or classes for which a meeting is proposed.
For the purpose of determining the limited partners entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting or to give approvals without a meeting, NuStar Energy’s
general partner may set a record date, which date for purposes of notice of a meeting shall not be less than 10 days nor more than 60 days before the date of
the meeting.
Each record holder of limited partner interests has a vote according to his percentage interest in NuStar Energy. Limited partner interests held for a person’s
account by another person (such as a broker, dealer or bank), in whose name such limited partner interests are registered, will be voted by such other person
in favor of, and at the direction of, the beneficial owner unless the arrangement between such persons provides otherwise. Representation in person or by
proxy of a majority of the outstanding limited partner interests of the class or classes for which a meeting has been called will constitute a quorum at such
meeting (unless a particular action by the limited partners requires approval by a greater percentage of limited partner interests, in which case the quorum
shall be such greater percentage).
At any meeting at which a quorum is present, the act of the limited partners holding a majority of the outstanding limited partner interests entitled to vote at
the meeting will be deemed to be the act of all the limited partners, unless a greater or different percentage is required under the partnership agreement, in
which case the act of the limited partners holding such greater or different percentage of the outstanding limited partner interests will be required. At a
meeting for the election of directors, directors are elected by a plurality of votes cast by the limited partners holding outstanding Common Units and Series
D Preferred Units (voting on an as-converted basis), voting together as a single class.
If authorized by NuStar Energy’s general partner, any action that is required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the limited partners may be taken
either at a meeting of the limited partners or without a meeting if consents in writing describing the action so taken are signed by the holders of the number
of limited partner interests necessary to authorize or take that action at a meeting.
The Board of Directors
The number of directors on the board will be nine unless otherwise determined from time to time by a majority of the directors then in office or
automatically increased pursuant to the terms of the Series D Preferred Units. Any decrease in the number of directors by the board may not have the effect
of shortening the term of any incumbent director.
The directors are grouped into three groups with respect to their terms. At each annual meeting of limited partners, successors to the directors whose terms
expire at that annual meeting will be elected for a three-year term.
A director may only be removed for cause at a meeting of limited partners upon the affirmative vote of the limited partners holding a unit majority and only
if, at the same meeting, the limited partners holding a unit majority nominate a replacement director and elect the replacement director to the board.
Vacancies on the board (other than vacancies caused by the removal of a director by the limited partners) may be filled by a majority of the remaining
directors then in office.
Nominations of persons for election as directors to the board may be made at an annual meeting of the limited partners only pursuant to NuStar Energy’s
general partner’s notice of meeting (1) by or at the direction of a majority of the directors of the board or (2) by a limited partner, or a group of limited
partners, that holds or beneficially owns, and has continuously held or beneficially owned without interruption for the prior two years, 5% of the
outstanding Common Units and outstanding Series D Preferred Units (on an as-converted basis), considered together for this purpose as a single class, and
such limited partner, or each limited partner in such group, (A) was a limited partner at the time the notice provided for in the partnership agreement is
delivered to NuStar Energy’s general partner and (B) complies with the notice procedures set forth in the partnership agreement.
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For any nominations brought before an annual meeting by a limited partner, the limited partner must give timely notice thereof in writing to NuStar
Energy’s general partner. The notice must contain certain information as described in the partnership agreement. To be timely, a limited partner’s notice
must be delivered to NuStar Energy’s general partner not later than the close of business on the 90th day, nor earlier than the close of business on the 120th
day, prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting. The public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of an annual
meeting will not commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a limited partner’s notice as described above.
In the event that the number of directors is increased effective after the time period for which nominations would otherwise be due and there is no public
announcement by NuStar Energy or its general partner naming the nominees for the additional directorships at least 100 days prior to the first anniversary
of the preceding year’s annual meeting, a limited partner’s notice will also be considered timely with respect to nominees for the additional directorships, if
it is delivered to NuStar Energy’s general partner not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such public announcement
is first made by NuStar Energy or its general partner.
Nominations for directors may be made at a special meeting of limited partners at which directors are to be elected in accordance with the provisions of the
partnership agreement.
Only persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in the partnership agreement will be eligible to be elected at an annual or
special meeting of limited partners to serve as directors. Unless otherwise required by law or the partnership agreement, if each nominating limited partner
does not appear at the annual or special meeting of limited partners to present a nomination, the nomination will be disregarded.
In addition to the provisions described above and in the partnership agreement, a limited partner must also comply with all applicable requirements of the
Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. Any references in the partnership agreement to the Exchange Act or the rules promulgated
thereunder are not intended to, and do not, limit any requirements applicable to nominations pursuant to the partnership agreement, and compliance with
the partnership agreement is the exclusive means for a limited partner to make nominations.
Limited Call Right
If at any time NuStar Energy’s general partner and its affiliates own 80% or more of the issued and outstanding limited partner interests of any class,
NuStar Energy’s general partner will have the right (which right it may assign and transfer to NuStar Energy or any affiliate of its general partner) to
purchase all, but not less than all, of the outstanding limited partner interests of that class that are held by non-affiliated persons. The record date for
determining ownership of the limited partner interests to be purchased by NuStar Energy’s general partner will be selected by NuStar Energy’s general
partner, and NuStar Energy’s general partner must mail notice of its election to purchase the interests to the holders of such interests at least 10 but not
more than 60 days prior to the purchase date. The purchase price in the event of a purchase under these provisions would be the greater of (1) the current
market price (as defined in the partnership agreement) of the limited partner interests of the class as of the date three days prior to the date NuStar Energy’s
general partner mails notice of its election to purchase the limited partner interests and (2) the highest cash price paid by NuStar Energy’s general partner or
any of its affiliates for any limited partner interest of the class purchased within the 90 days preceding the date NuStar Energy’s general partner mails notice
of its election to purchase the limited partner interests.
Transfer of Limited Partner Interests and Status as a Limited Partner or Assignee
No transfer of NuStar Energy limited partner interests represented by certificates will be recognized by NuStar Energy unless certificates representing those
limited partner interests are surrendered and such certificates are accompanied by a duly executed transfer application. Each transferee of limited partner
interests must execute a transfer application whereby the transferee, among other things, requests admission as a substituted limited partner, makes certain
representations, executes and agrees to comply with and be bound by the partnership agreement, and gives the consents and approvals and makes the
waivers contained in the partnership agreement. Transferees may hold limited partner interests in nominee accounts.
Once a transferee has executed and delivered a transfer application in accordance with the partnership agreement, the transferee becomes an assignee. An
assignee becomes a limited partner upon the consent of NuStar Energy’s general partner and the recordation of the name of the assignee on NuStar
Energy’s books and records. Such consent may be withheld in the sole discretion of NuStar Energy’s general partner. An assignee, pending its admission as
a substituted limited partner, is entitled to an interest in NuStar Energy equivalent to that of a limited partner with respect to the right to share in allocations
and distributions, including liquidating distributions of NuStar Energy. NuStar Energy’s general partner will vote and exercise, at the written direction of
the assignee, other powers attributable to limited partner interests owned by an assignee who has not become a substituted limited partner.
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Transferees who do not execute and deliver transfer applications will be treated neither as assignees nor as record holders of limited partner interests and
will not receive distributions, federal income tax allocations or reports furnished to record holders of limited partner interests. The only right such
transferees will have is the right to admission as a substituted limited partner upon execution of a transfer application, subject to the approval of NuStar
Energy’s general partner. A nominee or broker who has executed a transfer application with respect to limited partner interests held in street name or
nominee accounts will receive distributions and reports pertaining to such limited partner interests.
Non-Citizen Assignees; Redemption
If NuStar Energy, the Operating Partnership or any of their respective subsidiaries is or becomes subject to federal, state or local laws or regulations that, in
the reasonable determination of NuStar Energy’s general partner, create a substantial risk of cancellation or forfeiture of any property that NuStar Energy,
the Operating Partnership or any of their respective subsidiaries has an interest in because of the nationality, citizenship or other related status of any
limited partner or assignee, NuStar Energy may redeem the limited partner interests held by the limited partner or assignee at their current market price. In
order to avoid any cancellation or forfeiture, NuStar Energy’s general partner may require each limited partner or assignee to furnish information about his
nationality, citizenship or related status. If a limited partner or assignee fails to furnish information about this nationality, citizenship or other related status
within 30 days after a request for the information or NuStar Energy’s general partner determines after receipt of the information that the limited partner or
assignee is not an eligible citizen, the limited partner or assignee may be treated as a non-citizen assignee. In addition to other limitations on the rights of an
assignee who is not a substituted limited partner, a non-citizen assignee does not have the right to direct the voting of his limited partner interests and may
not receive distributions in kind upon NuStar Energy’s liquidation.
Indemnification
Under the partnership agreement, in most circumstances, NuStar Energy will indemnify the following persons, to the fullest extent permitted by law, from
and against all losses, claims, damages or similar events as long as such persons acted in good faith and in a manner they reasonably believed to be in or
not opposed to the best interests of NuStar Energy, and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe their conduct was
unlawful:
•
•
•
•
•

NuStar Energy’s general partner;
any departing general partner;
any person who is or was an affiliate of NuStar Energy’s general partner or any departing general partner;
any person who is or was a member, partner, officer, director, employee, agent or trustee of NuStar Energy, the Operating Partnership or any of
their respective subsidiaries, NuStar Energy’s general partner or any departing general partner or any affiliate of NuStar Energy, the Operating
Partnership, their respective subsidiaries, NuStar Energy’s general partner or any departing general partner; or
any person who is or was serving at the request of NuStar Energy’s general partner or departing general partner or any affiliate of NuStar Energy’s
general partner or departing general partner as an officer, director, employee, member, partner, agent, fiduciary or trustee of another person.

Any indemnification under these provisions will only be out of NuStar Energy’s assets. NuStar Energy’s general partner will not be personally liable for
any of NuStar Energy’s indemnification obligations, or have any obligation to contribute or loan funds or assets to NuStar Energy to enable it to effectuate
indemnification. NuStar Energy is authorized to purchase insurance against liabilities asserted against and expenses incurred by persons for its activities,
regardless of whether NuStar Energy would have the power to indemnify the person against liabilities under the partnership agreement.
Books and Reports
NuStar Energy’s general partner is required to keep appropriate books of NuStar Energy’s business at NuStar Energy’s principal offices. The books will be
maintained for both tax and financial reporting purposes on an accrual basis. For tax and financial reporting purposes, NuStar Energy’s fiscal year is the
calendar year.
NuStar Energy will furnish or make available to record holders of partnership securities, within 120 days after the close of each fiscal year, an annual report
containing audited financial statements and a report on those financial statements by its registered public accounting firm. Except for its fourth quarter,
NuStar Energy will also furnish or make available summary financial information within 90 days after the close of each quarter.
NuStar Energy will furnish each record holder of a partnership security with information reasonably required for tax reporting purposes within 90 days
after the close of each calendar year.
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Right to Inspect NuStar Energy’s Books and Records
The partnership agreement provides that a limited partner can, for a purpose reasonably related to such limited partner’s interest as a limited partner, upon
reasonable demand and at its own expense, have furnished to it:
•
•
•
•
•
•

information regarding the status of the business and financial condition of NuStar Energy;
a copy of NuStar Energy’s tax returns;
a current list of the name and last known address of each partner;
copies of the partnership agreement, the certificate of limited partnership of NuStar Energy, related amendments and powers of attorney under
which they have been executed;
information as to the amount of cash, and a description and statement of the agreed value of any other property or services, contributed or to be
contributed by each partner and the date on which each became a partner;
any other information regarding NuStar Energy’s affairs as is just and reasonable.

NuStar Energy’s general partner may, and intends to, keep confidential from the limited partners trade secrets or other information the disclosure of which
it believes in good faith is not in NuStar Energy’s, the Operating Partnership’s and their respective subsidiaries’ best interests, could damage NuStar
Energy, the Operating Partnership and their respective subsidiaries or which NuStar Energy, the Operating Partnership or their respective subsidiaries are
required by law or by agreements with third parties to keep confidential.
Registration Rights
Under the partnership agreement, NuStar Energy has agreed to register for resale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and applicable state
securities laws any Common Units or other partnership securities proposed to be sold by the general partner or any of its affiliates or their assignees if an
exemption from the registration requirements is not otherwise available. These registration rights continue for two years following any withdrawal or
removal of Riverwalk Logistics, L.P. as the general partner of NuStar Energy. NuStar Energy is obligated to pay all expenses incidental to the registration,
excluding underwriting discounts and commissions.
Conflicts of Interest
Riverwalk Logistics, L.P., the general partner of NuStar Energy, has a legal duty to manage NuStar Energy in a manner beneficial to NuStar Energy’s
unitholders. This legal duty originates in statutes and judicial decisions and is commonly referred to as a "fiduciary" duty.
NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement contains provisions that allow its general partner to take into account the interests of parties in addition to NuStar
Energy in resolving conflicts of interest. In effect, these provisions limit NuStar Energy’s general partner’s fiduciary duties to the unitholders. The
partnership agreement also restricts the remedies available to unitholders for actions taken that might, without those limitations, constitute breaches of
fiduciary duty. Whenever a conflict arises between NuStar Energy’s general partner or its affiliates, on the one hand, and NuStar Energy or any other
partner, on the other hand, NuStar Energy’s general partner will resolve that conflict.
NuStar Energy’s general partner will not be in breach of its obligations under the partnership agreement or its duties to NuStar Energy or the unitholders if
the resolution of the conflict is considered to be fair and reasonable to NuStar Energy. Any resolution is considered to be fair and reasonable to NuStar
Energy if that resolution is:
•
•
•

approved by a conflicts committee consisting of three or more independent directors of NuStar GP, LLC, although no party is obligated to seek
approval and NuStar Energy’s general partner may adopt a resolution or course of action that has not received approval;
on terms no less favorable to NuStar Energy than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties; or
fair to NuStar Energy, taking into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved, including other transactions that may be
particularly favorable or advantageous to NuStar Energy.

In resolving a conflict, NuStar Energy’s general partner may, unless the resolution is specifically provided for in the partnership agreement, consider:
•
•
•

the relative interests of the parties involved in the conflict or affected by the action;
any customary or accepted industry practices or historical dealings with a particular person or entity; and
generally accepted accounting principles and other factors it considers relevant, if applicable.
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Fiduciary Duties
Fiduciary duties are generally considered to include an obligation to act with due care and loyalty. The duty of care, in the absence of a provision in a
partnership agreement providing otherwise, generally requires a general partner to act for the partnership in the same manner as a prudent person would act
on his own behalf. The duty of loyalty, in the absence of a provision in a partnership agreement providing otherwise, generally prohibits a general partner
from taking any action or engaging in any transaction where a conflict of interest is present. The Delaware law generally provides that a limited partner
may institute legal action on a partnership’s behalf to recover damages from a third party where a general partner has refused to institute the action or where
an effort to cause a general partner to do so is not likely to succeed. In addition, the statutory or case law of some jurisdictions may permit a limited partner
to institute legal action on behalf of himself and all other similarly situated limited partners to recover damages from a general partner for violations of its
fiduciary duties to the limited partners.
The Delaware law provides that Delaware limited partnerships may, in their partnership agreements, restrict or expand the fiduciary duties owed by a
general partner to limited partners and the partnership.
Fiduciary standards may be modified by NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement. NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement contains various provisions
restricting the fiduciary duties that might otherwise be owed by NuStar Energy’s general partner. The following is a summary of the material restrictions of
the fiduciary duties owed by NuStar Energy’s general partner to the limited partners:
The partnership agreement contains provisions that waive or consent to conduct by NuStar Energy’s general partner and its affiliates that might otherwise
raise issues as to compliance with fiduciary duties or applicable law. For example, the partnership agreement permits NuStar Energy’s general partner to
make a number of decisions in its "sole discretion," such as:
•
•
•
•

the incurrence of indebtedness;
the acquisition or disposition of assets, except for the disposition of all of the assets of NuStar Energy, which requires unitholder approval;
the negotiation of any contracts; and
the disposition of NuStar Energy’s cash.

Sole discretion entitles NuStar Energy’s general partner to consider only the interests and factors that it desires and it does not have a duty or obligation to
give any consideration to any interest of, or factors affecting, NuStar Energy, its affiliates or any limited partner, including the public unitholders. Other
provisions of NuStar Energy’s partnership agreement provide that NuStar Energy’s general partner’s actions must be carried out in its reasonable discretion.
The partnership agreement generally provides that affiliated transactions and resolutions of conflicts of interest not involving a required vote of unitholders
must be "fair and reasonable" to NuStar Energy under the factors previously set forth. In determining whether a transaction or resolution is "fair and
reasonable" NuStar Energy’s general partner may consider interests of all parties involved, including its own. Unless NuStar Energy’s general partner has
acted in bad faith, the action taken by NuStar Energy’s general partner will not constitute a breach of its fiduciary duty.
In addition to the other more specific provisions limiting the obligations of NuStar Energy’s general partner, the partnership agreement further provides that
NuStar Energy’s general partner and the officers and directors of NuStar GP, LLC will not be liable for monetary damages to NuStar Energy, the limited
partners or assignees for errors of judgment or for any acts or omissions if NuStar Energy’s general partner and those other persons acted in good faith.
NuStar Energy is required to indemnify its general partner and NuStar GP, LLC and their officers, directors, employees, affiliates, partners, members,
agents and trustees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, against liabilities, costs and expenses incurred by NuStar Energy’s general partner and NuStar
GP, LLC or these other persons. This indemnification is required if NuStar Energy’s general partner or these persons acted in good faith and in a manner
they reasonably believed to be in, or (in the case of a person other than NuStar Energy’s general partner) not opposed to, the best interests of NuStar
Energy. Indemnification is required for criminal proceedings if NuStar Energy’s general partner and NuStar GP, LLC or these other persons had no
reasonable cause to believe their conduct was unlawful. Thus, NuStar Energy’s general partner and NuStar GP, LLC could be indemnified for their
negligent acts if they met these requirements concerning good faith and the best interests of NuStar Energy.
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DISTRIBUTION STOPPER PURSUANT TO SUBORDINATED NOTES
On January 22, 2013, NuStar Logistics, L.P., a subsidiary of NuStar Energy ("NuStar Logistics"), issued $402.5 million of fixed-to-floating rate
subordinated notes due January 15, 2043 (the "Subordinated Notes"). Effective January 15, 2018, the interest rate on the Subordinated Notes switched from
a fixed annual rate of 7.625%, payable quarterly in arrears, to an annual rate equal to the sum of the three-month LIBOR for the related quarterly interest
period, plus 6.734% payable quarterly, commencing with the interest payment due April 15, 2018. As of December 31, 2020, the interest rate was 7.0%.
The Subordinated Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on an unsecured and subordinated basis by NuStar Energy and its subsidiary, NuStar
Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.
In accordance with the terms of the notes, NuStar Logistics may elect to defer interest payments on the Subordinated Notes on one or more occasions for
up to five consecutive years. Deferred interest will accumulate at a rate equal to the interest rate then applicable to the Subordinated Notes until paid. If
NuStar Logistics elects to defer interest payments, NuStar Energy cannot declare or make cash distributions with respect to, or redeem, purchase or make a
liquidation payment with respect to, its equity securities during the period interest is deferred.
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Exhibit 10.43
RESTRICTED UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
[U.S.]
This Restricted Unit Award Agreement (“Agreement”), effective as of November 16, 2020 (“Grant Date”), is between
NuStar Energy L.P. (the “Partnership”) and the recipient of this Agreement (“Participant”), a participant in the NuStar Energy
L.P. 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as the same may be amended (the “Plan”), pursuant to and subject to the provisions of the
Plan. All capitalized terms contained in this Agreement shall have the same definitions as are set forth in the Plan unless
otherwise defined herein. The terms governing this Award are set forth below. Certain provisions applicable to this Agreement
are set forth on Appendix A.
1. Grant of Restricted Units. The Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of NuStar GP,
LLC (the “Company”) hereby grants to Participant the number of Restricted Units under the Plan communicated to the
Participant by the Participant’s manager. A “Restricted Unit” is an unfunded, unsecured contractual right (commonly
referred to as a “phantom unit”) which, upon vesting, entitles Participant to receive a Unit of the Partnership.
2. Vesting. The Restricted Units granted hereunder are subject to the following Restricted Periods and will vest in the
following increments:
20% of the Award shall vest on the first anniversary of Grant Date;
20% of the Award shall vest on the second anniversary of Grant Date;
20% of the Award shall vest on the third anniversary of Grant Date;
20% of the Award shall vest on the fourth anniversary of Grant Date; and
20% of the Award shall vest on the fifth anniversary of Grant Date.
The Restricted Units may vest prior to the expiration of such period, as set forth in the Plan or herein. Upon the vesting of
each Restricted Unit awarded under this Agreement, Participant will be entitled to receive an unrestricted Unit of the
Partnership.
3. Distribution Equivalent Rights. Restricted Units are granted hereunder in tandem with 0.40 of a distribution equivalent
right (“DERs”) for each Restricted Unit covered by this Award. A DER is a right to receive an amount in cash from the
Partnership or its designee equal to the distributions made by the Partnership with respect to a Unit during the period that
begins on the Grant Date and ends upon vesting of the tandem Restricted Unit or its forfeiture pursuant to this Agreement
or the Plan.
4. Settlement. The issuance of Units under this Award shall be made on or as soon as reasonably practical following the
applicable date of vesting or the earlier events set forth in Section 5, but in any event no later than the 60th day following
the applicable date of vesting or, if earlier, the events set forth in Section 5. Distributions with respect to DERs will be
paid to Participant in cash as soon as reasonably practical following the date

distributions are paid with respect to Units during the period such DERs are outstanding, but in all events no later than 60
days following the date related amounts are declared with respect to Units. Upon vesting or forfeiture of a Restricted Unit,
the related DER shall automatically and immediately terminate for no consideration, except that unpaid distributions with
respect to DERs relating to distributions paid on Units prior to the date of such settlement shall be paid no later than the
60th day following the date such pre-vesting/forfeiture distributions are declared with respect to Units. This Agreement
and the Award evidenced hereby are intended to comply with or otherwise be exempt from, and shall be administered
consistently in all respects with, Section 409A of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder and each payment
hereunder shall be considered a separate payment under Section 409A of the Code. If necessary in order to attempt to
ensure such compliance, this Agreement may be reformed, to the extent possible, unilaterally by the Partnership
consistent with guidance issued by the Internal Revenue Service. Participant agrees that the unrestricted Units to which
Participant will be entitled in connection with the vesting of Restricted Units may be issued in uncertificated form and
recorded with the Partnership’s or its Affiliates’ service provider.
5. Acceleration Events.
a. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Participant becomes Disabled (as defined below) while employed by the Company,
the Partnership or any of their respective Affiliates or Participant’s employment is terminated because of Participant’s
death (such Disability or death, an “Acceleration Event”), then:
i. if the Acceleration Event occurs within one year after the Grant Date (the “Grant Year”), then all then-outstanding
Restricted Units and DERs shall automatically be forfeited for no consideration as of the close of business on the
date of the Acceleration Event; and
ii. if the Acceleration Event occurs after the last day of the Grant Year (any such later year, a “Post-Grant Year”),
then
(A) a portion of the Restricted Units that remain unvested and outstanding on the date of the Acceleration Event
shall automatically become vested, where such portion shall be equal to the product of:
(x) the percentage equal to the number of months of the Post-Grant Year elapsed prior to the date of the
Acceleration Event; divided by the product of the number of Post-Grant Years remaining, inclusive of the
Post-Grant Year in which the Acceleration Event occurs, multiplied by 12 months;
multiplied by:
(y) the number of unvested Restricted Units that would have vested had Participant remained continuously
employed with the Company, the Partnership or an Affiliate thereof through the latest date on the vesting
schedule in Section 2, and

(B) the remaining Restricted Units (and all DERs) shall automatically and immediately be forfeited for no
consideration.
For illustration purposes only: In Year 1, 100 Restricted Units are granted to a participant in November to vest in equal annual
installments over a five year period beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant. In Year 2, the participant dies with a
last day of service of June 9. In this scenario, seven months of Year 2 have elapsed, so (x) is 15%, which is multiplied by (y),
which is 80. The product of (x) and (y) is twelve, and twelve of the 80 Restricted Units will vest with respect to the participant.
The remaining 68 Restricted Units shall automatically be forfeited.

Restricted Units Vesting
Award Date

Restricted Units
Awarded

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025

11/16/2020

100

20

20

20

20

20

(x) Percent of
Restricted Units (y) Unvested
Vesting
Restricted Units
7/48 = .15

80

Pro-ration
Formula

Pro-Rated Vesting

.15 x 80
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For purposes of this Agreement, “Disabled” or “Disability” means (i) the inability of Participant to engage in any substantial
gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or
can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months or (ii) the receipt of income replacements by
Participant, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can
be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, for a period of not less than three (3) months
under the accident and health plan of the Company, the Partnership or an applicable Affiliate thereof.
b. The Award shall vest in full upon a Change of Control in accordance with Section 6.5(vii) of the Plan.
6. Withholding. The Company, the Partnership or an applicable Affiliate will withhold any taxes due from Participant’s grant
as the Company, the Partnership or an applicable Affiliate determines is required by law, which, in the sole discretion of
the Committee, may include withholding a number of Restricted Units or the Units issuable thereunder otherwise payable
to Participant.
7. Acceptance and Acknowledgement. Participant hereby accepts and agrees to be bound by all of the terms, provisions,
conditions and limitations of the Plan and any subsequent amendment or amendments thereto, as if it had been set forth
verbatim in this Award. Participant shall be deemed to have timely accepted this Agreement and the terms hereof if
Participant has not explicitly rejected this Agreement in writing to the Partnership within sixty (60) days after the Grant
Date. Participant hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan, this Agreement and Appendix A. Participant has
read and understands the terms and provisions thereof, and accepts the Restricted Units and DERs subject to all of the
terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement. Participant acknowledges that there may be adverse tax
consequences upon payment of DERs and/or the vesting or

settlement of the Restricted Units or disposition of the underlying Units and that Participant has been advised to consult a
tax advisor prior to such vesting, settlement or disposition.
8. Plan and Appendix Incorporated by Reference. The Plan and Appendix A are incorporated into this Agreement by this
reference and are made a part hereof for all purposes; provided, however, that, in the event of a conflict between the Plan
and this Agreement or between the Plan and Appendix A, the Plan shall control.
9. Restrictions. This Agreement and Participant’s interest in the Restricted Units and the DERs granted by this Agreement
are of a personal nature and, except as expressly provided in this Agreement or the Plan, Participant’s rights with respect
thereto may not be sold, mortgaged, pledged, assigned, alienated, transferred, conveyed or otherwise disposed of or
encumbered in any manner by Participant. Any such attempted sale, mortgage, pledge, assignment, alienation, transfer,
conveyance, disposition or encumbrance shall be void, and the Partnership and its Affiliates shall not be bound thereby.
NUSTAR ENERGY L.P.
By: Riverwalk Logistics, L.P., its general partner
By: NuStar GP, LLC, its general partner
By:__________________________________
Bradley C. Barron
President & Chief Executive Officer

APPENDIX A
1. No Guarantee of Tax Consequences. None of the Board, the Company, the Partnership or any Affiliate of any of the
foregoing makes any commitment or guarantee that any federal, state, local or other tax treatment will (or will not) apply
or be available to Participant (or to any person claiming through or on behalf of Participant) or assumes any liability or
responsibility with respect to taxes and penalties and interest thereon arising hereunder with respect to Participant (or to
any person claiming through or on behalf of Participant).
2. Successors and Assigns. The Partnership and its Affiliates may assign any of their respective rights under this Agreement
and it shall be binding and inure to the benefit of such successors and assigns. Subject to the restrictions on transfer set
forth herein, this Agreement will be binding upon Participant and Participant’s beneficiaries, executors, administrators
and the person(s) to whom the Restricted Units and/or DERs may be transferred by will or the laws of descent or
distribution.
3. Governing Law. The validity, construction and effect of this Agreement shall be determined by the laws of the State of
Delaware without regard to conflict of laws principles.
4. No Rights as Unitholder. Neither Participant nor any person claiming by, through or under Participant with respect to the
Restricted Units or DERs shall have any rights as a unitholder of the Partnership (including, without limitation, voting
rights) unless and until the Restricted Units vest and are settled by the issuance of Units.
5. Amendment. The Committee has the right to amend or alter this Agreement, the Restricted Units and/or DERs; provided,
that no such amendment shall adversely affect Participant’s material rights under this Agreement without Participant’s
consent.
6. No Right to Continued Service. Neither the Plan nor this Agreement shall confer upon Participant any right to be retained
in any position, as an Employee, Consultant or Director of the Company, the Partnership or any Affiliate thereof. Further,
nothing in the Plan or this Agreement shall be construed to limit the discretion of the Company, the Partnership or any
Affiliate thereof to terminate Participant’s service at any time, with or without Cause.
7. Notices. Any notice required to be delivered to the Partnership under this Agreement shall be in writing and addressed to
the Secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal offices. Any notice required to be delivered to Participant under
this Agreement shall be in writing and addressed to Participant at Participant’s address as then shown in the records of the
Company, the Partnership or the applicable Affiliate. Any party hereto may designate another address in writing (or by
such other method approved by the Partnership) from time to time.

8. Interpretation. Any dispute regarding the interpretation of this Agreement shall be submitted by such party to the
Committee for review. The resolution of such dispute by the Committee shall be final and binding on the parties hereto.
9. Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of the Plan or this Agreement shall not affect the validity
or enforceability of any other provision of the Plan or this Agreement, and each provision of the Plan and this Agreement
shall be severable and enforceable to the extent permitted by law.
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Subsidiaries of NuStar Energy L.P.
Name of Entity
Cooperatie NuStar Holdings U.A.
LegacyStar Services, LLC
NS Security Services, LLC
NuStar Caribe Terminals, Inc.
NuStar Energy Services, Inc.
NuStar Finance LLC
NuStar GP, Inc.
NuStar GP, LLC
NuStar GP Holdings, LLC
NuStar Holdings B.V.
NuStar Internacional, S de R.L. de C.V.
NuStar Logistics, L.P.
NuStar Permian Crude Logistics, LLC
NuStar Permian Holdings, LLC
NuStar Permian Transportation and Storage, LLC
NuStar Pipeline Company, LLC
NuStar Pipeline Holding Company, LLC
NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P.
NuStar Pipeline Partners L.P.
NuStar Services Company LLC
NuStar Supply & Trading LLC
NuStar Terminals Canada Co.
NuStar Terminals Canada Holdings Co.
NuStar Terminals Canada Partnership
NuStar Terminals Corporation N.V.
NuStar Terminals Delaware, Inc.
NuStar Terminals International N.V.
NuStar Terminals New Jersey, Inc.
NuStar Terminals Operations Partnership L.P.
NuStar Terminals Services, Inc.
Point Tupper Marine Services Co.
Riverwalk Logistics, L.P.
Shore Terminals LLC
ST Linden Terminal, LLC
Star Creek Ranch, LLC

Jurisdiction of Organization
Netherlands
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Netherlands
Mexico
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Canada
Canada
Canada
Curacao
Delaware
Curacao
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Canada
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

Exhibit 22.01

NuStar Energy L.P.
Subsidiary Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities
NuStar Logistics, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership and wholly owned subsidiary of NuStar Energy L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (the “Partnership”), is the issuer of the securities listed in the table below (the “Logistics Notes”). The Logistics
Notes are guaranteed by the Partnership and NuStar Pipeline Operating Partnership L.P., a Delaware limited partnership and
wholly owned subsidiary of the Partnership.
Logistics Notes
4.75% senior notes due 2022
5.750% senior notes due 2025
6.00% senior notes due 2026
5.625% senior notes due 2027
6.375% senior notes due 2030
7.625% fixed-to-floating rate subordinated notes due 2043

Exhibit 23.01

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
NuStar GP, LLC:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-209717, 333-226279 and 333-231004) and
on Form S-3 (No. 333-232502 and 333-230823) of NuStar Energy L.P. of our reports dated February 25, 2021, with respect to the
consolidated balance sheets of NuStar Energy L.P. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of (loss)
income, comprehensive (loss) income, partners’ equity and mezzanine equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, which reports appear in the December 31, 2020 annual report on Form 10‑K of NuStar
Energy L.P.
/s/ KPMG LLP

San Antonio, Texas
February 25, 2021

Exhibit 31.01
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Bradley C. Barron, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NuStar Energy L.P. (the “registrant”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: February 25, 2021
/s/ Bradley C. Barron
Bradley C. Barron
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.02
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Thomas R. Shoaf, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NuStar Energy L.P. (the “registrant”);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: February 25, 2021
/s/ Thomas R. Shoaf
Thomas R. Shoaf
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.01
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of NuStar Energy L.P. (the Partnership) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Bradley C. Barron, President and Chief Executive Officer of NuStar GP, LLC, the
general partner of the general partner of the Partnership, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.

/s/ Bradley C. Barron
Bradley C. Barron
President and Chief Executive Officer
February 25, 2021

Exhibit 32.02
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of NuStar Energy L.P. (the Partnership) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Thomas R. Shoaf, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of NuStar
GP, LLC, the general partner of the general partner of the Partnership, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.

/s/ Thomas R. Shoaf
Thomas R. Shoaf
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
February 25, 2021

